EVERBRIGHT GRAND CHINA ASSETS

é Yt A A E

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited
HRKEFRAF

(incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
transferred by way of continuation into the Cayman Islands)

(REBHB R BRI U FES RS EA M ERA )
Stock Code B3 1X55%: 3699

2023: £

ANNUAL REPORT

'
A b A % “‘““"\\
' — / L NN

e —— = e

|



CONTENTS B #x

© O O N

21

33
57

114
135
141

Corporate Information

NGIE- R 2|

Financial Summary

MBERE

Chairman’s Statement

FREHE

Management Discussion and Analysis

EIBE &k

Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management

EELRRRERERRE

Corporate Governance Report

rERER/RRE

Environmental, Social and
Governance (ESG) Report

RIE - HEgkERWME

Directors’ Report

EFEEeWE

Independent Auditor’s Report

PRV 8 )

Financial Statements and Notes to the
Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R R N B R R B 5




2

CORPORATE INFORMATION
NYER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Jia (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. MA Heming

Non-executive Directors

Ms. WANG Yun ®

Ms. YIN Junyan @

Mr. ZHUANG Minrong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TSOI David

Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham

Mr. LEE Jor Hung

Mr. WANG Cheung Yue

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. TANG Yuk Ha

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. LIU Jia
Ms. TANG Yuk Ha

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. TSOI David (Chairman)

Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham

Mr. LEE Jor Hung
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. LEE Jor Hung (Chairman)

Mr. LIU Jia

Mr. WANG Cheung Yue

U the resignation with effect from 12 December 2023
@ the appointment with effect from 12 December 2023

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

Exg
HITES

BBt (TERITEARE)
FSEHAEE

FHTES
IFEL L0
F i i te
RS
BIKUTES
SRS
BB
i ke
ERBEE
ARWE
HEELT
i $:2 PiES
BIE %t
HEELL
ENERR

BRERE(ZE)
AL
FEHTE

FMEES
FUERE(EE)

BlmeaE
EREBELE

) BT 202312 B12H R £ W
@ ZER2023F 12 120 #£ 4 3%



CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued])
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 — (Expressed in RMB) & £20234 12 A31H

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
VBERR

LEFE — (AARBIITR)

A summary of the result and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years as extracted from the
published audited financial statements is set out below:

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

AEBEBERLBAMBRFENREARE
ENBBEDHMEE RMEOKEZITE R
RN ZE M T -

REXE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20225 20214 2020% 20194
VKON RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
INGL- B\ T ARBTT ARBTT ARETR
Revenue W 2= 46,779 52,297 52,678 51,734 71,274
Profit before tax A= OR D 26,292 28,804 43,642 45,699 54,049
Income tax expense B BR % (7,034) (6,751) (10,969) 11,717) (16,768)
Profit for the year AEEZHE 19,258 22,053 32,673 33,982 37,281
Attributable to: IATALEN:
Owners of the Company ARAEBA 19,258 22,053 32,673 33,982 37,281
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES REEERAE
At 31 December
W12A31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20205 20194
CIUEHOOE  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
INGL- Bl A\ KT ARBETT AR®TT AR®TT
Total assets BEE 1,194,298 1,181,261 1,167,744 1,163,761 1,145,401
Total liabilities rafm (221,939)  (215,973)  (227,013)  (229,118)  (225,455)
Net assets FEE 972,359 965,288 940,731 934,643 919,946
Gearing ratio BERGBLX 18.6% 18.3% 19.4% 19.7% 19.7%
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRRS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the annual report of
Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (the “Company”, or
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2023 (the “Year”) for your review.

Looking back at 2023, it was a year of both opportunities and
challenges for the property management industry. Although
the COVID-19 pandemic gradually receded, global economy
and the financial market continued to experience fluctuations.
Inflation continued to intensify amidst rising interest rates and
geopolitical risks, casting uncertainties over the business
prospects across various industries. However, with the central
government continuing to adopt proactive fiscal policies and
prudent monetary policies to stimulate economic growth, as well
as planning to increase infrastructure investment and provide
loan support for the economy, it is expected to help boost
the overall economy, including the real estate and property
management markets. With the advancement of urbanization
in mainland China, the demand for commercial properties will
continue to increase.

In the midst of economic fluctuations, there has been
widespread concern in the market in recent years about reduced
business activities due to economic and financial market
adjustments. Additionally, intense market competition has led
to a decline in the occupancy rates of commercial properties,
putting downward pressure on rent collection and profitability
of the industry. However, the Group has started implementing
relevant measures last year and attracted high-quality tenants
with development prospects, laying a solid foundation for the
Group’s long-term stable development. To assist tenants in
navigating economic fluctuations, the Group continued to adjust
commercial lease conditions flexibly. Meanwhile, the Group
continuously expanded the scope of value-added services,
and strived to achieve high-quality development and enhance
customer loyalty to property services through innovation and
breakthroughs, thereby enabling the Group to adapt to changes
in market demand and continuously improve the quality of our
services to face market competition while maintaining stable
income and cash flow levels.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® X KK FEHR QT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
ITRHS(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
revenue of RMB46.8 million, a decrease of approximately 10.5%
over the same period last year, and the profit attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company amounted to RMB19.3
million, a decrease of approximately 12.7% over the same
period last year, mainly impacted by the reduction in revenue
from rental income. In order to reward the shareholders for their
support to the Company, the Board recommended the payment
of a final dividend of RMBO0.6 cents (equivalent to HKO.66 cents)
per ordinary share for the financial year ended 31 December
2023. The Company will continue to strive to provide ideal
dividend returns as a token of appreciation to its shareholders
for their support to the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of RMB222.2 million and a gearing ratio of 18.6%.
under the current sound financial position with sufficient
funds, the Group will continue to exercise prudent financial
management and uphold the core principles of innovation and
effectiveness, focus on the development of new growth drivers
in the industry, fully implement the concept of sustainable
development, consolidate and enhance the Group’s market
position in the property management industry, and actively
maintain long-lasting and stable relationships with its existing
customer base. In addition, the Group will continue to flexibly
adjust the existing commercial leasing structure, strengthen
overall risk management, strive to improve service quality and
expand the area under management, with a view to enhancing
the overall development potential and brand value of its
business in the future.

B E2023F12A3BIEFE - AEE K
AR5 ARB46.88E T BREFRH
T #10.5% AN A HE 25 IR B (G i Bl i
ZEARBEO9BEL REFRHTHK
127%  FEHARBESWATERRAE - B
EIESVUBRRERARAINIHF EFE
Bt E E2023F12A31H IE 8 B B4
ERERBERESREBRAEARKOSG
2 (FEER0.66E) - RARIGEESR N
REHBENRELOR  UEHSMLRE
HARRIH -

R2023F12H31H » AEEMIB & MR &
LZBEYWAARE2EE L BAEE
L& B18.6% - IR BES A MMIBRE
BMRAT AEBGEEREEREY I
BEAFEEINZLES  BEEE
TEFEDE 2HEMAUFERRES
BEYRAANEEEMEEEITENT
B REBRSEREEEFPERA
BENBER AR AEETZHESE
EABRREEEHELE  NMBEER
RERE  BMAOARARBER  BAEE
HE URABBEGRKOERE
TRGBEHE-
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
ITREHS (8)

Looking forward to 2024, as the policies of the central
government continue to support the development of the industry
and the overall economy, including the ongoing encouragement
of the standardized and professional development of the
commercial property management industry; and the introduction
of relevant policy support and regulatory measures, it will
help to improve the service quality and standardized level of
the industry, and enable the industry to provide more refined
management and better user experience. In particular, in
recent years, Chengdu’s position in the country has gradually
improved and it has been recognized as a new first-tier city.
This has provided Chengdu’s commercial real estate with
greater development potential and will maintain a strong
growth momentum, contributing to enhancing the Group’s
competitiveness in the industry.

On behalf of the Board of the Group, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff of the
Group for their whole-hearted and dedicated contribution in the
past year. Meanwhile, the Group would also like to express its
sincere gratitude to its shareholders, customers and business
partners for their full support. In the future, the Group will
continue to prudently identify suitable new investment projects
with long-term return potential, strive to enhance service quality
and customer satisfaction, and further strengthen technological
innovation and digital transformation to improve management
efficiency and service capabilities. At the same time, the Group
will also strengthen talent development and the construction of
a professional team with high efficiency, so as to provide high-
quality services to our customers and create more value for our
shareholders in return for their support to the Group.

Chairman of the Board
LIU Jia
27 March 2024

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® X KK FEHR QT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBEYmR DN

FINANCIAL RESULT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
revenue and profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB46.8 million (2022:
approximately RMB52.3 million) and approximately RMB19.3
million (2022: approximately RMB22.1 million), respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property
leasing, the provision of property management services and the
sale of properties held for sale.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately RMB46.8 million (2022:
approximately RMB52.3 million), which represented a decrease
of approximately 10.5% as compared to last year, mainly
impacted by the reduction in revenue from rental income. Profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB19.3 million
(2022: approximately RMB22.1 million), which represented a
decline of approximately 12.7% as compared to last year. The
decrease in profit is mainly due to the decline in gross profit and
increase in administrative expenses during the year. The basic
earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMBO0.04 (2022: RMBO0.05). The review of the
individual business segment of the Group is set out below.

PROPERTY LEASING

The rental income from the Group’s property leasing business
was approximately RMB33.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB38.3 million). The reduction in the
average occupancy rate and the average rent per square meters
(“sq.m.”) resulted in the decrease in total rental income. The
Group’s leasing properties are located in Chengdu, Sichuan
province and Kunming, Yunnan province in the PRC. As at 31
December 2023, the Group’s property portfolio comprises three
commercial buildings, namely Everbright Financial Center, part
of Everbright International Mansion and Ming Chang Building,
with a total gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately 89,507
(2022: 89,507) sq.m.

MBER

H E2023F12A3B It BEE A&
B U 25 M AN A R 25 IR R B 8 B 9 Bl
e ANRE46.88 8L (2022F : HA R
Be23E B R ABAREBIO3E E T
(2022F - HHAR¥E221HET) °

EBEE
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XEERBRHEERFELEDE -
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mH B AR46.88 B T (20224F : 4 A
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cRmAMBAOFTERREAEEEFTHK
77 BR B 2 38 00 FT B - B £2023F 12 A 31
HIEFESREARRBFOAEARKE0.047T
(2022%F : A R¥0.0570) ° AN & B @ 7l ¥
o e B EAE ST o

MERE

HE2023F12A831HILFE  KREEYE
HEXEBHNAESRALNAEAREKI32H
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HETE FiAEESBARD - K%
EMHEEYEMNFRNY)IIEXEBT R
EMAERAT - R2023F12A31H » A&
ENMELAARRE=-REEZET AKX
AEmED  AABBEBRENLD Y E
NMBERENBIWE  BEEmME (AR
BEEBE] L AE8YS07FE ;K (20224 :
89,507F 77 K) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EREBNRRDN (&)

PROPERTY LEASING PORTFOLIO MEHEES

Average occupancy rate Rental income for the year

As at 31 December 2023 Average occupancy rate (Commercial use)t" ended 31 December
THRRE BERAMBLEEY
20235124318 THHRE (BERR)O AglA
Commercial
GFA owned  use GFA 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
fikE  ExRE
hgs hgg
[ R0 2023% 20208 20235 2028 2023% 2020F
RMB A
(sq.m) (sq.m,) % % % % (million) (millon)
ARE NEH
(Frk)  (FrA) % % % % (F&x) (BE7)
Commercial Properties ~ HE#%
Everbright Financial Center® ¥ A2 BH LY 34,335 31,153 57% 63% 63% 70% 15.7 18.9
No. 9 Wenwu Road, Qingyang ~ KB EXE
District, Chengdu XH KR
Everbright International tRERAE? 38,199 28,905 67% 68% 88% 90% 9.9 98
Mansion®
No. 2 Caoshi Street, Qingyang M AT E*E
District, Chengdu E%
Ming Chang Building® HEAEY 16,973 16,973 1% 96% 1% 96% 7.6 96

No. 28 Renmin Road Central,  EBIT L EZRE
Wuhua District, Kunming ARAHH8TH

89,507 77,031 33.2 38.3

Notes: Bt 5T -

0 Excluding warehouses and parking spaces which cannot be used as HBRTAARBAE BELTHEIEEN
offices, commercial spaces or residence. BEREFEZER -

@ All the properties are located in the PRC and held under medium- @ FrEMEHDNRFTE  EZFBHEEREH -
term lease.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEES R RO (&)
Average occupancy rate (Commercial use)
FYHERAE(MRAE)
100% ()
\ /.
O———— ¢
90%
80% ® °
[
70% \ .
. \
([ )
60%
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—o— Everbright Financial Center —o— Ming Chang Building Everbright International Mansion
FRERA T HEARE bFNE SN
RMB (million) .
R (B ) Total Rental income
HBESKA
50
40
30
20
10 I I I I
0 I
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Everbright Financial Center Ming Chang Building . Everbright International Mansion . Dufu Garden®
HRERA T HEXRE KRB KR E HEEEO
Note: B 5
M The properties were disposed during the year ended 31 December O ZMECDRE E2020F12A31B IEEEH
2020. = o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EREBNRRDN (&)

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICE

The Group provided property management services for its
properties, namely, Everbright Financial Center and Everbright
International Mansion. Revenue from the Group’s property
management services was approximately RMB13.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB14.0 million).
The decrease in revenue from property management services
was resulted from the decline in the average management fee
per sg.m. during the year. As at 31 December 2023, the total
GFA under the Group’s management increased by 11.2% to
approximately 66,051 sg.m. (2022: 59,413 sqg.m.).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties mainly consist of land and/
or buildings which are owned or held under leasehold interest
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. As at 31
December 2023, the fair value of the investment properties was
RMB959.5 million (2022: RMB954.1 million), representing an
increase of approximately 0.6% as compared to last year. The
increase indicated the property market in the PRC improved
steadily after the COVID-19. The valuation gains on investment
properties for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted
to approximately RMB5.3 million (2022: approximately RMBO0.1
million).

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (§)

PROSPECTS

With various countries around the world implementing monetary
tightening and high interest rate policies, trade between nations
has weakened, weakening the confidence among businesses
and consumers. Consequently, the global economy remained
trapped in a state of uncertainty throughout 2023. The National
Bureau of Statistics announced that the annual gross domestic
product (GDP) of China was RMB126,058.2 billion in 2023, a
year-on-year increase of 5.2% at constant prices, while China’s
Two Sessions sets 2024 GDP growth target of around 5%. The
International Monetary Fund (IMF) has pointed out that China’s
economy has achieved the government’s growth target for
2023, reflecting a strong recovery after the COVID-19 pandemic.
The IMF anticipates that China’s actual GDP to grow by 4.6% in
2024.

According to various data from the National Bureau of Statistics,
the ongoing debt crisis in real estate market in China has led
to a prolonged adjustment period in the property management
sector, and the market continues to face downward pressure.
However, as the central government continues to vigorously
promote economic growth and implement stimulus policies, the
market anticipates that this will help drive the real estate and
rental markets, thus having a positive impact on the stability and
growth of the property management industry. Furthermore, the
profitability restoration in the domestic property management
sector is largely complete, and as long as the real estate sales
stabilize, it is believed to have a positive effect on improving the
overall industry sentiment.

Although the property management industry has followed
the decline of the real estate market in China, the decline in
the properties under management of the Group, which are
primarily commercial properties, is relatively lower compared to
residential properties, resulting in the continued stabilization of
the Group’s tenants, rental contracts and occupancy rate during
the year under review. Despite the general pessimism towards
economic growth in 2024, the stable operating conditions of our
clients and the stability of our rental contracts, along with policy
support, are expected to contribute to a stable trend of rentals
and an improvement in the property management industry.

= 3=-]

BERKZEBRREETEHGEBES
ERE BHERENESEEH EXN
EMBEEEELTR  BFERREHE
R2028F AR HEE - BIXRSKHA
Al A 2023F ARl 2 FHANEEBE
AR¥1,260,58218 70 @ I N2 EBRTHE
BEEKES2%: P EM IR E2024F 1Y
NEERBELRBIZEMESY - BEREE
ESABIMR)IEDL  PELEEH BT
C023FMIEREE REFTREBEED
M IER ZHMEBEAPEERBEANAE
EBEL2024F FiEH4.6%MIL K o

REXFRARZEBETRR  BHRE
WEBKBERIEE SIXMEEERR
MABEABRDARER MESEEEET
TTEN - AT BEEPRBEESESE X
DB LOEIE & BEE IR BB K
RomBESREHHEDETMEENS
HREMEEETXERMERELR
TER - SN R EEERRNEF
BEEAYEKR REETHEDR A
EHRETERABLEREM -

HAVMESETERBAMEETS T
B EERASEETEENMELTE
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SHBEFERNASEMNAFEEREBER
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POAFRERE BEERFPELEBRE
EEAEENHEANBENBRT
MEEXSZHF EHHESESLDE B
EOMETESRE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEESmRD N (#)

The meeting of the Political Bureau and the Central Economic
Work Conference were held at the end of 2023. The market
is highly concerned about resolving the supply-side debt
risk and the establishment of new models such as the “three
major projects”, and the favourable macroeconomic policies
may contribute to the stable development of the real estate
sector. With the renewed emphasis on the role of real estate
in stabilizing the economy, it is expected to contribute to an
increased recovery momentum in the property management
sector.

At the same time, the market expects that more and more
cities will lift restrictions on price reductions for new properties,
leading to a recovery in sales for various types of properties,
and the real estate market in China is expected to experience
moderate growth next year. In fact, the property management
industry generally has a better recovery speed and risk
resistance compared to the real estate market. Therefore,
relative to asset-heavy real estate enterprises in China, property
management companies will be able to mitigate their operational
risks.

Despite the uncertain prospects in the industry and the
challenges posed by high interest rates, the Group has
managed to maintain a healthy average property occupancy
rate and a stable financial condition. Throughout the year, we
continued to maintain a debt-free and financially secure status.
Looking ahead, the Group anticipates a continued preference
for a conservative approach in its overall business operations.
Nevertheless, the Company will continue to prudently seek
suitable new investment opportunities with long-term return
potential, with a focus on investment properties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (§)

For development trend of the industry, the property
management industry has entered a phase of refocusing on
its core service essence. The fundamental nature of property
management lies in providing services, and in recent years,
more and more property management companies have actively
enhanced the quality of their services, aiming for long-term
sustainability. It is anticipated that the industry will increasingly
prioritize the coordinated development of quality and speed,
while also striving to expand the scope of services and identify
areas for value-added offerings. Recognizing this trend, the
Group’s professional property management team will continue
to deliver high-quality property management services to our
existing projects, while also continuing to enhance the value of
property and related management services through dedicated
efforts.

Facing the current business environment, the Group is
determined to tackle challenges and continue to develop
diversified value-added services by leveraging on the synergy
created from our parent company, the China Everbright Group,
and the popularity of the “Everbright” brand. We will strive to
increase our revenue and profitability, while also proactively
enhancing our brand influence. We will seize the opportunity
during the industry adjustment period to further reinforce
our self-positioning, consolidate our competitiveness, and
strengthen our resilience against risks, thereby enabling the
Group to become a robust enterprise with solid strength for
long-term sustainable development.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMB972.4 million (2022: approximately RMB965.3
million). As at 31 December 2023, the Group maintained cash
and bank balances of approximately RMB222.2 million (2022:
approximately RMB214.9 million). The Group’s net current assets
was approximately RMB205.6 million as at 31 December 2023
(2022: approximately RMB200.3 million). The Group had current
assets of approximately RMB231.4 million as at 31 December
2023 (2022: approximately RMB222.9 million). The increase
in current assets was mainly due to the rise in cash and bank
balances during the year. The Group had current liabilities of
RMB25.8 million (2022: approximately RMB22.6 million). The
increase in current liabilities was mainly due to the increase in
trade and other payables during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EREBNRRDN (&)

The working capital and long-term funding required by the
Group are primarily derived from income generated from core
business operations. The Group’s gearing ratio, being measured
by the Group’s total liabilities over its total assets, was 18.6%
(2022: 18.3%) as at 31 December 2023. The Group’s liquidity
position was well-managed in this year. To manage the liquidity
risk, an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents that the
Group considers sufficient to finance its operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flow has been maintained.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no charged assets
(2022: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The Group’s transactions, monetary assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in RMB. The management of the
Group is of the opinion that the Group has not experienced any
material difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a
result of the fluctuations in currency exchange rates during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. Therefore, the Group
did not engage in any hedging activities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no contingent liability
(2022: Nil).

INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF MAJOR CUSTOMERS &
SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s revenue (excluding interest
and dividend incomes) for the year ended 31 December 2023
attributable to the major customers of the Group were as
follows:

Percentage of total
revenue of the Group

19.8%
52.8%

The largest customer
Five largest customers in aggregate
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (§)

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors
or any of their associates or any shareholders (which to
the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the major
customers noted above. Due to the nature of the business of
the Group, the Group does not have any major suppliers.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There was no material change in the capital structure of the
Company during the year, and the Company’s capital included
ordinary shares and other reserves.

PLANS FOR MATERIAL CAPITAL INVESTMENTS

The Group plans to invest in capacity expansion and pursue
suitable investment projects to capitalise the potential growth
of the Group’s business in the coming years in the manner set
out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
in the prospectus of the Company dated 29 December 2017
(“Prospectus”). Such source of funding would be primarily
from the external resources.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

There was no significant investment held, nor was there any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries during the
reporting period.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there was no

important event affecting the Group which occurred after the
reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EREBNRRDN (&)

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The net proceeds raised from the global offering on 16
January 2018 (the “Listing Date”), after deducting relevant
listing expenses, was approximately RMB116.1 million (“Net
Proceeds”). Up to 31 December 2023, the Group had used
approximately RMB15.0 million (2022: RMB14.8 million) of the
Net Proceeds for the purposes as set out in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

LR EREFEAR

R2018F1A16H (£ B H)) 2k B & Bk
BEMMMSRIEFEGEHNBRAR LM
TINBAREIIEE t(FBRER
) o HE2023F 128318 - AEE D F)
RATEZIEFEHARK15.08 8t (2022
FAREU48EETL) BAEARRBRE
RBIAKRAERABRBERE| —&HATH
MA® -

Utilised Unutilised Net
Amount during the Amount Proceeds
utilisedupto  yearended utilised up to asat Expected timeline
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December for utilising the
Net Proceeds 2022 2023 2023 2023 remaining Net Proceeds o
120235

EZ2022F  HZE2023F  EF2023% 12A318H
fi§  12B318H 128318 12A31AM  RBAKE RABAKTHE
HEFE CBRAER  LFEBR CBALE REFE HEFERROERY
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ANEETT  ARETT  AEETT  ARETT  ARETZX

Acquisition of properties in 92,904 3,162 -
the major cities of the
United Kingdom (UK))

REFNTRAD
WEME

Upgrade in building 11,613 7,483 295
facilities and/
or renovating the
properties of the Group
FREERER /%
BREEENNR

Working capital and 11,613 4,140 -
general corporate

purposes
BEESR-ROERARE

3,162 89,742  Expected to be fully utilised on or

before 31 December 2025

EHR025FE12 B3B3 2 Al &
#EHA

7,778 3,835 Expected to be fully utilised on or

before 31 December 2025

RER2026F12A310% 2 1%
gHA

4,140 7,473 N/A

T

Total 116,130 14,785 295
@t

15,080 101,050
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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Note: The expected timeline for fully utilising the unutilised Net Proceeds is
based on the best estimations of the future market conditions made
by the Group and is subject to change based on the current and
future development of the market conditions.

As at 31 December 2023, the unutilised Net Proceeds was
approximately RMB101.1 million (2022: RMB101.3 million).

The Group has resumed site visits in 2023 and will continue to
conduct market research and liaise with property agents for
acquisition of property in London that fit the Group’s selection
criteria and development strategy. Taking into account that the
fluctuation in the UK property prices and the changing demand
in the UK housing market led by the increase in remote working
after the COVID-19 pandemic, the time required to identify
potential targets which fit the property selection criteria and
development strategy of the Group and the time required to
complete such acquisition, it is expected that the remaining
amount of the unutilised Net Proceeds allocated for acquisition
of properties in major cities of the U.K. will be fully utilised by
the end of 2025.

Similarly following the recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group expects to see a business recovery. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, improvements and upgrades have
gradually been made to the properties on necessary basis to
allow the Group to improve the properties’ occupancy rates and
further increase their average rent. Considering our development
strategies and the time required to undergo upgrades and
renovation, it is expected that the remaining amount of the
unutilised Net Proceeds allocated for upgrading building
facilities and/or renovating the properties of the Group will be
fully utilised by the end of 2025.

Going forward in 2024, the Directors will closely monitor the
current and future market development to evaluate its business
objectives and to apply the unutilised Net Proceeds according
to the changing market condition to create greater value for the
Shareholders.

The unutilised Net Proceeds will be applied according to the
purposes set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” of the Prospectus. The Directors considered that it
would be in the best interest of the Group to deposit such funds
temporarily in the bank accounts to earn interest income and
are not aware of any material change to the proposed use of the
proceeds as at the date of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 139
employees (2022: 137 employees) and appointed 8 Directors.
Total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, of the Group
were approximately RMB16.9 million (2022: RMB16.0 million).
The Group reviews the remuneration policies and packages on
a regular basis and makes necessary adjustment commensurate
with the remuneration level in the industry. In addition to a
basic monthly salary, discretionary bonuses are offered to staff
with outstanding performance. The Group also provides other
benefits such as medical insurance and retirement benefits
scheme. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. LIU Jia

Aged 59, is an executive Director, chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer, the chairman of the investment
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Liu joined the Group in November 1991
and is acting as the director and chairman of two Company’s
subsidiaries, namely Growing China Limited and Metallic Field
Limited. He is also the director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company, including Square Field Limited, First Step Corporation
Limited and Everbright Grand China Assets Management
Limited. Mr. Liu is currently a director of China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited (“CE Hong Kong”).

Mr. Liu joined Capital Century Company Limited (“Capital
Century”) in 1988. He served as the director and deputy
general manager of Capital Century in 1991, mainly responsible
for the day-to-day operations and property investment and
management of investment projects. Since Capital Century is a
subsidiary of CE Hong Kong, Mr. Liu acted as its deputy general
manager in the real estate department during the period from
August 1997 to March 2000, mainly responsible for the
investment and business operations of real estate. At the end of
1998, Mr. Liu served as the director and general manager of
China Everbright Financial Assets Management (HK) Limited
(“China EB Financial Assets”), responsible for receiving and
disposing of overseas investment assets entrusted by domestic
financial management departments. China EB Financial Assets
is the initial company of Huida Asset Management Ltd. Co.* (JE
EEETLEAREMLAT). In 2000, Mr. Liu was appointed as
the assistant president in the head office of China Everbright
Bank Company Limited (“CE Bank”) and was responsible for
related work matters. He was promoted as the general manager
of Capital Century in 2004, upon which he became responsible
for the overall operational management and strategic
development. Since August 2014, Mr. Liu has been appointed
and served as an executive director and deputy general
manager of CE Hong Kong, as well as the chairman of Capital
Century (the parent company of the Company).

*

for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued])

ESREREEBEBER(8)

Mr. Liu graduated from the Civil Engineering Department
of Nanjing Jinling Institute of Technology (formerly known
as Jinling Polytechnic University), majoring in industrial and
civil architecture in July 1986, and obtained a postgraduate
certificate of architecture, economics and management in
Southeast University (B A£Z) in August 1992. Since July
2016, he has become a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

Mr. MA Heming

Aged 55, is an executive Director, a member of the nomination
committee and investment committee of the Company. Mr. Ma
joined the Group in April 2021, currently also acts as the director
of several major subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Ma is experienced in real estate, international trade and
public relations. From August 1990 to February 1992, Mr. Ma
worked at Beijing First Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. (It X
ME—FETRAMRALQF). From March 1992 to September
1999, Mr. Ma worked at China Far East International Trading
Corporation* (FF Bl & R B BR & 5 422 7). From October 1999 to
January 2006, Mr. Ma worked at China Public Relations
Association (FEI A E =) (the “Association”). Mr. Ma
was appointed as the deputy director of the Association in
February 2002. From April 2011 to August 2014, Mr. Ma was
appointed as the director of the Association. From February
2006 to March 2011, Mr. Ma worked at Liaison Office of the
Central People’'s Government in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (& A K BT & & B BRI 17 I & B 48 9%
A %) (the “Liaison Office’). Mr. Ma was appointed as a
director of the Liaison Office in May 2009. Mr. Ma has served as
the deputy secretary general of Mainland, Hong Kong and
Macao Trade Promotion Association* (FF Bl A i B2 3 8 B 5 2 7
& # &) since September 2014. Mr. Ma was also appointed as a
director of Capital Century, a controlling shareholder of the
Company, in April 2021.

Mr. Ma received a certificate in Economics and Management
from Beijing Youth Politics College* (It R &H FHBIAER) in
July 1990 and a post-graduate certificate in Economics and
Management from National Academy of Governance* (Bl R 17l
B2 %) in July 2000.

* for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. ZHUANG Minrong

Aged 50, is a non-executive Director of the Company, and
joined the Group in August 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhuang worked as an operation
manager at Fujian Huagiao Trust Investment Company* ({82 &
#E B (Z R E A7) from September 1996 to March 2001. From
March 2001 to August 2007, Mr. Zhuang worked as a corporate
account manager at China Everbright Bank Fuzhou Branch (&
Byt KSR 1748 M 9 77) (the “Bank”). Mr. Zhuang worked as the
general manager’s assistant of the 1st business department
from August 2007 to February 2009 and the general manager of
the 5th business department and department of small and
medium-sized enterprises at the Bank from February 2009 to
December 2014. From December 2014 to April 2021, Mr.
Zhuang worked as the general manager of the risk management
department and credit approval department at the Bank. From
May 2021 to June 2022, he served as the assistant general
manager of the risk management, internal control and
compliance department at CE Hong Kong, a controlling
shareholder of the Company, and was promoted to deputy
general manager since June 2022. Mr. Zhuang has been a
director of Capital Century, a controlling shareholder of the
Company, since August 2021.

Mr. Zhuang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics* (F & B1 48 K )
(now known as Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (#
B 48 BUR K E)) in July 1996.

*for identification purpose only
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Ms. YIN Junyan

Aged 50, a non-executive Director of the Company, joined the
Group in December 2023.

Ms. Yin has served as an experienced business manager of
financial management department of CE Hong Kong and a
director of Capital Century Company Limited since December
2023. Each of the aforementioned companies is a controlling
shareholder of the Company. Prior to that, Ms. Yin has served
various positions at China Everbright Group Ltd. (“Everbright
Group”) (formerly known as China Everbright (Group) Limited)
from June 2000 to December 2023, including the auditor of
audit department from June 2000 to April 2003, deputy principal
staff member of bank audit division of audit department from
April 2003 to March 2007, the principal staff member of bank
division of audit department from March 2007 to May 2009,
the principal staff member of accounting division of financial
management department from May 2009 to October 2012, the
deputy chief of accounting division of financial management
department from October 2012 to December 2014, the chief
of accounting division of financial management department
from December 2014 to August 2016, the senior manager of
accounting division and tax division of financial management
department from August 2016 to August 2018, the chief of
accounting management division and tax management division
of financial management department from August 2018 to
August 2019, the chief and the experienced business manager
of the listing office from August 2019 to December 2019 and
from December 2019 to August 2022, respectively and the
experienced business manager of the supervisory board office
from August 2022 to December 2023.

Prior to joining Everbright Group, Ms. Yin worked as an
accountant at Beijing No. 3 Soybean Products Factory* (1t &
2 25 = H) from August 1997 to November 1998 and a project
manager at Beijing Tianhua Accounting Firm* (1t 51 X % & &t A
F 7 FT) from November 1998 to March 2000.

Ms. Yin holds a Bachelor’'s degree in economics from the
Central University of Finance and Economics (77 %R Bf 4% K £2)
major in accounting, and a Master’s degree in accounting from
the Peking University Guanghua School of Management (1t &=
RESNEESIEERT) Ms. Yin is currently a senior accountant® in
China (FE & # & 5tEF) and a non-practicing member of The
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (41 B 5t & 5t
Bl 17 &).

* for identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. TSOI David

Aged 76, is an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the audit committee as well as a member of the
investment committee of the Company.

Mr. Tsoi joined the Group in December 2017. Since 1 October
2022, he has been a Senior Consultant of Patrick Wong C.P.A.
Limited, and serves as the Director of Alliott Tsoi CPA Limited
since January 2006. He has been a certified public accountant
since September 1981 with over 30 years of experience in
accounting, auditing and financial management. He is also
qualified as and has been:

(@) a certified public accountant registered at the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘“HKICPA");

(b) a certified tax advisor registered at the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong;

() a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since September 1981;

(d) a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales since May 2015;

() a member of the Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors since April 1987 and a fellow since December
2015;

(f)  afellow of the CPA Australia since November 2009; and

(90 a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
British Columbia, Canada since June 2015.
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ESREREEBEBER(8)

He currently serves as an independent non-executive director
of the following listed companies, all of which are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”):

(@)

(d)

Universal Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 1026)
since June 2013;

Green International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2700)
since June 2017;

Tianli Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 0117) since
August 2017; and

InvesTech Holdings Limited (stock code: 1087) since May
2021.

He previously served as an independent non-executive director
of the following listed companies, all of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange:

(@)

()

Loto Interactive Limited (formerly known as Melcolot
Limited) (stock code: 8198) from October 2001 to July
2017;

Enviro Energy International Holdings Ltd (stock code: 1102)
from July 2008 to June 2017;

Guoen Holdings Limited (formerly known as Guru Online
(Holdings) Limited) (stock code: 8121) form May 2014 to
August 2023;

VPower Group International Holdings Limited (stock code:

1608) from October 2016 to December 2023; and

Anxin-China Holdings Limited (stock code: 1149) from
February 2017 to May 2017.

Mr. Tsoi obtained a master degree of business administration in
the University of East Asia, Macau in October 1986.
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ESREREEEBER (8)

Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham (formerly Razack Ebrahim
Abdul and Abraham Razack)

Aged 78, is an independent non-executive Director and also
the chairman of the nomination committee and a member
of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Shek joined the
Group in December 2017, he obtained a bachelor’'s degree of
arts and a diploma in education in the University of Sydney
in May 1969 and March 1970, respectively. He became the
honorary fellow of Lingnan University, the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology, the University of Hong Kong and
the Education University of Hong Kong in November 2008,
June 2014, September 2016 and March 2018, respectively. In
addition to his achievements in the academic field, Mr. Shek has
also earned certain honorary titles in various ambits. He was
appointed as Justice of the Peace in July 1995 and awarded
the Silver Bauhinia Star and Gold Bauhinia Star in the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region 2007 and 2013 Honours
Lists, respectively. He has been appointed as the Honorary
Member of the Court of The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology since August 2020. Mr. Shek is currently the
member of the Court and the Council of The University of Hong
Kong, the Court member of City University of Hong Kong and
Hong Kong Metropolitan University respectively.

Mr. Shek currently serves as an independent non-executive
director of the following listed companies and collective
investment schemes, all of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange: (a) Paliburg Holdings Limited (stock code: 0617)
since July 2002; (b) Chuang’s Consortium International Limited
(stock code: 0367) since May 2004; (c) NWS Holdings Limited
(stock code: 0659) since September 2004; (d) Chuang’s China
Investments Limited (stock code: 0298) since April 2008; (e) ITC
Properties Group Limited (stock code: 0199) since September
2010; (f) China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1313) since January 2011; (g) Lai Fung Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1125) since December 2012; (h) Cosmopolitan
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 0120) since
December 2013; (i) Regal Portfolio Management Limited, the
manager of Regal Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code:
1881) since November 2006; (j) Eagle Asset Management (CP)
Limited, the manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust
(stock code: 2778) since May 2006; (k) CSI Properties Limited
(stock code: 0497) since July 2018; (I) Far East Consortium
International Limited (stock code: 0035) since June 2019;
(m) Shin Hwa World Limited (stock code: 0582) since August
2020; (n) Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group
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Limited (stock code: 1341) since October 2020; and (o) Alliance
International Education Leasing Holdings Limited (formerly
known as International Alliance Financial Leasing Co. Ltd) (stock
code: 1563) since July 2021.

Besides, Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham was the chairman of the
board of Goldin Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 0530)
since June 2022. Goldin Financial Holdings Limited was ordered
to be wound up by the Supreme Court of Bermuda on 11 August
2023. ltis in liquidation and was delisted on 31 October 2023.

He previously served as an independent non-executive director
of the following listed companies, all of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange: (a) PT International Development Corporation
Limited (formerly known as ITC Corporation Limited) (stock
code: 0372) from June 2006 to March 2017; (b) Dorsett
Hospitality International Limited (previous stock code: 2266)
(withdrawn from listing on the Stock Exchange in October 2015)
from September 2010 to March 2016; (c) TUS International
Limited (stock code: 0872) from June 2015 to January 2017; (d)
Magnus Concordia Group Limited (formerly known as Midas
International Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1172) from August
2001 to January 2018; (e) MTR Corporation Limited (stock code:
0066) from December 2007 to May 2019; (f) Hop Hing Group
Holdings Limited (previous stock code: 0047) (withdrawn from
listing on the Stock Exchange in January 2022) from April 2008
to June 2020; (g) Goldin Financial Holdings Limited (stock code:
0530) from January 2017 to March 2021; (h) SUM Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0880) from October 2007 to May 2021; (i)
Lifestyle International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1212) from
March 2004 to December 2022, the company was withdrawn
from listing on 20 December 2022 and (j) Country Garden
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007) from March 2007
to March 2024.

Mr. Shek had been a non-executive director and a member of
the audit committee of The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
Limited, a public company incorporated in Hong Kong, from
December 2004 to April 2016.
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Mr. LEE Jor Hung

Aged 69, is an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the
nomination committee, audit committee as well as investment
committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee joined the Group in December 2017. He is currently
the chairman of DL Brokerage Limited, in which he has been
licensed as the dealing director and responsible officer by
the Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”) since August
1993 and October 2003, respectively, under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) to carry on type 1 (i.e. dealing
in securities) and type 4 (i.e. advising on securities) regulated
activities. He has also served as the director and the permanent
honorary president of Hong Kong Securities Association Limited
since August 1991 and September 1999, respectively.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lee had served as a non-
executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited (stock code: 0388), CIG Yangtze Ports PLC (previous
stock code: 8233) (listing of the shares transferred from the
GEM to the Main Board in January 2018) and Sinofortune
Financial Holdings Limited (formerly known as Stockmartnet
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8123), all of which being
listed on the Stock Exchange, from April 2000 to April 2006,
September 2005 to November 2011, and May 2000 to May
2005, respectively. He had also served as a director of Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute from December 2003
to December 2008, and become a fellow member and senior
fellow since November 2012 and September 2014, respectively.

Mr. Lee had served as a member of the advisory committee and
a member of the process review panel to the SFC, from June
1999 to May 2001 and from November 2006 to October 2012,
respectively. In addition, he had also served as a member of
Disciplinary Panel A and Investigation Panel A of the HKICPA,
from February 2005 to January 2011 and from February 2011 to
January 2015, respectively. He had also been a member of the
Barrister Disciplinary Tribunal Panel from September 2005 to
August 2015.
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Mr. Lee obtained a bachelor degree of commerce in the
University of Alberta, Canada in May 1977 and a master degree
of business administration in the University of East Asia, Macau
in October 1986. He was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 2000 Honors List.

Mr. WANG Cheung Yue

Aged 80, is an independent non-executive Director, as well
as a member of the remuneration committee and investment
committee of the Company.

Mr. Wang joined the Group in August 2022, and has been the
chairman and director of Salon Films (Hong Kong) Limited since
its incorporation in 1969. Since 2017, Mr. Wang has been an
independent non-executive director of Hailiang International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2336). Mr. Wang is a director of
The Hong Kong International Film Festival Society Limited, a
member of the Hong Kong Advisory Board of British Academy
of Film and Television Arts, an honorary consultant to the
Academy of Film of Hong Kong Baptist University, a member
of advisory committee of School of Film and Television of The
Hong Kong Academy for Performing Arts, the co-founder of
Asia Content Business Summit, a director of Asian Film Awards
Academy Limited, a director of Salon Media Lab Limited and
a director of Education Innovation Research Institute in the
Greater Bay Area Limited. Mr. Wang has also been appointed as
an advisor for the Project of Moral Community of the Kingdom
of Thailand Ministry of Culture. Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor
of Arts degree in business administration from Whittier College,
California in 1972.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. LIU Jia

Mr. Liu is the chairman of the Board, an executive Director,
also the chief executive officer, the chairman of the investment
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of
the Board. For details of his qualifications, see “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management”.

Mr. MA Heming

Mr. Ma is an executive Director, the general manager and a
member of the nomination committee and investment committee
of the Board. For details of his qualifications, see “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management”.

Ms. TANG Yuk Ha

Ms. Tang is the company secretary of the Company, she
joined the Group in May 2018. She is an associate member
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in United Kingdom.
She has over 15 years of experience in the fields of company
secretarial and compliance. Ms. Tang obtained a Bachelor of
Arts in Accountancy in The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”),
the change of Directors’ information of the Company since the
date of 2023 interim report are as follows:

(1)

The Company has entered into renewed service
agreements with Mr. Liu Jia and Mr. Ma Heming, being
designated executive directors, respectively, for a term of
three years commencing from 16 January 2024.

The Company has entered into renewed service agreement
with Mr. Zhuang Minrong, being designated non-executive
director, for a term of three years commencing from 16
January 2024.

The Company has entered into renewed letters of
appointments with Mr. Tsoi David, Mr. Shek Lai Him
Abraham, Mr. Lee Jor Hung and Mr. Wang Cheung Yue,
being designated as independent non-executive directors,
respectively, for a term of three years commencing from 16
January 2024.

Mr. Tsoi David resigned as an independent non-executive
director of Guoen Holdings Limited (formerly as Guru
Online (Holdings) Limited) (stock code: 8121) with effect
from 8 August 2023. He also resigned as an independent
non-executive director of VPower Group International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1608) with effect from 5
December 2023.

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham resigned as an independent
non-executive director of Country Garden Holdings
Company Limited (Stock Code: 2007) with effect from 15
March 2024.

In respect of the changes in emoluments of Directors, please
refer to note 9 to the financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXECRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate
governance with emphasis on transparency, independence,
accountability and responsibility. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in order to
meet the rising expectations of Shareholders and comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules set out therein, except
for CG Code provision C.2.1, throughout the year ended 31
December 2023. Pursuant to CG Code provision C.2.1, the roles
of the chairman and the chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer (“CEQ”)
of the Company are not separated and are performed by the
same individual. Mr. Liu Jia (“Mr. Liu”) has acted as both the
chairman and the CEO since the Listing Date. Since Mr. Liu
has a wealth of experience in real estate investment, operations
and investment projects, taking into account the consistent
leadership within the Group and in order to enable more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning and continuation
of the implementation of such plans, the Directors consider that
Mr. Liu is the best candidate for both positions and the present
arrangements are beneficial and in the interests of the Group
and the Shareholders as a whole.

As the Board currently comprises two executive Directors
(including Mr. Liu), two non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors, therefore the Directors are
of the view that there is a fairly strong independence element
in its composition and an appropriate delegation of authorities
to the management. The Board shall nevertheless review the
arrangement from time to time to ensure that it is appropriate to
the Group’s circumstances.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiry with each of the Directors, the Company
has received confirmations from all Directors that they have
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code for the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company,
and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them.

Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors
who held office during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jia (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ma Heming
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Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wang Yun O
Ms. YIN Junyan @
Mr. Zhuang Minrong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tsoi David

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham
Mr. Lee Jor Hung

Mr. Wang Cheung Yue

m the resignation with effect from 12 December 2023
@ the appointment with effect from 12 December 2023

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 21 to 32 of the Annual Report for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board possesses the skills, experience and expertise either
in the same industry or relevant to the management of the
business of the Group which brings a good balance of relevant
skills and experience to the Company. The independent non-
executive Directors also provide their independent professional
judgments on the assessment of the development, performance
and risk management of the Group.

There are no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the
Board.
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Meetings and Attendance

The attendance of individual members of the Board at various
meetings for the year ended 31 December 2023, as well as the

number of such meeting held, are set out below:

Executive Directors
Mr. LIU Jia @

Mr. MA He Ming

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. WANG Yun®

Mr. ZHUANG Minrong

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. TSOI David @

Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abrahams'*

Mr. LEE Jor Hung @

Mr. WANG Cheung Yue

o x> 0N

yirEs
BEthe

EERRAE

FAGES
IEfL

RRREE
BufunEs
ERERLO
RERALY
Fhf Lo

IRELE

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Board
Meeting
E4-4-F
4f4

444

44

4/

44
4/
4/4

4/

the resignation with effect from 12 December 2023.
Chairman of the Board and the Investment Committee.
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Chairman of the Nomination Committee
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The Board meets regularly and, involving active participation,
either in person or through electronic means of communication,
of a majority of Directors. Under code provision C.5.1 of the CG
Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals.

The Company is obliged to comply with the CG Code and will
take appropriate arrangements for holding at least 4 regular
Board meetings as well as a meeting between the Chairman
and independent non-executive Directors annually (without the
presence of other directors).

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not
segregate the roles of chairman and chief executive officer and
Mr. Liu Jia currently holds both positions, as explained in the
paragraph headed “Corporate Governance” in this report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors possess a wide
range of business and financial expertise, experiences and,
through participation in board meetings, offer independent
judgment on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standard of
conducts. Through taking the lead where potential conflicts of
interests arise, serving on the Board committees, examining
the Company’s performance in achieving corporate goals
and objectives and monitoring performance reporting, the
independent non-executive Directors has become an integral
part of the healthy growth of the Company.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023,
the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the
Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.
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The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles of Association”), all the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself for re-election by
the Shareholders at the first annual general meeting after
appointment.

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are appointed for a specific term of three
years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the current term.

Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The retiring Directors
shall be eligible for re-election.

Board Independence

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to
ensure a strong independent element on the Board, which
allows the Board effectively exercises independent judgment to
better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that
need improvement or further development. The evaluation
process also clarifies what actions of the Company need to
be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance, for
instance, addressing individual training and development needs
of each Director.
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Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

Responsibilities of the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

The Board possesses the skills, experience and expertise either
in the same industry or relevant to the management of the
business of the Group which brings a good balance of relevant
skills and experience to the Company. The independent non-
executive Directors also provide their independent professional
judgments on the assessment of the development, performance
and risk management of the Group.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and
related materials, and the advice and services provided by
the company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) of the
Company, and has the liberty to seek independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense if so reasonably required. The
Directors will be continuously provided with the updates on the
major development of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of
good corporate governance practices.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
taken against Directors arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the
first occasion on his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. All Directors confirmed that they
had complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code during
the reporting period, that they had participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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The Company has distributed materials and updated information ZARX A E R R E MR EH R A& E
on the latest developments in the Listing Rules and other fEREER FETEENME L EH
applicable regulatory requirements during the reporting period. BH o

In addition, relevant reading materials (including legal and Itt9h - HEEAREME (BIE AN EEFH)
regulatory updates) have been provided to the Directors for their T IR FEEHE 2 E L% -
reference and studying.

During the year, the training records of the Directors are AFE  EFHEILHMBOT:
summarized as follows:

Types of
Name of Directors Training Vot
EsgR £ 5| 4 W
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. LIU Jia BmkaE A, B, C
Mr. MA Heming BERELE A, B, C
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Wang Yun® TELL0 A, B, C
Ms. YIN Junyan® FEP e B, C
Mr. ZHUANG Minrong HTR&ERE A, B, C
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITESE
Mr. TSOI David BR@ELRE A B, C
Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham A F A& A B, C
Mr. LEE Jor Hung TR E A, B, C
Mr. WANG Cheung Yue TRBLE A C
Notes: B 5 -

A:  Attend seminars/symposia/meetings/forums on directors’ professional A: HEBBMESEcEENR KB EFE W
and/or duties. HE EHREGGEHE

B:  Attend training courses on directors’ professional and/or duties B: HEBRAQAGDZHNEETZEER %H
arranged by the Company. B Z2EIRE -

C:  Read books, articles, journals and other materials in relation to C: BEEBLE PEETLR EEXE 1R

the economy, corporate governance, regulatory developments, RER EFRENAMBEAZESHE
environmental businesses, directors’ duties or other related topics. X E - BRIMEMmTR -

(M) the resignation with effect from 12 December 2023 0 B ER2023F12 12 B &£ &K

@ the appointment with effect from 12 December 2023 @ ZER2023F 12 128 £ 3K
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Investment Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with specific written terms of reference which

deal

clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of

reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee

and

Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s

website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
shareholders upon request.

The

majority of the members of each Board committee are

independent non-executive Directors.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tsoi David (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham and Mr. Lee Jor
Hung. The principal duties of the Audit Committee include,
among others, the review of the Group’s financial reporting
procedures, risk management, internal controls and results.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has held 3 meetings during the
reporting period. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
interim and annual results and the interim and annual
reports; met with external auditor to ensure appropriate
accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group; assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities
for maintaining an effective system of internal control;
reviewed the whistleblowing policy and anti-corruption
policy; reviewed the compliance of continuing connected
transaction, the internal audit report and the internal audit
function of the Group. The Audit Committee also met with
the external auditors 3 times during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit
and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Liu Jia, an executive Director, Mr. Lee Jor
Hung, an independent non-executive Director, and Mr.
Wang Cheung Yue, an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Lee Jor Hung is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those
set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of the
Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management; and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/
her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has held 2 meetings during
the reporting period. The Remuneration Committee
has reviewed the remuneration packages of individual
Directors, and members of senior management. It has
also reviewed the remuneration packages and services
agreement of the newly directors. The aforesaid approved
matters and review were reported and recommended to
the Board.

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Directors
and senior management, is based on skill, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs.
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of
the remuneration of the senior management by bands as
at 31 December 2023 is as follows:

Exceeding RMB1,000,000
Not exceeding RMB1,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Ma Heming, an executive Director, Mr. Shek Lai
Him Abraham, an independent non-executive Director, and
Mr. Lee Jor Hung, an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham is a chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG
Code. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the Board composition, developing and
formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and
appointment of Directors, making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and succession planning of
Directors, and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would take into account various aspects as
well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in the
Company’s Board diversity policy, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry
and regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.
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The Nomination Committee has held 2 meetings during the
reporting period. The Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition and diversity of the Board,
reviewed the board nomination policy, the board diversity
policy and it implementation, assessed the independence
of independent non-executive Directors, discussed and
made recommendation to the board of Directors on the
re-election of all retiring directors at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. It has reviewed
the renewed service agreements of executive Directors
and non-executive Director, and the renewed letters of
appointment of independent non-executive Directors, also
selected of individuals nominated for directorships. The
aforesaid approved matters and review were reported and
recommended to the Board.

4. Investment Committee

The Investment Committee consists of five members, two
executive Directors namely Mr. Liu Jia and Mr. Ma Heming
and three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr.
Lee Jor Hung, Mr. Tsoi David and Mr. Wang Cheung Yue.
Mr. Liu Jia is the chairman of the Investment Committee.

The principal duties of the Investment Committee include
reviewing and evaluating any investment projects proposed
by the Company, making recommendations to the Board
on such investment project, and also reviewing the annual
investment plan of the Company.

The Investment Committee has held 1 meeting during the
reporting period. The Investment Committee reviewed
and evaluated the Company’s investment portfolio and its
performance.

Other than the 4 Board committees above, the Executives
Committee, being chaired by the CEO, is responsible for
handling day-to-day business activities and making collective
decisions on major matters relating to the Group’s daily
business operations, management and personnel matters, etc.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
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The Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the code of conduct
and Model Code applicable to employees and Directors, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
this Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for monitoring the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems, as well as conducting a review on an annual basis.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable (and not absolute) assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee
assists the Board in leading the management and overseeing
their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group does not have an internal audit department and is
currently of the review that there is no immediate need to set up
an internal audit department with the Group in light of the size,
nature and complexity of the Group’s business.

The Board has engaged an independent consultant to perform
independent review of the adequate and effective of the internal
control system of the Group. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the internal audit report prepared by an independent consultant.
The Audit Committee and the Board will continue to review at
least annually the need for an internal audit department.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes and
office functions, including project management, sales and
leasing, financial reporting, human resources and information
technology.
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The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes:

All divisions/departments conduct internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business of
the Group and various aspects including key operational and
financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm
that control policies are properly complied with by each division/
department.

The management, in coordination with division/department
heads, assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides
treatment plans, monitors the risk management progress, as
well as reports to the Audit Committee and the Board on all the
findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems during the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as
the management, reviewed the risk management (including
ESG risk) and internal control systems of the Group, including
the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the year
ended 31 December 2023, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered
the financial reporting and staff qualifications, experiences
and relevant resources. The findings have been addressed.
No significant areas of improvement which are required to be
brought to the attention of the Board have been revealed.

The Company has formulated a whistle-blowing policy to provide
a safe and confidential reporting mechanism and to ensure that
employees and those who deal with the Company to report, in
confidential, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Company.
The Company has an internal reporting channel that is open
and available for employees of the Company to report any
suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can also report
to the internal anti-corruption department, which is responsible
for investigating the reported incidents and taking appropriate
measures. The Company continues to carry out anti-corruption
and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture of integrity, and
actively organizes anti-corruption training and inspections to
ensure the effectiveness of anti-corruption and anti-bribery.
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The Company holds the anti-corruption trainings and briefings
to all employees regularly. There were no non-compliance cases
in relation to bribery and corruption.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 135 to
140.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the Company
in respect of audit and non-audit services for the year ended
31 December 2023 amounted to RMB1.13 million and RMBO0.38
million respectively. The above non-audit services include review
on the interim report and other professional services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for
ensuring that Board policy and procedures are followed and
Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. The
Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company.
Although the Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of
the Board and the Chief Executive Officer, all the Directors may
call upon the Company Secretary for assistance and advice
at any time in respect to their duties so as to ensure effective
operation of the Board and the committees thereunder. The
Company Secretary advises the Board on governance matters
and facilitates the induction and professional development of
Directors. As at 31 December 2023, the Company Secretary of
the Company has undertaken 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted the following board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”).

The Board recognizes the benefit of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. A diverse Board
includes and makes good use of differences in the skills,
industry knowledge and experience, education, background and
other qualities of the Directors and does not discriminate on the
ground of race, age, gender, culture or religious belief.

The Nomination Committee has responsibility for reviewing and
reporting to the Board in relation to the Board diversity.

All the Board appointments will be considered by the Nomination
Committee and recommended to the Board for formal approval
based on the diversity perspectives.

Selection of candidates for Board appointment will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural/educational and professional background,
skills and experience.

The ultimate decision will be based on merit against objective
criteria and contribution that the candidate will bring to the
Board.
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For the purpose of implementation of the board diversity policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

° at least 1 member of the Board shall be female;

° at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

° at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;
and

° at least 50% of the members of the Board shall have
more than 5 years of experience in the industry he/she is
specialised in.

The Board is committed to improving the diversity of the Board
and wishes to achieve the above objectives by the end of 2025.

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the
Group. Up to the date of this annual report, the Board consists
of 7 male directors and 1 female director (87.5% male and
12.5% female). The number of senior management is 3, consists
of 2 male (66.67%) and 1 female (33.33%).

For further details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report set out on pages 57 to 113 of this annual
report.

The Company will ensure that gender diversity is taken into
account when recruiting all employee (including the senior
management) and ensure that sufficient resources are available
for providing appropriate trainings and career development to
develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board and
maintain gender diversity.

The Board will review and monitor from time to time the
implementation of Board Diversity Policy to ensure its
effectiveness and will at appropriate time set measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the following board nomination policy
(the “Board Nomination Policy”).

The factor listed below shall be considered by the Nomination
Committee in selecting the candidates for directors (“Selection
Criteria”):

° character and integrity;

° achievements and professional experience that is beneficial
to the development of the Company;

° professional experience in real estate operations and other
related fields;

° potential time commitment;

° board diversity in all aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age (18 years old or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

° independence of the candidates (if applicable); and

° the term of service that the candidates have served for the
reappointment of the independent non-executive Directors.
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NOMINATION PROCEDURES

A.

Nomination by the Nomination Committee

° The Nomination Committee shall review the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, professional
qualification, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendation on any
proposed change to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

o The Nomination Committee can be assisted by
external agencies and/or consultants in identifying
potential candidates.

o The Nomination Committee may seek advice from
the Board members in recommending candidates or
nominate other candidates who are not nominated by
the Board members in appointing additional Directors
or filling Board vacancies.

o The Nomination Committee shall refer to the
Selection Criteria to determine whether the
proposed candidates are eligible and suitable to
become Directors of the Company and provide
advice to the Board in this regard for the Board
to consider approving the appointment of the
proposed candidates as the Company’s Directors or
recommending the proposed candidates to be elected
as the Company’s Directors in the general meeting.

Nomination by the Shareholders

Shareholders may nominate candidates for election of
the Company’s Directors in accordance to the applicable
rules of the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association
of the Company. The specific procedures are set out in
the “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director” as prepared and adopted by the
Company from time to time.

The Nomination Committee is authorized by the Board
to review this policy from time to time to ensure its
effectiveness and to give advice to the Board on the
proposed amendments for the Board’s approval as
necessary.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the following dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”).

The Board will consider the following factors when considering
the proposed dividend payment and determining its amount:

(1) the current and future funding needs of the Company for
operations and business development;

(2) the market conditions from time to time;
(3) the Company’s liquidity and financial position;

(4) the requirement of the Company’s Articles of Association
and the relevant laws, regulations and rules applicable to
the Company;

(5) any banking or other funding covenants by which the
Company is bound;

(6) the solvency requirements of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and

(7) any other circumstances that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will review, discuss and revise the Dividend Policy
in accordance with the Company’s profit, financial needs and
other factors from time to time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Shareholders of the Company should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in the laws of the Cayman Islands
and where applicable, the Company’s Articles of Association,
for convening a general meeting.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders of the Company should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in the laws of the Cayman Islands
and where applicable, the Company’s Articles of Association,
for circulating a resolution for annual general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 1302, 13th Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour
View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong

(852) 2545 5256

inquiry@ebgca.com.hk

Fax:
Email:

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The annual general meeting provides an
opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate directly with
the Directors. The Chairman of the Company and the chairmen
of the Board Committees of the Company will attend the annual
general meeting to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor
will also attend the annual general meeting to answer questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content
of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.

The Company has in place a shareholder communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to
ensure its effectiveness. The Board had reviewed the policy and
considered that the implementation of the policy was effective.

The Company has used the following methods to communicate
with its shareholders:—

° publication of announcements, interim reports and annual
reports;

o publication of key corporate governance policies on the
Company’s website; and

° holding of annual general meeting and other general
meetings of the Company.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s address.
The Company also maintains a website at www.ebgca.com.hk
where up-to-date information and updates of the Company’s
operations, performances and strategies are available to public
access.
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there is no significant change in
the Company’s constitution documents. An up to date version of
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT

RiE  TBRELBRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited is pleased to present
this Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“Report”) to provide an overview of the Group’s management
approaches affecting the operation and performance in respect
of environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”) aspects for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

REPORTING PERIOD

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (“reporting
period”), which is in conformity with the Group’s financial year.

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers Everbright Grand China Assets Limited
(the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
with our core business principally engaged in the businesses
of property leasing, the provision of property management
services and the sale of properties held for sale in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

REPORTING BASIS

This Report is prepared with reference to Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (‘ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX”). The Group has complied
with the disclosure requirements of the “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.

With the aim to optimise and improve the disclosure
requirements in this Report, the Group has taken initiative to
formulate policies, record relevant data, implement and monitor
measures. This Report shall be published both in Chinese and
English on the website of Stock Exchange. Should there be any
discrepancy between the Chinese and the English versions, the
English version shall prevail.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

This Report summarised the Group’s performance in corporate ABRERAIEE N - F&  FHAN—
and social responsibilities applying the reporting principles of HHR&ERBIEE T AEBEDEMEE

“Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency” as below: EEFEMHRBEOT:
Reporting Principles Application by the Group
&R A EERE
Materiality The Group identified and evaluated the materiality and the
BEMH importance of ESG issues through continuous communication with

our stakeholders and taking into consideration the Group’s business
operations and sustainable development.
AREBPBREFOHERBEBBBRLTEESGEECEAMNERE
EM WEBTAKEENEBEERAIFHEER -

Quantitative The Group has taken initiative to formulate policies and record
EEM relevant measurable data for performance monitoring and
evaluation. The Group disclosed its environmental and social key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) in a quantitative manner with
explanations.

REEBDFHHITHE BB ERBEE R RTMHRR -
REEBNSMF AW HHEFHARELIRBE L SBRENER (B
REMER]D -

Balance The Group has presented our performance in sustainable
I 14 development and ESG issues based on objective facts and avoided
improper selections, omissions or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the report
reader.

AEENEBZERER RAZMRAIFELRE RESGEEZ
RE WRREARESEIRETEFERARAAGN I ETEE
BRI ZWBEN -

Consistency The Group adopted a consistent approach annually on the

— B disclosure scope and statistical methods used for KPIs in this
Report to provide meaningful comparison for our performance
evaluation.

AEEBSFHARENRBERENBEREVEZEHA T ARA—
HOHER RUHEEENLEUFBAEEZRR -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCRS(8)

SOURCE OF INFORMATION

Information and data contained in this Report are derived from
the Group’s formal internal documents, statistical reports and
public information, after verification by relevant departments.
This Report was reviewed and approved by the board of
directors (“Board”) of the Company who takes the responsibility
for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of its contents.

ACCESS TO THE REPORT

This Report is available in electronic version in Chinese and
English languages. Should there be any discrepancy between
the Chinese and English versions, the English version shall
prevail. You may access the Company’s website at www.ebgca.
com.hk and the website of the HKEX at www.hkexnews.hk for
an electronic copy of this Report.

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes all stakeholders to provide their opinions
and suggestions. Stakeholders can provide valuable advice
in respect of the Report or the Group’s performances in
sustainable development by email to inquiry@ebgca.com.hk.

ABOUT US

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property
leasing, the provision of property management services and the
sale of properties held for sale in the PRC during the year.

For the property leasing business, the Group’s property portfolio
comprises three commercial buildings, namely, Everbright
Financial Center, part of Everbright International Mansion and
Ming Chang Building, which are located in Chengdu, Sichuan
Province and Kunming, Yunnan Province, respectively, in the
PRC with a total gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately
89,507 square meters (“sq.m.”) Besides, the average
occupancy rate of the properties was over 75% during the year.
Furthermore, the Group provides property management and
maintenance service to tenants.

= B RIR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

The Group has a clear strategy for its business development.
Meanwhile, the Group acknowledges the importance of
operating its business in a responsible manner to achieve
sustainable development. Sustainable development is crucial for
gaining affordable capital and enhancing capabilities for long-
term competitiveness. The Group is committed to responsible
operation by incorporating environmental and social factors
into management considerations. The Group has established
and implemented a set of policies to manage and monitor the
risks related to environment, employment, operating practices
and community. Details of the management approaches to
sustainable development of different areas are illustrated in this
Report.

ESG GOVERNANCE
Board’s oversight of ESG issues

Board’s overall vision and strategy in managing ESG
issues

The board of directors (“Board”) has a primary role in
overseeing the management of the Group’s sustainability issues.
During the year, the Board and the ESG Working Group spent
significant time in evaluating the impacts of ESG-related risks
of our operation and formulating relevant policies in dealing
with the risks. The oversight of the Board is to ensure that
the management can have all the right tools and resources to
oversee the ESG issues in the context of strategy and long-term
value creation.

To demonstrate our commitment to transparency and
accountability, our Group has established an ESG Working
Group which has clear terms of reference that set out the
powers delegated to it by the Board. We highly value the
opinions of each stakeholder and treat them as the cornerstone
for the development of the Group. During the reporting period,
the ESG working Group consisted of an Executive Director and
the Head of Finance, the Head of Human Resources and the
Head of Operations.

The ESG Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing
and supervising the ESG process and risk management of the
Group. Different ESG issues are reviewed by the ESG Working
Group at the regular meetings, which are held at least twice a
year. During the reporting period, the ESG Working Group and
the management reviewed the governance and different ESG
issues.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCRS(8)

Board’s ESG management approach and strategy for
material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations
of different stakeholders on our ESG issues, materiality
assessment is conducted annually. We ensure various
platforms and channels of communication are used to reach,
listen and respond to our key stakeholders. Through general
communication with stakeholders, the Group understands the
expectations and concerns from stakeholders. The feedbacks
obtained allow the Group to make more informed decisions, and
to better assess and manage the resulting impacts.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG
aspects through the steps: (1) material ESG area identification
by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG area prioritization with
stakeholder engagement; and (3) validation and determining
material ESG issues based on the results of communication
among stakeholders and the management.

Hence, this can enhance understanding of their degree and
change of attention to each significant ESG issue, and can
enable us to more comprehensively plan our sustainable
development direction in the future. Those important and
material ESG areas identified during our material assessment
were discussed in this Report.

Board review progress against ESG-related goals and
targets

The progress of target implementation and the performance
of the goals and targets should be closely reviewed from time
to time. Rectification may be needed if the progress falls short
of expectation. Effective communication about the goals and
targets with key stakeholders such as employees is essential, as
this enables them to be engaged in the implementation process,
and to feel they are part of the change that the company aspires
to achieve.

Setting strategic goals for the coming three to five years enables
the Group to develop a realistic roadmap and focus on results
of achieving the visions.
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BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

Setting targets require the ESG Working Group to carefully
examine the attainability of the targets which should be weighed
against the company’s ambitions and goals. During the reporting
period, our Group set targets on an absolute basis.

The board’s reviewed the company’s progress made against
ESG targets, discussed the results of such review with the
management and considered the ESG targets’ achievements
were satisfactory during the year.

ESG Management Approach and Strategy

Every year, through the risk identification, stakeholders
engagement, materiality assessment and the review of policy
formulation process, the Board approves the management
approaches on ESG issues that are material to our Group and
bases on the regular review on ESG performance with the
strategic goals and targets to make constant progress and
improvement on ESG issues in our daily operation responding
to the stakeholders’ expectations and jointly promoting the
sustainable development of the Group.

In order to assess the effectiveness and the appropriateness
of the ESG strategies, goals and targets, regular review on
the progress achievement is necessary for any rectification
if the progress falls short of expectation. To promote a long-
term sustainability and develop a realistic roadmap, the Group
formulates ESG strategies with strategic goals to achieve in five
years.

Review of Progress against ESG-related Goals and
Targets

The Board is responsible for reviewing the progress of attaining

ESG-related goals and proposing direction for the Group’s ESG
development going forward based on the progress.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCRS(8)

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business
depends on the support from our stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to
influence the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested
in or affected by or have the potential to be affected by the
impact of the Group’s activities, products, services and
relationships.

The Group engages with our stakeholders to understand and
respond to the concerns of our stakeholders, develop mutually
beneficial relationships and to seek their views on its business
proposals and initiatives so as to promote sustainability in the
marketplace, workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from our stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous
interest in the Group’s business activities. The Group has
identified our key stakeholders that are important to our
business and established various channels for communication.
Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders.
Their feedbacks allow the Group to assess the impact of our
decisions on ESG issues, but also to adjust our direction of
business development and growth. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship
with each of our key stakeholders.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

The following table provides an overview of the issue of
concerns of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various
communication channels and methods used to reach, listen and

respond:

Stakeholders
EnE

Government
and regulatory
authorities

BREREE#E

Issues of Concerns

HE

Compliance with
the rules, laws and
regulations

BT RBRA R MRS

Proper tax payment
AR

Response to the
government’s policies

B BT R

BRITA:

Engagement channels
SHEEE

Research and
discussions through
work conferences,
work reports
preparation and
submission for
approval
FRIFEZE TIER
ERENRERENH
e

Annual reports and
announcements
FEEFHRELRA
H

=

Company website
NGIE D

Annual filing

FEBAR

TERBARNEBEIEZRNEZMIEA
EAREBEWR REMEDENSEBAER

Practices
)

Operated, managed
and paid taxes
according to laws and
regulations
RIBERIEREE
BB KRB

Cooperated with
government’s
supervision, inspection
and evaluation review
MEBNEE  BE
SR

Disclosed and
reported information in
a timely and accurate
manner

Ko B 7 4 T b 3% BRI
wEEH
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RE MBREBRS (8)

Stakeholders
&

Shareholders
and Investors
BREKRESE

Issues of Concerns

HAE

— Information disclosure

and transparency

— Risk and returns
— R B & B #H

— Protection of interests
and fair treatment of
shareholders

— REBREER QT
HEFERR

Engagement channels

S2REE

Annual and interim
reports and
announcements
FH- -FHwEASE

Company website
NS

General meetings

BRRE

Practices
)

Made relevant
disclosures about
Group’s business
development in a
timely manner
MEFEL B RAANEE
EBERBEANKE

Carried out different
forms of investor
activities with an aim
to improve investors’
recognition
AEZEEANKE
EEY  RekEE
HRAE

Convened general
meetings

BRERERERRE

Disclosed company
contact details

on website and in
reports and ensured
all communication
channels available and
effective

PRI RERNE T
NEIEA T BT
BREBEEBREEY

BAEX
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

Stakeholders Issues of Concerns Engagement channels Practices
¥ 0E e SHEHEE ER
Employees — Remuneration — Training, seminars, — Provided a healthy
B packages workshops, briefing and safe working
— B sessions environment
— Fil e IS | - BHEEREZZ2HNT
— Occupational health KN g EIRIE
and safety
- BERERZR — Cultural and sport — Organized
activities occupational and
— Working environment — XERBEED professional staff
— I{ERE trainings
— Intranet, emails and — BB REREEET
— Career development notice 53l
opportunities — NBHE EBREBEES
— BEEERKE — Developed a fair
— Employee surveys promotion mechanism
— EEHE on career path
— BURTHBEEHA
1
— Organized care and
welfare activities for
employees
— REEBHBBEERRE
& B
Customers — Safe and high-quality — Company website, — Provided a clean and
BZF products and services brochures, notice secure environment
— T2 kBEEERLIR boards, annual reports and community
% and announcements — REBFRLE2HNIERE
— RaEl@y N Kt @
— Responsive to HhER FEBRER
customers’ needs N — Improved customer
— MEREEFEFFK complaint handling
— Satisfaction surveys process
— Mutual trustworthy — MEERAZE — TERFPRFEER
relationship il
— BEER — Customer service
hotline
— BPIRBER
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RE MBREBRS (8)

Stakeholders
&

Suppliers and

Issues of Concerns

HAE

— Long-term partnership

Engagement channels
SHEE

Business meetings,

Practices
)

Established a fair

Business — REBAEBE supplier conferences, tendering mechanisms
partners phone calls and B VNS R L
MERMREKESHE | — Performance and interviews
%% obligation under % g% HEDE Enhanced daily
contracts - BEEKRET communication, and
— ARBEHREE established long-
On-site audit or checks term cooperation with
— Tendering process RIGEZIRE quality suppliers and
— BEEF contractors
MEARER  BHEY
HEBREABEEY
REIE ERR
Provided regular
feedbacks for
improvement
IR EHI R R LAE R
=
Industry — Experience sharing Industry conference/ Maintained fair play,
associations — BB OF seminar cooperated with peers
TENHE e /Mg to realize win-win
— Cooperation situation and shared
— & fF Site visit experiences
B i 18 52 HRATFHESE HE

— Fair competition
~ REEF

A EERERRS
TEB

Attended industry
seminars to promote
industry sustainable
development

2MITEMTE - A

HHTERAREER

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 F 3

o/



68

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

The Group has evaluated the materiality and attached the
importance in ESG aspects through the steps: (1) material
ESG area identification by industry benchmarking; (2) key
ESG area prioritization with stakeholders engagement; and
(3) validation and determining material ESG issues based
on results of communication among stakeholders and the
management. Hence, this can enhance understanding of their
degree and change of attention to each significant ESG issue,
and can enable us to be more comprehensive when planning
our sustainable development work strategy in the future.
Those important and material ESG areas identified during our
materiality assessment were discussed in this Report.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the Report
by understanding the key ESG issues that are important to the
business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and KPIs are
reported in this Report according to disclosure requirements set
out in the ESG Reporting Guide.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG
aspects through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through benchmarking
analysis, with consideration into industry trends, regulatory
and market requirements and corporate development
strategies. In accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide,
ESG issues were categories into four areas: Environmental
Protection, Employment Management, Operating Practices
and Community Involvement.

Step 2: Prioritization — Stakeholder Engagement

° The Group obtained the opinions and expectations from
key internal and external stakeholders including those
identified in the section “Stakeholders Engagement” during
daily operation on key ESG issues identified above to
ensure all the key aspects to be covered for prioritization
and assessment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCRS(8)

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

° The Group’s management discussed based on the
result of benchmarking identification and stakeholders
engagement, and determined the materiality of each ESG
issue in relations to our business characteristics and daily
operation.

o The Group’s management ensured all material ESG issues,
which were important to our business development, were
reported in this Report and in compliance with the ESG
Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2023, those important
ESG areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.

The calculation methodologies and assumption adopted for
determining key performance indicators (KPIs) reported in this
section are according to the guidelines of Global Reporting
Initiative (“GRI”).

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

The Group is in strict compliance with the relevant environmental
laws and regulations in PRC, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (F# A R L M B IR
BIRFE L), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes (FZEA K

FEF0 B [ 88 BE W05 IR MR %), Protection and Control of
Atmospherlc Pollution of the PRC {/ #E A & £ MBI K &5 265
Y&74), the Energy Conservation Law of the PRC (/A & £/
B &0 #4088 R &), the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the PRC (R ZEARZEFMBEI/KFEPGEE). Our Group would
be subject to payment of fines and penalties, and our reputation
may be damaged if there is any failure to comply with these laws
and regulations. The Group has established an environmental
management system with an aim to promote the improvement
and development of the environmental management system
and mitigate the impacts of our operations on the environment.
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance issue in relation to environmental laws of the
PRC.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

A1: EMISSIONS
Air Pollutants Emission

Air emission control is essential to mitigate environmental
impacts and to protect the health of employees. As the Group
is mainly involved in general office activities, the amount of air
pollutant emissions is insignificant.

Our air pollutants are mainly generated from the natural gas
consumption of the PRC office for warming in winter, while the
rest of the air pollutant emission is generated by vehicles. We
take initiative to formulate plans in transportation management
for the reduction of air pollutant emission in our daily business
operation. For example, encouraging employees and clients to
conduct video conference meetings instead of transportation, as
well as reduce to use winter heating equipment and when there
are idle.

The decrease in the emission of air pollutants in 2023 was
mainly attributable to the reduced vehicle fuel use for business
travelling, decrease in natural gas use for winter warming, and
the effective implementation of the energy saving strategies
during the reporting period. Furthermore, the Group targets to
reduce the air pollutants emission by 5% by 2025.

During the reporting period, the air pollutants emission of our
Group was as follows:

Al BERY
ZRITRMIER

REHRENEREREZERRER
ERFEMEZ BRAKEIENE
—RMAEER  WERSRYHERE
IR E -

BN ERSEDIERETERLE
XFRMEMBRNRAR MEHHZE
ROSRMBEMAKEEE - HAFIEEHH
TEREEAE URIBEEKES
REHORRIGRYEER - Plan > XBET
MEPURASHENRERIBIA UK
MO FERERE CLERERE
Be o

2023F KA 5 A&AMHERERIETERH
RMEAARDEFLITERREAE
B FEARARLETRE - K88
BOERER - i SENEEZEEE
2025F W= RIS E R 5% ©

W A B A 5 R B R
m

Type of air pollutants Unit

ERERMER B 2023 2022
Nitrogen oxides (NO) kg

a4t %(NOX) NIy 486.90 627.57
Sulphur oxides (SO ) kg

i AL (S0) N 5.98 7.63
Particulate matter (PM) kg

O KT (PM) NS 0.25 0.23
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BE MEBRELCRS(8)

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions!

The Group recognises that the community is gradually
concerned with climate change as it affects our daily life and
poses a risk to its business. Hence the Group is committed
to mitigating the effects of climate change and protecting the
health of our employees and community.

The Group is aware that the magnitude of climate change is
increasing, such as global warming, sea level rise and extreme
weather, which may have a significant impact on our business
and operations. In view of this, we strictly monitor and review
greenhouse gas emissions data generated by the business,
advocate green office, and progressively formulate and launch
measures to improve energy efficiency. We continue to explore
and move forward on the way to achieve low-carbon emission
and emission reduction, helping to fight against the threats
brought by climate change.

As a property management service provider, our source of GHG
emissions come from (i) the scope 1 direct emission from fossil
fuel use for vehicles and winter warming; and (i) the scope 2
indirect emission through electricity consumption for our office
operation. The Group attaches great importance to reduce the
carbon footprint by gradually establishing emission targets,
incorporating the energy-saving initiatives and measures into our
daily operations and continuously exploring new opportunities
to achieve emission reduction through our environmental
management system. Green belt maintenance in our building
outside area under management will become our service
focus which contributing an off-set effect in the overall carbon
footprint. Details of the Group’s energy efficiency measures and
practices were summarised in the section “Use of Resources”
and green office policies mentioned in the section “The
Environment and Natural Resources”.

The decrease in GHG emission in 2023 was mainly due to
the reduced vehicle fuel use for business travelling, decrease
in natural gas use for winter warming, and the effective
implementation of the energy saving strategies during the
reporting period. The Group will strive to reduce the emission of
GHG by 5% by 2025.

! The calculation of the greenhouse gas emission is based on the
“Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from Greenhouse
Gas Protocol.

BERB(EERED R

AEBERBI LR REE LA SEE
E O RNEPERMNAELEELHER
B o Bk N5 BB H R
REZLELNTE AREERENUNMHEE
H i BT o

AEEE B D RIEE 18 E E N
Bl e RE 8 FE L RERX
REHAEERMANEIHEREZBRE
REE -/ RMUBERERMNRBHAE
EHRERBRERSTREYDFEREBE
REZENL LETHERELRES
RERA A B B - RO BER B B £
TEHRERRAT WHEBEBREZH S
KHELE e

ERMEEERBREMRD  HMANERE
REHFRORKANBEINEZFREKR
A BB AN & 3 HRBR (£ A3 eV (L B AR ¢ (i)
HENREHFBORARBKRAZTEZRE
EE -AKEBEFRFEABIIKEY > &
FEEBNER  SEREEEME SR
ABZMPHBEREE  YRBHRMORE
BERGIHRRER BN HEE -
B EENREINEART EEHXD
HFIORBER - 546 BN H BB
RHMEE AKEERUEXERNLE
BENFBERIERER] - REaNR
RERRNVIREMBAER] —HHH

A

})l{o

023FRERBHEMERILEERAR
WMEBABBEITERALBERD
RERMEARAIRD + LA K & 8 B B
RBRE M - £E ) FE2025F 5 L 5%
BERBHHRE -

T OREREARENHEERNAEREGH
IR T EEE R

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 F 3



/2

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

During the reporting period, the GHG emission was as follows:

R & BRI R T

GHG emission Unit

BERBEK By 2023 2022

Direct GHG Emissions (Scope 1)? tonnes of CO,-e

BEEAERBEHER(EHE):? WE— S LIRE S 112.71 142.07

Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 2)3 tonnes of CO,-e

MEREREHR(HEE2)S WE— S LIRE 2 1,136.80 1,492.42¢

Total GHG emission tonnes of COQ-e

BEREBAEME M-S tixE= 1,249.51 1,634.494

GHG emission intensity tonnes of CO,-e/m?

BEREHENRE M| EE S FHK 0.07 0.10¢
Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste EEREBEEEY

The Group’s operational activities are not involved production
of finished products and do not generate of hazardous waste.
The non-hazardous waste generated were mainly commercial
waste such as office paper, bottles, etc. As part of our waste
management, the Group have formulated detailed guidance
for all front-line and back office staff to follow in our operating
places and offices to mitigate our impacts to the environment.

The Group’s Green Office Guidelines outline concepts of
“reduce, reuse and recycle”. Therefore, we persist in keeping
systematic records on material usage to reduce unnecessary
consumption and purchase in order to continuously improve the
procurement procedures and promote resources utilisation. The
Group has posted tips and placed collection bags and boxes to
collect recyclables such as paper and plastic. General waste is
collected by the building management and handled by dedicated
waste collectors and recyclers to prevent illegal dumping of
waste. We will continue to improve the resource recovery
system and encourage employees to actively participate in the
cycling plan to ensure the efficiency of resource recycling.

2 Scope 1: Direct emission from sources that are owned or controlled
by the Group.

3 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from purchased electricity consumed by
the Group.

4 The year 2022 data has been restated for enhancing comparative

purpose and more advanced and updated scientific calculation
models and methodologies have been adopted.
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BE MEBRELCRS(8)

Paper is the major resource consumption of the Group’s
daily operation and therefore paper conservation is our key
resource conservation goal. We have implemented paper-saving
measures in our offices, such as encouraging to replace printed
documents with electronic copies, reuse paper and double-
sided printing, etc. Moreover, we selected Forest Stewardship
Council (FSC) certified paper to print the Group’s annual report
and publications to avoid harvesting virgin forests. During the
reporting period, a total of 1.20 tonnes (2022: 0.98 tonnes) of
papers were recycled.

The Group plans to establish steps to gradually increase the
garbage sorting spots in our communities under management
to facilitate recycling and to engage contractor to undertake
and handle the recycled waste in a timely and orderly manner.
We will promote the concept of green community through
conducting various community activities so as to strengthen the
public awareness on environmental protection and establishing
the habit of garbage sorting and recycling. In our daily office
operation, we continue to adhere to the green office policies
listed in the section “The Environment and Natural Resources”.

During the reporting period, non-hazardous waste for epidemic
prevention supplies such as one-off surgical masks and
alcohol-based sanitisers, etc., became inevitably consumed
in our operational area to safeguard hygienic environment in
our workplace under the circumstances of regular epidemic
control and prevention. During the reporting period, the effective
implementation of non-hazardous waste management strategies
led to a decrease in the amount of non-hazardous waste
generated in 2023.The Group has set comprehensive reduction
target by 5% reduction in non-hazardous waste generation by
2025. The non-hazardous waste generated by the Group during
the reporting period was as follows:

WARERAEBATELENTIEELR
HE ALBRLOARRREMEERE E
FEHMEZEZR BEMENRLAERATE
TEA BRI 5B AE F i R
RERA ERFERBERRERMITENE -
o BMEABHFEMEIEZLZ 88 (FSO)R
FHRRERKNYEFEFRET Y -
A IERIKRIA RN - EREBHAN - &K
73— ££ [ Y T1.20ME (20224F : 0.98M ) Y
Kok o

AREBETEI B ERFEE - EH BN EE
AR B IR D MR R DAGRE m YR A
I B 7R A B K B B e 3 A A BR IR (O
Whr - RSB EERTRNLRIE
BEEZKEHENRS  MAETRD
RRE#  BRURSBEHKHEE -
EHRMOBENLEEET ZMESE
BTIREEBEEARERIBYAINKES
i NEE i

BEMA - ERBEHEERENERT -
RREIESREERE —RAUE

NE -BARBEBESREHEAAMNES
BEEYKSTAIELHBERER - WEH
AN ARANEREETEENERER -
2023 F BMEREMELERAULBMAD -
SEFETRHNNFEERZEYELE
WAOERM R ARBERIE - MEHAARE
BELANEZERMERE N :

Non-hazardous waste generated | Unit

BERBRZEY B 2023 2022
Non-hazardous waste generated tonnes

BEREVELS T 80.71 116.01
Non-hazardous waste generated

intensity tonnes/m?2

BREBEEVEELERE TR/ FHK 0.002 0.003
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BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

Municipal Solid Waste Charging

Implementation of Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) Charging by
the Hong Kong Government will be rolled out on 1 August 2024.
Under the MSW Charging policy, it is expected that the Group
will be subject to the “polluter-pays” principle, and would incur
expenses relating to MSW. All waste disposed of by residential
and non-residential premises in Hong Kong will be subject
to charging based on its quantity, so as to drive behavioural
changes in waste generation and hence reduce overall waste
disposal.

To enhance waste reduction and recycling, as well as help
reduce carbon emissions, we will provide staff training to assist
frontline staff in getting ready and set up feedback channels
for staff. Also, the Group will arrange regular reviews, perform
inspections and continuous publicity and education in order to
cater for the following changes.

A2: USE OF RESOURCES

In our daily operation, energy and water are the major sources
of resource consumption. The Group consistently aims to
implement energy and water efficiency initiatives to reduce the
energy and water consumption. The Group also motivates all
its employees to participate in resources conservation activities
and encourages them to save energy and water.

Energy Consumption

The use of electricity, natural gas and petrol accounts for
the Group’s major energy consumption. The Group actively
implements energy-saving measures according to our Green
Office Guidelines, including the installation of energy metering
systems to closely monitoring energy consumption and improve
energy efficiency. In the office, we maximise the use of natural
light and turn off unnecessary lighting. As we believe that
environmental protection achievements need to be gathered
from bits and pieces, we encourage employees to start with
the small things around them and cultivate good energy-saving
habits, such as switching computers to energy saving mode,
turning off computers and other electrical appliances at the end
of the day, and unplugging electrical appliances before long
holidays.
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BE MEBRELCRS(8)

Furthermore, we encourage conducting video conference
meetings instead of transportation, reduce to use winter heating
equipment and when there are idle. In order to further mitigate
our impacts on the environment from energy consumption,
we target to establish in steps by applying in our communities
under management for lighting systems with sensor functions;
investigating in the feasibility on the implementation of solar
panels and incorporating the assessment with energy-saving
characteristics when making new quotation for equipment.

The decrease in energy consumption in 2023 was mainly
attributable to the reduced vehicle fuel use for business
travelling, decrease in natural gas use for winter warming, and
the effective implementation of the energy saving strategies
during the year. The Group has set inclusive total energy
consumption reduction target by 5% by 2025.

During the reporting period, the details of energy consumption
of the Group was as follows:

SN A BAREEERERIABT
B UERERERALFTRERE /T
E-—TRERERBERYRENTZE &K
MHEERERMEENHEFER TS Z
VEAEBERFVENRARR AL E
mﬁ%%%mWMTTE I &R
ETHBRERESRES NG -

CO23FRERHEERLETERHN A B T
TEWMARBAE R MELEZE0EAXA
ML ARFREEEBEOERNE M -
SEHTETE0255F ERER BB 2R
E5%HBAMEE -

BEHA AEBERERFADT

Energy consumption Unit

B2 R H 3 By 2023 2022
Purchased electricity MWh

BEE JK FL B 1,265.06 1,659.575
Petrol MWh

D K E B 28.60 2413
Natural gas MWh

RAR JK BB 502.04 647.59
Total energy consumption MWh

BWEERIBEFE 2 JK FL B 1,795.70 2,331.29°
Energy consumption intensity MWh/m2

BERBERE KR FFHAK 0.106 0.138°

5 The year 2022 data has been restated for enhancing comparative purpose ~ ° ERECHRENRERTEERMEN

and more advanced and updated scientific calculation models and
methodologies have been adopted.
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Water Consumption

We cherish water resources and are committed to reducing the
consumption of freshwater resources in our operations. The
Group’s Water Management Guidelines advocate sustainable
water usage principles such as the use of separate drainage
and sewerage systems and strict monitoring of emissions
to ensure that the discharged wastewater comply with local
emissions standards. The guidelines also include a series
of water conservation measures which are implemented
gradually, aiming at reducing water consumption and enhancing
employees’ awareness of saving water resources at the same
time. To ensure that reliable and high-quality drinking water are
provided to our users as well as preventing the wastage of water
resources, we conduct regular cleaning and water quality tests
of the water supply system under our properties in accordance
with the Repair and Maintenance Guidelines, as well as regular
maintenance of drainage system and timely repair when leakage
is found.

In addition, Chengdu Municipal Waterworks Co., Ltd. Issues
specific water consumption targets to our projects in Chengdu
every year. During the reporting period, each operating unit has
balanced the planned water usage, implemented stringent water
conservation practices and successfully achieved all of the
water consumption targets. The Group will constantly review the
water usage and consumption in daily operation for continuous
optimization of water usage patterns and solutions. During the
reporting period, all wastewater was discharged to designated
sewers in accordance with local regulations and no violations
occurred.

During the reporting period, the effective implementation of
water management strategies led to a decrease in the amount
of water consumption in 2023. The Group has set a reduction
target of 5% in water consumption by 2025.
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BE MEBRELCRS(8)

During the reporting period, the water consumption of the
Group was as follows:

RmEHE NEEFRKENT

Water consumption Unit

FKE By 2023 2022
Water consumption® m3

FEKES TR 51,240 54,848
Water consumption intensity m?s/m2

FEkog = KSR K 1.09 117

A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

Regarding the operation of our Group, we are not aware of
any significant impacts of our activities has been exerted on
the environment and natural resources. During the reporting
period, the Group has made our efforts in incorporating
the environmental policies to minimize the impacts on the
environment and natural resources. The Group will continue to
adhere to the international requirement from the ISO Standard
System and implement environment-friendly practices in
the Group’s operation in order to enhance environmental
sustainability.

A4. CLIMATE CHANGE
Governance

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based on the nature
of the risk to our operations. The physical impacts of climate
change, including extreme weather events, or damage to
facilities have immediate operational impacts and are treated
as operational risks. Long-term challenges, such as emerging
ESG issues and climate-related risks and opportunities, may be
discussed by the Group’s ESG Working Group.

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board oversees
climate-related issues and risks regularly during board meetings
and ensures that they are incorporated into our strategy.

6 Water usage in the Hong Kong headquarters is managed by the building
where the office is located. As the managerial department cannot provide
data or metered record on water use for individual tenants, data of water
consumption in our Hong Kong headquarters is not included in this Report.
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BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

To ensure our Board to keep up with the latest trend of climate-
related issues, climate competence training will be provided to
ensure it has the necessary expertise and skills to oversee the
management of climate-related issues. Our Board also seeks
professional advice from external experts when necessary to
better support the decision-making process.

Our ESG Working Group provides effective governance for
integrating and addressing ESG issues, including climate
change, within our business. The ESG Working Group is
responsible for approving operational emissions targets for the
Group and commissioning an ESG benchmarking, as well as
gap analysis exercise to identify gaps in both disclosure and
policy relative to the best practice standards. Moreover, the
ESG Working Group works closely with the Group’s different
operation departments, with an aim to develop consistent and
enhanced approaches on addressing ESG risk issues and
report to the management.

Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk profile through
its role in increasing the frequency and intensity of certain
diseases, and the health and mortality impacts resulting from
natural disasters. We assess the overall level of risk by taking
into consideration a range of diverse risk factors across the
many categories in our services range. This diversity of risk is
combined with our business strategy and broad geographic
footprint helps us mitigate risk and provide protection against
the impacts of short-term climate change effects.

Our services continue to provide protection for people in our
communities against weather and heat-related disease. Besides,
we continue to explore opportunities to engage our business
partners and encourage them to develop climate resilience
and reduce their operational carbon footprint by taking into
consideration of different climate-related scenarios, including a
“2° G or lower scenario” through the following steps:
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BE MEBRELCRS(8)

Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate Change
Effects

As climate change measures proceeds, there is a possibility
that the industry will be exposed to substantial changes, such
as stricter policies including the introduction of and increases in
carbon pricing, as well as advances in technology and changes
in customer awareness.

In light of these climate change effects, based on the
International Energy Agency (“IEA”) scenarios and others, we
developed multiple future images as the external environment
that will surround our Group. With regard to the IEA scenarios,
we put focus on the 2° C scenario (2DS) and pictured future
images in case where climate change measures do not progress
and where such measures progress further “Beyond 2°C
scenario”.

Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each of the future
images developed in Step 1. We believe that in such a society, it
will be possible to expand carbon dioxide reduction effects.

With regard to effects on raw material procurement, introduction
of and increases in carbon pricing is anticipated in accordance
with the global advance of climate change measures, leading to
the possibility of higher raw material procurement and operating
costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate change measures
are not adequate throughout society, operation interruptions
and supply chain disruptions are likely to increase as a result of
higher frequency and intensification of natural disasters such as
flooding.
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Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of non-renewable
energy in our daily operation. This strategy will allow for flexible
and strategic responses to each demand for the regions where
the emission factors of purchased electricity consumptions are
high. By promoting real carbon emissions reductions throughout
the world through comprehensive energy-saving policies and
introduction of renewable energy, we are working to achieve
zero carbon emission in our business.

We minimize carbon emissions through comprehensive energy-
saving and introduction of renewable energy. With respect
to renewable energy in particular, we have set a new target,
achieve a reduction rate for purchased electricity in coming few
years.

With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the suitability and
progress of the Group’s strategies, we believe that we will have
opportunities for stable funding and sustainable increases in
corporate value through appropriate information disclosure,
dialogue with institutional investors and other stakeholders.

Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related risks or to test
the existing risk management strategies under climate change
with the aid of risk assessment. Hence, the areas where new
strategies are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based approach
using national data, local information and expert knowledge,
which can identify how climate change may compound existing
risks or create new ones. The risk assessment is conducted
through the following steps:

Step 1: Establish the context

o Objective/goal

o Scale

o Time frame

° Climate change scenario for most climate variables and
sea level

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® X KK FEHR QT
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BE MEBRELCRS(8)

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and current)

° Identify the record of occurrence of climatic hazard in the
past in the area

° Risk management strategies in place to tackle future
occurrence of the hazard

Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities

° Explore climate change projections for the selected time
frame(s) and emission scenario(s)

o Identify potential hazards

° Investigate whether any existing risk from Step 2 may get
worse under future projected changes

° Identify new risks that can emerge under future projected
changes

Step 4: Analyse and evaluate risk

° Identify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e.,
geographical areas, business operation, assets,
ecosystems, etc.) that has the potential to be at risk in
future

As outlined within the Governance section above, the Group
has robust risk management and business planning processes
that are overseen by the board of directors in order to identify,
assess and manage climate-related risks. The Group engages
with government and other appropriate organizations in order to
keep abreast of expected and potential regulatory and/or fiscal
changes.

We continue to raise awareness of climate change in regard to
monitoring of carbon and energy footprint in our daily operation.
However, there remains gaps in understanding how such climate
risks and opportunities may impact our operations, assets
and profits. Our Group assesses how the business addresses
climate change risks and opportunities and takes the initiative to
monitor and reduce their environmental footprint.
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Significant Climate-related Issues BEAREHEBABE

During the reporting period, the significant climate-related H{REHRKN  BEFERN S F £ X
physical risks and transition risks, which have impacted and/or SEE()EZ « E R MR - ()4 EE M
may impact our Group’s business and strategy in (i) operations, {B{E #& - (i) &M 4 BB - (v) I &
products and services, (i) supply chain and value chain, (i) & > FVPERES UKL AEEIEELLE
adaptation and mitigation activities, (iv) investment in research B M ERENA FZ 5 - LA T AT /R

and development, and (v) financial planning, as well as the steps

taken to manage these risks, are as follows:

Climate-related risks Steps taken to manage the
description Financial Impact risks
KR AH B A b BT E R EE R kBB B b

Physical Risk %1 I & k&

Acute physical risks & 5 8 & & k&

° Increased severity and o Operating cost and ° Planned to establish a
frequency of extreme weather repairing expense increase natural disasters emergency
events such as cyclones o EENAMAESE LM plan.
and floods. These have e HEIBRUVBAKXEEZTE
the potential to cause both S

idiosyncratic and systemic
risks, resulting in potential

damage to machinery and ° Planned to devise an
equipment. action plan to articulate the
o FRARFMIKFHRimKREMH goals and targets of the
WERE MR AR I N - B L reductions in GHG emission
AR BB RAMA AL and energy consumption.
[2U B - A% i % 4 B3 A0 5% B 4 Outlined the plan to
PRETERE - achieving those targets and

defined responsibilities.

o  GFHEIREITEIFE - BEAR
AOR = R B HE A BE R OB
HOBZRMER - BATE
RELBR RNt eART
B -
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Climate-related risks Steps taken to manage the

Financial Impact risks

description

R 1% 46 B = B MBTE R EE & kBRI I i

Chronic physical risks & i 2 & & k&

Changes in precipitation
patterns and extreme
variability in weather patterns.
Frequent extreme weather
events and rising in sea levels
are likely to pose disruptions
to communities across the
region over the long term,
affecting economic output
and business productivity.
fEKEAXE (T RRER
B B - WEREKRE
BE S R i KRB A
H AR ZMM RO
ERBIE FEREELN
hEEET -

Governments that have been
pushing for new regulation
to reduce GHG emission will
pose a threat to financial
performance of a business
and increase regulatory risk.
—EEBEFER AR AR

R, B8 HE HUEY) BT A O 3
B B 75 5% 4B 1 BB B I 45 AN
BE @[S o

Revenue reduces

LGN

Operating cost increases

18 & B AN IE 0

Planned improvements,
retrofits, relocations, or
other changes to facilities
that may reduce their
vulnerability to climate
impacts, and increases
climate resilience in long
term.

R EETEIBOE - X
o WREBECH M E - LA
BEEHREZENMRSIE -
I i & & B A | 1R 38 B At
5 e

Record the energy
consumption to identify
peaks in usage, thus
significant savings could be
determined.
ﬁﬁm/ﬁﬁM%%ﬁ%

e B ERE
%o

Engaged with local or
national governments and
local stakeholders on local
resilience.

EE ) 75 3i B K KA AN 3 5
F &3 46 B8 & Bt b 5 S RE

NETERE -
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Climate-related risks
description

Steps taken to manage the
risks
R E E E i BREE B

Financial Impact

R & 48 5 & B MBTE

84

Transitional Risk & & & &
Policy risk ¥ % & k&

As a result of energy
efficiency requirements, the
carbon-pricing mechanisms
by the PRC Government,
which increase the price of
fossil fuels.

MR BE R E K - BT Y
MR EBHEIIRS TIb ARME
BB o

Operating cost increases
B KRR N

Planned to conduct a
carbon footprint survey,

in order to work out the
company’s footprint, to
prioritize energy and waste
reductions.
FTEETTIRRENGAE - LAGE
BHARMER  BERD
BEIRAIREY o

Monitor the updates of

the relevant environmental
laws and regulations
against existing products
and services, to avoid the
unnecessary increase in
cost and expenditure due to
non-compliance.

TR A Em MR AE IR
BERERNENFNR - &
RETERMBEM LB ED
DN
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BRE MBRELCHRS (E)

Climate-related risks

description
KR A2 BE R B BHREE

Financial Impact

Legal risk 3£ & & &

Steps taken to manage the
risks
R E E E i BREE B

° Exposure to litigation risk. We |
have to adapt the tightened °
law and regulations imposed
by the government due to
climate change, as well as
bear the risk of potential
litigation once we fail to
obligate the new regulations.

e HERFLER - HMALAEE
J& B T A SR 2 {0 T B e &Y
FERBEVERIER - WAE
—BRBEETHERNER
AR o

Operating cost increases
B KRR N

o Enhanced air pollutant
emissions-reporting
obligations for local
government, and we may
have to spend more time on
fulfilling the ESG reporting
standards to comply with the
Hong Kong Listing Rules.

o SR ITBUFEYZE RIS R Y)
R EERT - BFIARES
ZILE Z R BITESGH
EREUNEBBLTRA -

Monitored the updates

of environmental laws

and regulations and
implemented GHG
emissions calculations in
advance.
BIIRIBABEHRNER -
RAETEERESERE

o
B & o

Continued monitoring of the
ESG reporting standards

of the Hong Kong Listing
Rules.
HEEEDELTAAN
ESG 1% % -
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Climate-related risks
description
K% 18 A = B

Steps taken to manage the
risks
R E E E i BREE B

Financial Impact
BHREE

86

Technology risk # i & &

advancement may weaken
our competitive edges. °
o  HEMEEK - ERRERLIN - SRR
REMEL AT SHISSHEF | o
HHEFED o

Research and Development
(R&D) expense increases
EEREM

° Low-carbon, energy-saving ° Capital investment Planned to invest in the
technologies are launched. increases innovations of energy saving
Lagging behind of technology | ¢ &A% & &0 products.

At I BB B R B BT BE &

O
oA °

Examined the feasibility
and benefits of applying
the latest low-carbon and
energy-saving technologies
into our operation

R 51 PE A & R (R Bk K BD R
RIS ERRIITIE R

Ny
=~ o
pans

Market risk 3% & k&

. HAHSNEFEIRAEG |
MM AR RIS BT |
ERESRITRAE R -

° Inability to attract co-
financiers and/or investors
due to uncertain risks related
to the climate.

e  HRNHERIEMEMNTEER
% - XS HEHE AR
HIEEE o

Production cost increases

B R AR R AN

° More customers are o Revenue decreases Fulfilled the climate-
concerned about N related regulations by the
climate-related risks and government.
opportunities, which may e Operating cost increases & 1T BT RAK AH B R E -
lead to changes in customer | o 1B Bk A 1% 1
preference. Prioritize the climate change

as a high concern in the
market decisions to show to
the clients that the company
is concerned about the
problem of climate change.
1% SRR BT R 5 IR R &Y
=BEBEYE  MEPKRAR
AY RIRECHENET -
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Climate-related risks

description
KR A2 BE R B

Reputational risk & 2 & &

Steps taken to manage the
Financial Impact risks

MBEE R E 1 E bR A e

Risk of stigmatization of our
business sector, as there will
be more stakeholder concern
or negative stakeholder
feedback on our Group.
BPIEBEFIR)5 R(CER -
ArfaBEEsRrs l
WEIREEREGE S

Negative press coverage
related to support of our
Group’s business projects
or activities with negative
impacts on the climate (e.g.,
GHG emissions and energy
conservation), which may
affect our reputation and
image.
B RHME l“ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ%
TH % 2 (I 20)R = 588 HF iR
Eﬁﬁﬁ)ﬁ’]%ﬂ‘f‘lﬁa iiﬁiﬂﬁf‘%
WMBEmHNE®RE Sk
TERFNBENER -

o Revenue decreases o Fulfilled the social

o AR responsibility by organizing
more public relation

° Operating costs increases activities to show how our

o  BEKAIEM Group places importance

on climate change.

e RBITHEEE HBEZARQ
BEE EREEYHRIEE
LM ERR -

o Reviewed the business
projects to ensure the
production and the projects
are environmental-friendly.

e HEEWKIER HMREEMN
BERIERR o
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During the reporting period, the primary climate-related SREHIR - £ Z &) F (% A8 BF & 8 A 48 &
opportunities and the corresponding financial impacts were as BB Em T :
follows:

Detailed description of climate-related

opportunities Financial Impact
KRR FEEE M E N4t BT E

Resource efficiency & R ¥ &

° Use of more efficient modes of transport ° Operating cost reduces through efficiency
s [FHEmMMXR@AAR gains and cost reductions

o BB S B E T E K KA R B K E R R

° Use of more efficient production and
distribution processes

e FAERKMNEEMSSHMIE

° Use of recycling
e [EYAIA

° Reduce water consumption
o WA RKE

Energy source g & Jf

° Use of lower-emission sources of energy ° Operating cost reduces through use of lowest
e ERAEBEMBEIR cost abatement

o BBMERAKEK AR IRBEE R EEL KA
° Use of supportive policy incentives

o XHRMIEE e Returns on investment in low-emission
technology increases
*  Use of new technologies o EHEHUR T A 1A R 5 0

o HTETEYE M

o Shift toward decentralized energy generation
s HBRASHMABRREE
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Detailed description of climate-related

opportunities

RIFEBERENFARL

Products and services & & #l R #&

Financial Impact
BHREE

° Development of climate adaptation and
insurance risk solutions
o IR E E AR R R b B OR TR

° Ability to diversify business activities
o  ZILEZEIREHRE

° Development of new products or services
through R&D and innovation
o BB I T A HT A R AE KR

Revenue increases through new solutions

to adaptation needs, such as insurance risk
transfer of products and services

B EREF RO BRR T RIGMBEA - flan
72 o M AR 75 B 4R b [ B 8 5

Markets m 5

° Access to new markets
o EAFMS

Revenue increases through access to new and
emerging markets
i 8 AT BT 85 38 pn U A

Resilience & 51

° Participation in renewable energy programs
and adoption of energy-efficiency measures
e 2T B AL JRET 8 I R E 7 AL 15 B

° Resource substitution or diversification

s ERBRILEZKEA

Market valuation increases through resilience
planning, such as planning of the research in
the use of electric vehicles
RAEMREENTISEE . OINREEY
AERE R R

Reliability of supply chain and ability to operate
under various condition increases

HEEN R EEMESBRG T EENRE
E-pill

Revenue increases through new products and
services related to ensuring resiliency

3 38 ER e R OB 1R 4B A Y BT 2 on R0 PR S 45 0 Uk
A
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BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

Metrics and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities. The energy consumption
and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions indicators are the key
metrics used to assess and manage relevant climate-related
risks where we consider such information is material and crucial
for evaluating the impact of our operation on global climate
change during the year. Our Group regularly tracks our energy
consumption and GHG emissions indicators to assess the
effectiveness of emission reduction initiatives, as well as set
targets to contribute our effort to have minimal impact on global
warming.

The details of time frames over which the target applies and
base year from which progress is measured are described in
the section A1l: “Emissions” and section A2: “Use of Resources”
of this Report. Our Group adopts absolute target to manage
climate-related risks, opportunities and performance.

B. SOCIAL ASPECT
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
B1: EMPLOYMENT

The Group believes our employees are essential assets, which
are also the foundation for success and development of the
Group. As such, we aim to attract and retain talents, ensure a
safe and equal working environment for our employees, provide
development opportunities and promote employee health and
well-being. The commitment is incorporated into our staff
handbook. The staff handbook covers the Group’s standard
in respect of compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods and other benefits and
welfare.

Throughout the reporting period, the Group fully complied
with all of the relevant laws and regulations in the region we
operated, including the Labour Contract Law of the PRC and
the Labour Law of the PRC.
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RE MBREBRS (8)

As at 31 December 2023, the employee compositions by
gender, age group and geographical region, employment

#H E2023F12A318 » L E R - Fik A
FlIFIHE  MEENNMBEREXZH»H

category and employment mode were as follows: BT AR

Employee compositions ETHMHA 2023 2022
By gender ZEHRE 2

e Male o 5 63% 61%
e Female ¢ X 37% 39%
By age group BERARNE D

e Age 30 or below e 30BELMAT 4% 2%
e Age 31-40 e 31-40%% 30% 32%
e Age 41-50 o 41-50%% 32% 31%
e Age 51 or above o S51pREIA E 34% 35%
By geographical region Rt EE 5

e The PRC e 94% 94%
¢ Hong Kong o« A 6% 6%
By employment category EREENI D

e Senior management e EREREAER 2% 3%
e Middle management e FEETEAB 17% 17%
e General staff e —/RET 81% 80%
e Short term/Contract staff s AN /FEHET - -
By employment mode RR¥EXEs

 Full-time staff e THET 100% 100%
 Part-time staff o FEBAER - -
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BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

The employee turnover rate during the reporting period by
gender, age group and geographical region are as follows:

RBERA - R Fliel s R E
EoMBIMAENMT :

Employee turnover rate =3 2023 2022
By gender by

e Male o 5 22% 9%
e Female o I 25% 15%
By age group BEERARNE S

e Age 30 or below e B30T 57% 40%
e Age 31-40 e 31-40%% 24% 2%
e Age 41-50 e 41-50B% 30% 25%
e Age 51 or above e 51pRE LA L 15% 4%
By geographical region ZiEE 5

e The PRC o 25% 12%
e Hong Kong o HE - 13%
Overall B®E 23% 12%

Remuneration is an important tool for us to attract, retain
and motivate talents in achieving key goals of the Group. We
provide competitive remuneration package for our employees
according to their performance, experience and relevant skKill
set in recognition of their invaluable contribution to the Group.
In addition, we fully complied with relevant laws and regulations
to provide social insurance and housing provident fund for our
employees.

The Group offers a competitive welfare and incentive system
for our employees. Employees can enjoy birthday welfare,
festivals welfare, health welfare and other allowances. We
encourage our employees to maintain a work-life balance.
Hence, we have regularly organized a range of leisure activities
for our employees, for example, Walk for Millions and outdoor
excursion, to promote a healthy working style and strengthen
their sense of belongings to the Group.
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BE MEBRELCRS(8)

We are an equal opportunities employer who endeavours to
create a diverse, antidiscrimination and inclusive workplace
where all our employees are treated with dignity and respect.
The principle of equal opportunities is applied in all employment
practices and policies, in particular to aspects of remuneration,
recruitment, training, career development and promotion of
employees.

The Group promotes fair competition and prohibits
discrimination or harassment against any employee on their
gender, age, marital status, religion, race, nationality, disability
or any status protected by law.

The Group offers fair promotion opportunities which serve as
a motivation for employees to continue learning and improving
work performance. We conduct performance appraisal regularly
on employees’ working ability, behaviour and development
potential to rank and adjust job positions. We are devoted to
helping our employees to demonstrate their capabilities in line
with their own career ambitions and the business objectives of
the Group.

The staff handbook regulates the working hours of employees.
For employees who are required to work overtime or on
public holidays, overtime pay and additional compensation
are provided as defined in the staff handbook. Furthermore,
employees are entitled to statutory holidays, paid annual leave,
marriage leave, maternity leave and paternity leave, etc. during
their term of employment.

The Group is dedicated to create a caring and harmonious
working environment to achieve balance between work and
cultural lives of our employees. During the reporting period,
we held various recreational and teambuilding staff activities
to strengthen employee cohesion, enhance their sense of
belongings to the Group and establish a motivated corporate
culture.

BRPR—FREHTFERENREE 8D
gBlE—EZTl REBMEBENIHE
SR MBEFMONMEREELYDESE
BREEHF FERSRAERRA
ERBERMBRR LEREEHMH -
BE - HI - BEEREESATE -

AEMBEATFHE  LFUE ALY
RIS - FR - ERRR  RRED -
Wik B R LAE R OR R R A
S 77 112 B A SR

AEBRHATFNET KRS HBHESR
SEEBENKETERR -BHMAEHE
BEMNTHEED TRMERENET
BREZ EME D FER MY T 1ERE
ETRHE BMABHEBHREERTAED
MEEh  NEEHRENBEBERAS
BERBEE -

BETFMACEINITERRE - BRNH
EMUXAELARBRAIENET  RRE
TFMeyR e EEH ML E REINEE
o BETEXBRAEAEREXEZER
B -&wHER BR EREAGERS -

AEBEHNEEBEERMEN TIERE
NERBT THEEXMCEEREFE -
RBEHME AEERTTRE TIKE
LAERES HRETHRESN RBAER
THASENRBR  ANMEIERH
ERREXE -
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BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

The Group upholds the people-oriented philosophy and is
committed to protecting the rights and interests of employees,
promoting their physical and mental health, and creating an
inclusive, fair and mutually trusting working environment. We
have formulated a series of management policies such as the
Personnel Management Regulation, the Chengdu Everbright
Property Handbook and the Chengdu Everbright Property
Owner Management Handbook to ensure our practice complies
with the laws and regulations. Moreover, we have formulated
the Policy on Preventing Discriminations, Harassments and
Upholding Equal Opportunities to provide equal and diverse
career opportunities. Such policy safeguards employees from
discrimination, harassment and vilification due to gender,
disability, family status, marital status, race, etc. Employees
can express their concerns related to any unwanted behavior
through a dedicated anonymous reporting email account and
hotline.

B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group has always placed the highest priority on securing
health and safety for our employees. We strive to provide a safe
and healthy working environment for all employees to protect
them from occupational injuries or accidents. Our safety plans
include the following aspects:

° Provide safety guidance to our employees and conduct
education and training of occupational health and safety.
Promote the culture of “Safety First” so that the employees
can foster and enhance their occupational safety
awareness and acquire necessary knowledge in preventing
safety risks;

° Carry out regular fire drills and trainings with communities;
and

° Care for employees’ physical and mental health, conduct

regular interviews to understand employees’ concerns, and
launch surveys to learn more about employees’ needs.
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BE MEBRELCRS(8)

As a property management company and corporate citizen,
it is our responsibility to protect the safety of tenants and
the public. The Chengdu Everbright Property Handbook and
Chengdu Everbright Property Owner Management Handbook
cover detailed safety and health-related operating procedures in
property management, as well as emergency plans in response
to manufacturing accidents and to ensure operational safety.
The Group has also set up the Signage Management Guideline
that aims to enhance management of various signage, such as
control on fire safety, safety and guidance in public areas of the
buildings (e.g. corridors and exterior walls, etc.). The guideline
provides detailed stipulations on the use of signage in various
high-risk operations or workplaces. For instance, to prevent
and reduce the risk of industrial accidents, corresponding
safety signs should be placed during regular maintenance of
elevators, aloft work or other construction and maintenance
works while the dangerous area should be enclosed. In addition
to safe operations and emergency plans, we are also pledged
to prevent the daily life of tenants and the public from being
disturbed. Therefore, before arranging any maintenance work,
we will budget sufficient time for tenants and the public to make
alternative arrangements.

In addition, we have formulated the “Responsibility Pledge
on Property Security and Fire Safety Mechanism” to protect
the fire safety of our properties. The pledge requires the
relevant property users to strictly abide by the national laws
and regulations on fire safety management, and to establish
corresponding rules and regulations based on the tenant
characteristics. We also strive to provide a healthy environment
for employees, visitors and the public by promoting the
Smoke-free Workspace Policy at our offices and actively
encouraging tenants to implement such policy. In 2023, in order
to enhance the fire safety awareness of the employees and
building personnel, Chengdu Branch held practical drills on
evacuation and fire fighting in June and November respectively,
which greatly improved the fire safety knowledge in various
departments of the property service center and the emergency
response capability for similar emergencies

The Group adheres to the Labour Law of the PRC, the Law
of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases and other applicable laws and regulations in the PRC.
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance (2022:nil) with the relevant laws and regulations
in providing a safe working environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

During the reporting period, there was no work injury cases
(2022: nil, 2021: nil) and no lost days due to work injury (2022:
nil, 2021: nil) in our business operation. There was no work-
related fatality case (2022: nil, 2021: nil) during the year.

Safety Trainings and Prevention Demonstration

Annually, we held a series of practical trainings and seminars
to enhance the occupational safety awareness of our staff and
provided best practice guidances on management services
to enrich their occupational knowledge and strengthen their
adaptability. The Group believes that training our staff with
their soft-skills in crisis management as well as upgrading the
safety hardware in the community are both important pillars to
safeguard the health and safety of staff and also the property
owners. Fire safety management, flood prevention management,
elevator maintenance and epidemic control and prevention are
our core aspects to safeguard workplace safety. Regular fire
drills were conducted to rehearse the set emergency plans to
enhance our employees resilience during accidents. Safety
equipment are subject to regular inspection under closed-
loop management to ensure in proper order and allow strict
rectification of any problems timely noted with the applicable
requirements. With these safety prevention measures, we aim
to further improve the safety awareness of our staff and also
our customers and establish a safe, stable and harmonious
workplace and community.

Epidemic Controls and Prevention

Safeguard the health and safety of our customers and
employees in our communities under management and
workplaces are always our mission. During the outbreak of
COVID-19 pandemic and under the circumstances of regular
epidemic control and prevention, the Group actively responded
and implemented precautionary and control measures to fight
against the pandemic with the society:

° Regular sanitation management in public areas, buildings
and facilities and perform frequent disinfection in key

areas;

° Strict prevention, access control, identification track and
temperature checks at community entrances and exits;
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCRS(8)

° Frequent temperature checks daily on staff to monitor any
irregularities;

° Promote remote lift control by user through mobile
application to reduce direct physical contacts;

o Arrange designated garbage bins to collect the used
epidemic prevention materials and centralise the disposal
process properly to reduce transition;

° Facilitate and coordinate the daily grocery shopping for
property owners at safe and convenient conditions during
necessary quarantine period;

° Require mask-wearing by staff and customers in indoor
area.

B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group aims at building a learning organization and ensuring
all employees are provided with growing opportunities. We
continue to promote a learning and sharing culture by providing
outstanding and all-round trainings in various channels,
including new staff training, department sharing, E-learning,
technician training, internal and external on-the-job training,
to ensure employees at all levels are well-equipped to excel in
work and in life.

The Group’s Personnel Management Regulation, Chengdu
Everbright Property Handbook and Chengdu Everbright
Property Owner Management Handbook states our policies in
training, assessment and promotion, as well as the vocational
training requirements for employees at all levels. Each
department is also required to submit the Employee Training
Plan Form regularly to ensure employees have continuous
access to training opportunities. In 2023, all employees have
participated in training programmes.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

The Group encourages employees in continuing learning by
investing resources and providing a wide range of vocational
training covering business management, information technology,
occupational safety, anti-corruption, first aid, etc., with an aim
to cultivate the habit of lifelong learning for employees and help
them develop deeper and wider fields of knowledge and skills.
In addition to unified training, various departments regularly
organise exchange meetings to learn from each other, improve
cross-departmental communication and understanding and
work more effectively. We also attach great importance to the
training plan for new employees. Through the three stages of
training — company, department and on-site, we help new
colleagues to familiarise and adapt to our company culture,
policies and code of conduct in the shortest possible time, and
establish their own life plan and development direction in the
company. Moreover, we encourage and sponsor our employees
to take part in external training and continuing education to
enrich their knowledge and skills. For employees who completed
any self-learning module or attained any qualification related to
the businesses of the Group, we will incorporate their copy of
proof as reference in year-end assessment, internal transfer and
promotion arrangements.

During the reporting period, newly appointed directors of the
Group participated in the training about Director’s Responsibility
Memorandum hosted by an external party to understand the
latest corporate laws and regulatory requirements, and discuss
issues related to corporate governance, green operation and
social responsibility. Staff attend professional training courses
and seminars, including business development and strategy,
finance, legal, corporate governance, taxation, etc. The
latest applicable laws, rules and regulations are circulated to
employees and directors from time to time.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

The proportion of our trained employees to the total workforce
and the composition breakdown of trained employees by gender

and employment position were as follows:

Proportion of trained

employees (%) EIZINESL 2023 2022

By gender ZEHRE 2

e Male o 5 100% 100%

e Female * X 100% 100%

By employment position REEERE D

e Senior management e SREEAER 100% 100%

e Middle management e REEBIEAER 100% 100%

e General e —fRET 100% 100%

Overall R 100% 100%
Composition breakdown of trained employees was follows: XEBHEKIT

Composition of Employees

Received Training EEZINHEMN 2023 2022

By gender MR E 2

e Male o 5 63% 61%

e Female ¢ X 37% 39%

By employment category RBEERED

e Senior management e SREEAER 2% 3%

e Middle management e HEBTIEAER 17% 17%

* General staff e —RET 81% 80%
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BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

Besides, the average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employment position were as follows:

SESN - RMERIFMBA B DN EHE T %
R B 35 58 B B B T

Average training hours

completed (hours/ T 19 % 3| B B

employee) (B EE) 2023 2022
By gender by

e Male o 5 18.07 19.10
e Female o I 18.46 19.51
By employment position RREERNES

e Senior management e SAREEAER 20.00 19.75
e Middle management e HEEBASR 20.00 22.00
e General o —RET 17.79 18.50
Overall B 18.22 19.26

We always acknowledge the importance of talent development
in the Group’s sustainable development. Every year, the Group’s
administrative department is responsible for formulating annual
staff training plan in accordance with the Group’s development
objectives and regular needs. During the reporting period,
we have launched a series of training programmes to our
employees to refresh their knowledge and enhance the quality
of their services. To uphold our services quality, understand the
frontline staff different situation scenario and timely respond to
their views, the Group always seeks for improvements on the
trainings by conducting assessment and collecting feedback
from the participants. This can help the Group continuously
improve the training programs covering all-round aspects
offered to all levels of employees so as to enhance their job
performance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCRS(8)

B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group is committed to upholding the elimination of all forms
of forced and compulsory labour and supporting the effective
abolition of child labour. The Group strictly complies with the
Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC
and other applicable laws and regulation. We have formulated
strict regulations on managing the prohibition of child labour.
To prevent unlawful recruitment of employees under the age of
16 as child labour, employees are required to provide identity
proofs to human resources department to verify the age as
part of the recruitment process. All work should be voluntarily
performed and shall not involve forced labour. If any violation
against laws and regulations in relation to labor standards
is found, we would investigate the incident, and impose
appropriate penalty to accountable staff subject to the severity
and review any defects in the human resources system in place.
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance (2022:nil) in relation to the employment of child
labour, forced or compulsory labour in any of our operation.

OPERATING PRACTICES
B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group works with various product and service providers.
We integrate sustainability into our supply chain by purchasing
products/services from reputable enterprises that uphold high
corporate standards.

During the reporting period, the Group had 10 suppliers in
the PRC and 2 suppliers in Hong Kong. With the principles
of fairness and impartiality and incorporation of sustainable
development factor, the Group makes comprehensive appraisals
on suppliers based on factors such as suppliers’ quality of the
goods and services, efficiency, qualifications and experience to
determine our Qualified Supplier List. We review the background
information of suppliers at least once a year and classify
them into different grades according to their performance,
qualification and credit. To ensure the service quality of the
Group, disqualified suppliers will be removed from our Qualified
Supplier List. Procurement tender/quotation invitation will only
be sent to suppliers on our Qualified Supplier List.
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BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

The Group also emphasizes on the selection of products that
cause minimal impacts on the environment, for example, we
purchase green cleaning products and/or reusable goods
instead of single-use disposable ones. To raise environmental
protection awareness and engage our suppliers to contribute
to sustainable development, we welcome suppliers who
demonstrate their commitment to environmental sustainability.
Suppliers with ISO certification will also be considered at a
higher priority during procurement assessment.

In order to establish sustainable partnerships and reduce
procurement risks and costs, we have developed a systemic
supplier selection and management system. Our bidding and
tendering management regulations in the Chengdu Everbright
Property Handbook and the Chengdu Everbright Property
Owner Management Handbook detailed the process of bidding
and tendering, contract signing, as well as inspection and
supervision. The Group’s procurement team specialises in
setting up supplier profiles and to keep record of the supplies.
We aim to integrate green practices into our supply chain
by factoring in the supplier’s track records of social and
environmental compliance during the procurement process as
well as prioritizing the purchase of environmentally friendly and
energy saving materials.

To ensure the quality of our suppliers, our cost audit team,
finance department, engineering department and inventory team
also carry out regular reviews, inspections and assessments
for suppliers in accordance with the Group’s Management
Guidelines on Supplier Selection and Evaluation. We conduct an
overall evaluation to our suppliers annually by assessing areas
including product quality, environmental and social compliance
with reference to the Evaluation Form of Supplier Management.
Suppliers are classified into five grades, namely, A, B, C, D, and
E, based on their assessment result. Rewards or penalties are
given to suppliers of corresponding grades to ensure that we
always cooperate with the best suppliers.
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BE MEBRELCRS(8)

B6: PRODUCT AND SERVICES RESPONSIBILITY

As a property management service provider, we commit
our responsibility of quality management over our product
and service. The Group follows the Regulation on Property
Management of PRC and has formulated and implemented the
Property Management Quality Management Measures and other
applicable laws and regulations. To improve our service, the
Group’s complaint handling policy is strictly in accordance with
regulatory standards to ensure that customers’ opinions are
heard and responded in a timely manner.

During the reporting period, no service-related complaint
(2022: nil) was received, and no products sold or shipped
were subjected to recalls for safety and health reasons. Our
customer satisfaction survey results strongly demonstrated a
solid trustworthy foundation between customers and us. We will
continue to ensure all our communication channels, including
Ai Ban mobile application, Company WeChat, customer hotline,
and notice board, etc available to allow us readily to respond
to customer needs or queries and further uplift customer
satisfaction for the Group’s sustainable development.

Protection of Customer Data Privacy

The Group recognises the importance of our customer’s
information and their privacy, policies were in place in relation
to the administration and handling process of the relevant
customer records. These measures include: customer data
is only accessible by delegated employees; statement and
declaration for information collection for business use to inform
customer with their consent through Ai Ban mobile application;
proper documentary records, etc. Meanwhile, the Group
adheres to the information security policy to ensure safety and
stability of our information system in protection of data.

During the reporting period, there was no complaints on leakage
of customers’ data and information or violation of customer’s
privacy.
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BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

Protection of Intellectual Properties

We consider intellectual properties as our crucial business
assets, key to our customer loyalty and essential to our future
growth. The success of our business depends substantially
upon our continued ability to use our brands, trade names and
trademarks to increase brand recognition and foster brand
building. The Group has six registered software copyrights in
the PRC which are material to our business, including Ai Ban
mobile application software, intelligent access control system,
smart park application system, intelligent monitoring system,
smart operation and maintenance system and smart property
management system.

B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group maintains a high standard of business integrity
throughout its operations. We have no tolerance in any form
of corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering and
embezzlement. We request our employees to conform to our
requirements on anti-corruption outlined in staff handbook.
Once misconduct case is discovered and confirmed, the
employee will be subject to disciplinary action and the case will
be reported to law enforcement authority when necessary.

The Group has established whistle-blowing policy to provide
employees with a confidential platform to raise concerns
about any suspected cases of misconduct and malpractice
through email and post. All reported cases are promptly and
thoroughly investigated by internal audit department under audit
committee. The Group will absolutely ensure the identity of the
whistleblower and the contents of the report strictly confidential.

The Group adheres to the Criminal Law of the PRC, the Anti-
Unfair Competition Law of the PRC and other applicable laws
and regulations. During the reporting period, no legal case
concerned with corrupt practices has been brought against the
Group or its employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MERELCHRS (#)

Every year, the Group provides regular anti-corruption training ESFA&EBFEH A2 EBEENET(H L
sessions to Board and employees at all levels from Directors, Z %% - SR EBEEB T2 — & EI1)RH

a

senior management to general staff to promote corporate KR EGEIIER  BEDEEAMET
governance integrity and also raise staff awareness towards B ITHXESEHEH - LB E
anti-corruption issues. The composition breakdown of trained HHIXHEE AT :

employees by employment position was as follows:

Anti-corruption Training RE B 2023 2022
Number of employees REFEIAY

received anti-corruption

training

e Board « FF 8 8
Employees: 81:

e Senior management e SAREEAER 3 4
e Middle management o HEER AR 24 23
e General staff e —fRET 112 110
Total employees BEAH 139 137
Average anti-corruption REFEZINFHEE

training hours

e Board s TF 1.5 2.0
Employees BT

e Senior management e SREEAR 1.5 3.0
e Middle management e HEETEAE 1.5 3.0
e General staff e —RET 1.5 2.0
Total average anti- BEIZIFIRE

corruption training hours 1.5 2.2
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COMMUNITY
B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group recognizes that our community constitutes the
foundation for the Group’s sustainable development. Adhering
to our mission of “providing warm services”, we promote our
warm services for customers and also extend to our community.
As a social responsible property services company, the Group
is committed to understanding the needs of the communities
in which we operate, and dedicates to provide support and
contribution to our communities, with aims to promote our
corporate culture and deliver the concept of caring needy in our
community neighborhood and spreading to our society.

Annually, the Group plans various community activities such as
volunteer visits, convenience services and social recreational
and cultural activities, etc. to engage with the community.
We are committed to devote our time and assign corporate
resources through these community campaigns each with
different themes when conducting the annual plans. In
future, the Group will continue to exert our community care
through community involvement with a vision in strengthening
community network and bringing an inclusive society for all
individuals enjoy equality and respects.

We are committed to serving the community and giving back
to the people by working together with the community and
promoting community prosperity. We have formulated the
Community and Philanthropy Policy to take part in issues that
are of concerns through charitable donations and encouraging
our employees to devote to community services and
volunteering work. In the future, we will continue to reach out
to the communities, promote their material culture development
according to their needs, and contribute to the development of
livelihoods and social harmony.

In 2023, the Group donated HK10,000 to the HKSKH
Archbishop World Relief Fund, and in 2022, the Group donated
HK$150,000 to the Hong Kong Community Anti-Coronavirus
Link, dedicated to emergency relief, assisting citizens affected
by the impacts and solve their immediate problems.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BRE MBRELCHRS (E)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING INDEX
B #HEREABRERS

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

FTEHE-E@-

—REBERBARARER

A. Environmental A. B 1&

A1: Emissions Al : il

Sections

=z s

EBP

General Disclosure “Emissions” 70
-REE BB
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective “Emissions — Air Pollutant 70
B8 & WIBHE | emissions data Emissions”
Al.1 e iE R KA BE R E B [HER — =R5 &M
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 72
BB WMIBE | (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in | Emission”
Al1.2 tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity. | [/ — B = ® &4 %
EEF(EEBEDNEREAZ(EEBE)RESR
BEHERAMAREM) A REEBRTH
B -
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, No hazardous waste was produced | N/A
B8R & WMIBHE | where appropriate, intensity during the year
A1.3 FMELEEEENMREREE TNERAREAEEBNED
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced “Emissions — Hazardous and Non- | 73
B & & WIBHRE | and, where appropriate, intensity hazardous Wastes”
Al.4 FMEXREREVEEREE [HE) — BEREZTEZEY]
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target set and “Emissions — Air Pollutant 70, 71
B8R & WIBRE | steps taken to achieve them Emissions”,
A1.5 OB BE 2 Y 18 i R TS AR “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas
Emission”
[HER — =R5 2%k
[HER) — R ZE RSN
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- “Emissions — Hazardous and Non- | 72-73
B8 8 & I HZE | hazardous wastes are handled, and a hazardous Wastes”
A1.6 description of reduction target set and [HEY) — BEREZEEY]

steps taken to achieve them
HOLEBEEENEZTEEYNT L R
BRELEENHEBRAEFEAR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
TEHE EH —REERBREVRER

A2: Use of Resources A2 : &if{E A

Sections
—:1]

BEEEUWNE

General Disclosure “Use of Resources” 74
—REE [&RH A
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy “Use of Resources — Energy 75
BB WMILE | consumption by type in total and Consumption”
A2.1 intensity [&RHMNA — 88 B
RERFRED VO EEM K EEE
TR #E
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity | “Use of Resources — Water o
REEBENEE | BFEKEREE Consumption”
A2.2 [ERMA — KHEFE]
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency “Use of Resources — Energy 74-75
B EWMIBE | target set and steps taken to achieve Consumption”
A2.3 them [BRMA — seREME]
g RERA R S ERAERR
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue | “Use of Resources — Water 76
B8 & W IBHE | in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, Consumption”
A2.4 water efficiency target set and steps [ERAMA — KERE]
taken to achieve them
SR BGE BKR SRl BE I RE - A
MR RKBA @ E RAAEAR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for No significant amount of packaging | N/A
78 8 & W IBAZE | finished products and, if applicable, with | materials was consumed during the
A2.5 reference to per unit produced year
B mAAREMBNEER(WMER) | TEARAEEED
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BRE MBRELCHRS (E)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
TEHE EH —REERBREVRER

Sections
—: 0]

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources A3: BiE R EARE R

may impact, the issuer.
ARBANMEREORTENMA R BE
1T A BB K SR 1 48 8 R 8 &Y IR SR

General Disclosure “The Environment and Natural 7
—RIEE Resources”
[RERBAER]
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of No significant impacts of activities N/A
B8 & MIBEE | activities on the environment and natural | on the environment and natural
A3.1 resources and the actions taken to resources during the year
manage them AEETEEREBEHEHRER
HIMEBEHEHRELBEAERNEN | BEABRELEEATE -
FEREENEEEBAYENITE
A4: Climate Change A4 : |17 # 1t
General Disclosure “Climate Change” 77-81
—REE [ & & 1k ]
KPI A4.1 Policies on identification and mitigation “Climate Change” 82-90
B R & MIBE | of significant climate-related issues B3 -X(a
A4 .1 which have impacted, and those which

B. Social B.#t &

Employment and Labour Practices EER &L T ER

B1: Employment B1: {E &

K=

General Disclosure “Employment” 90
—RIEE [ 1%

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment “Employment” 91
BEBEWIBE | type, age group and geographical region | [1& &

B1.1 BRI EBEER - Fi 4R Kb i Sl

DHEBHEH

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age “Employment” 92
B & MIBEE | group and geographical region [ &

B1.2 BHER - FRRERN R RE DA EER

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3R



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections
TEHE EH —REERBREVRER =]

B2: Health and safety B2 : @ EEH & &

General Disclosure “Health and Safety” 94
—RIEE [RREZZ]
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities | “Health and Safety” 96
BB WMIBE | occurred in each of the past three years | [#2 % & |
B2.1 including the reporting year.

ETEBERMETHAS K E
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury “Health and Safety” 96
BRENEE | AIEBAIERH [EREZ 2]
B2.2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and “Health and Safety” 94-96
BB WMIEE | safety measures adopted, how they are | [f2 FEEE % & |
B2.3 implemented and monitored

MR ERERRT 2B - A

RBBARTRERG A

B3: Development and Training B3 : % & & & 3|

General Disclosure “Development and Training” 97
—REE [3 & K sF ]
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by | “Development and Training” 99
B8R & MIRE | gender and employee category [ R kgl
B3.1 RilEEB D KiEEHE 5
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed “Development and Training” 100
B # & MIEEE | per employee by gender and employee [ R kg
B3.2 category

BRERREEERE HDHEHREE T K

Sl EORESNiES
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BRE MBRELCHRS (E)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
TEHE EH —REERBREVRER

B4: Labour Standards B4 : 4 T #§|

Sections
—:1]

General Disclosure “Labour Standards” 101
—REE [4 T 4RI
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review “Labour Standards” 101
BB WILE | employment practices to avoid child and | [45 T# 8|
B4.1 forced labour

st MBI E AR EET X

ol i 85 T
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate “Labour Standards” 101
B EMIBE | such practices when discovered [45 T 28|
B4.2 HMAEZERERBEAFEREEIB LM

RIS B
Operating Practices % & 1€ f5l
B5: Supply Chain Management B5 : {£ fE i & 12
General Disclosure “Supply Chain Management” 101
—RIEE [ pE 98 & 3%
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical “Supply Chain Management” 101
A EMIERE | region [ e 92 5 12 ]
B5.1 =i [ & 5 B 4 e R 2L E
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating “Supply Chain Management” 101
B8 & MIBEE | to engaging suppliers, number of [ e 52 5 12 |
B5.2 suppliers where the practices are being

implemented, how they are implemented

and monitored

M EEEREEENED - mERT

FEABHNHEREE  UKLKB@EED

BETT R BER A
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify “Supply Chain Management” 102
BB WMILE | environmental and social risks along [ e 52 5 IR |
B5.3 the supply chain, and how they are

implemented and monitored
AR HERENRENT R R
REEKAF AW X E %
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections
TEEE BE -REBERERENEE B
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote | “Supply Chain Management” 102
B & MIEE | environmentally preferable products [ e 92 5 12 ]
B5.4 and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and
monitored
i B 2 E IR AR EE mm A UE AN E 1 R
FEE R B RFS - DA KR AR )13 B & i A0 BS
B
B6: Product Responsibility B6 : E & =1
General Disclosure “Product Responsibility” 1083
—REE [EmEE]
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or “Product Responsibility — 103
B R E WIBRE | shipped subject to recalls for safety and | Customer Relations”
B6.1 health reasons [EmET - EF@EF]
EEXRCEXEMBHETEL 2 EHER
RAMARKEH A DL
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related “Product Responsibility — 103
B R EMIEE | complaints received and how they are Customer Relations”
B6.2 dealt with [ERET - BEFBERF]
BEEBARERRREORFEHBNALE
HHE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to “Product Responsibility — 104
B & MILEE | observing and protecting intellectual Copyrights Management”
B6.3 property rights [EmET — RESE]
Bt RREEEMEREBANE
4l
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process | “Product Responsibility — Food 103
B & WA | and recall procedures Health and Safety at Cinemas”
B6.4 R mERTEBREREMBKER [EmEE — BERELZ]
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection | “Product Responsibility — Personal | 103
B8 & & WIBHE | and privacy policies, how they are Data Protection and Privacy Policy”
B6.5 implemented and monitored [ERET — EABBREMEL

WIEEEBERRERLEBBE - ARk
MEARATEERTA

1285
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BRE MBRELCHRS (E)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
TEHE EH —REERBREVRER

B7: Anti-corruption B7 : R 55

Sections
—:1]

General Disclosure “Anti-corruption” 104
—RIEE [R&E]
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases No concluded legal case regarding | 104
B R & M | regarding corrupt practices brought corrupt practices brought against
B7.1 against the issuer or its employees the issuer or its employees during

during the reporting period and the the reporting period

outcomes of the case WEREMEEENFARME

R ERAEBTAIEEEREYE

BRENESHLARGNBERFRALER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and “Anti-corruption” 104
B8 & & WIBRE | whistle-blowing procedures, how they RE5]
B7.2 are implemented and monitored

Py R b R WAE R 0 LA R AR B

TRERAE
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training “Anti-corruption” 105
BB WMILE | provided to directors and staff. (RE5]
B7.3 ftmESME TIREN R BEFE -
Community # &
B8: Community Investment B8 : # B & &
General Disclosure “Community Investment” 106
—RIEE [Tt Rig & ]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. “Community Investment”. 106
B8 8 & MIEHE | education, environmental concerns, [t @& & ]
B8.1 labour needs, health, culture, sport)

HIEREEWHE REHEIEE:

BIHEK R Xt 85)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or “Community Investment”. 106
B8 & W IBHE | time) to the focus area [ftEi% & |
B8.2 EEIHEBEMHAE RS EHKHE)
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
SETRS

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability on 2 August 2000 and transferred by way of
continuation into the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 15 September 2016 under the Companies
Law of the Cayman lIslands. The principal activities of the
Group are property leasing, provision of property management
services and sales of properties held for sale.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year
by principal activities are set out on pages 9 to 20 in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report and note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2024 annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company will
be held on Thursday, 6 June 2024. The notice of the AGM will
be published and despatched in the manner as required by
Listing Rules in due course.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of RMBO.6
cents (equivalent to HKO0.66 cents) per share (2022: RMB1.90
cents) for the year ended 31 December 2023, payable to the
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company (the “Register of Members”) on Friday, 28
June 2024. Together with the interim dividend of RMB1.06 cents
per share, the full year dividend amounts to RMB1.66 cents per
share (2022: RMB1.90 cents per share).

Subject to approval by the Shareholders of the payment of final
dividend at the forthcoming AGM of the Company to be held on
Thursday, 6 June 2024, the proposed final dividend will be paid
to the Shareholders on or before Friday, 12 July 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEgRSE(E)

The proposed final dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars.
The exchange rate for the dividend to be paid in Hong Kong
dollars is the central parity rate of Hong Kong dollars to RMB
as announced by the People’s Bank of China on Tuesday, 26
March 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility
to attend and vote at the AGM and entitlement to the final
dividend, the Register of Members will be closed in accordance
with the following timetable:

() For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and
vote at the AGM:

(@) Latest time to lodge
transfer documents
for registration

4:30 pm on Friday,
31 May 2024

(b) Closure of Register of
Members

Monday, 3 June 2024
to Thursday, 6 June 2024
(both dates inclusive)

(i)  For determining entitlement to the final dividend:

(@) Latest time to lodge
transfer documents
for registration

4:30 pm on Friday,
21 June 2024

(b)  Closure of Register of
Members

Monday, 24 June 2024
to Friday, 28 June 2024
(both dates inclusive)

(c) Record date Friday, 28 June 2024

During the above closure periods, no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
and to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than the relevant
latest time set out above.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESSRE(A)

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 and the discussion on the Group’s future
business development are set out on pages 6 to 8 and pages
9 to 20 in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, respectively, in this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the knowledge of the Board and the management,
the Group complied with the relevant laws and regulations which
constitutes material impact on the business and operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries in all material respects during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporate environment that pays close attention to conserving
natural resources. The Group strives to minimise its impact on
the environment by reducing its electricity consumption and
encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. For
further details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report set out on pages 57 to 113 of this annual
report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING THE
GROUP

The Group’s financial position, results and business operations
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties, some
of which are inherent to the Group’s business and some are
from external sources.

Industry Risk

The property management industry in the PRC is highly
competitive and fragmented. Competition becomes more
intense as the existing competitors may expand their products
and services or new competitors may enter the market. If the
Group fails to compete against the competitors, it may not be
able to renew the existing contracts or obtain new projects.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESSHS(A)

Business Risk

The Group faces challenges from the rapidly changing business
environment. Any failure to response promptly to the market
trend may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
financial position, performance, and business operations.

Financial Risk

In the course of its business activities, the Group is exposed
to various financial risks, including market, liquidity and credit
risks.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 228 to 238 of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group believes that an effective management of
relationships with stakeholders is crucial to resolving issues
faced by the Group. Stakeholders hold the key to the
environment in which the Group operates and its subsequent
financial and operating performance. Thus, the effective
management of stakeholder relations should be an essential
focus of the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 5 of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 209 of this annual
report.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations totalling
RMB9,000 (2022: RMB129,000).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESSRE(A)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements on page 221 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out on page 145 and in
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements on page 240 of
this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s distributable reserves
were RMB26.1 million.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had no
bank and other borrowings.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association, the laws of Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is situated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption

available to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the
Company'’s securities.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, pursuant to the Articles
of Association, every Director and other officers shall be entitled
to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they may incur or sustain in
or about the execution of the duty, or supposed duty in their
respective office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential
legal actions against its Directors and officers.

A permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the
Directors during the financial year ended 31 December 2023
and at the time when this Directors’ report is approved.

DIRECTORS

The Board consists of the following Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report:

Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Jia (Chairman & CEQO)
Mr. MA Heming

Non-executive Directors

Ms. WANG Yun®
Ms. YIN Junyan®
Mr. ZHUANG Minrong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSOI David

Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham
Mr. LEE Jor Hung

Mr. WANG Cheung Yue

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhuang
Minrong, Ms. Yin Junyan, Mr. David Tsoi and Mr. Lee Jor Hung
shall retire at the AGM. All of the above retiring Directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

m the resignation with effect from 12 December 2023
@ the appointment with effect from 12 December 2023
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on
pages 21 to 32 in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” to this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries, which is not terminable by
employing company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
REMUNERATION

Information regarding directors’ and chief executive officer’s
emoluments are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 197 to 200 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which is taken or deemed to have under such provision of
the SFO), or which was required to be entered in the register
referred to therein pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which
was otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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FTERRRRD MHEROKREEESD
MEZRAR

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

R2023F12H31H » BEEMA - THIA
T(WHEBEBEXARAEEZTHABR
KARRBKBEERO T HEERERES
NE GGG EXVEE2RID EBAR AR
AEEMNHEZIARENCHENABRIEES
MEE GBI E336IKBERARRATFTEZE
Rtk BB ITAHE AR A KR AT R

As at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge of the Directors, the
interest or short positions of the following persons (which are
not Directors or chief executives of the Company) in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company, which were required to
disclose to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or as

(“Huijin”)

FRESHREERETRAA(ER]

corporation
R LB

otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, Zmz /A& :
were as follows:
Approximate
Number of percentage of
ordinary the Company’s
shares issued share
Name Notes Capacity interested capital Mot 7)
SRR N
BEREREZ ERITRA
=18 ME 514 EZEBERHBE #BHEIHL@Ey
Lucky Link Investments Limited 2 Beneficial owner 297,900,000 67.49%
(“Lucky Link”)
FVEREBRAR(RE] BEREBA
Top Charm Investments Limited 2 Beneficial owner 33,100,000 7.50%
(“Top Charm”)
BEREARQAR(AED EmEBEA
Capital Century 2 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
corporation
B B ok F PR B
CE Hong Kong 3 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
corporation
PR KR(EB) R R E M
China Everbright Group 4 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
corporation
PR A& E R AEER
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. 5 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
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Notes:

1) Based on 441,400,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) in issue as
at 31 December 2023.

(2)  Lucky Link and Top Charm directly hold approximately 67.49% and
7.50% of the total issued shares, respectively. Capital Century holds
100% shares in Lucky Link and Top Charm and is therefore deemed
to be interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky
Link and Top Charm, respectively.

(3) CE Hong Kong is an indirect controlling shareholder of Lucky Link
and Top Charm. CE Hong Kong directly holds 99.997% shares in
Capital Century, 0.3% of which is held on trust for the National
Administrative Bureau of State Owned Property, and indirectly holds
0.0083% shares in Capital Century through China Everbright Holdings
(Nominee) Limited. Therefore, CE Hong Kong is deemed to be
interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky Link
and Top Charm, respectively.

(4)  China Everbright Group holds 100% shares in CE Hong Kong and is
therefore deemed to be interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000
shares held by Lucky Link and Top Charm, respectively.

(5)  Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council of the PRC and
holds 63.16% equity interest in China Everbright Group. It is deemed
to be interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky
Link and Top Charm, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the
Company had not been notified by any persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares or
debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to section 336
of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Share Option
Scheme” below, at no time during the year was the Company,
its subsidiaries or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 15 December
2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentive or rewarding eligible persons (“Eligible
Persons”). Eligible Persons include director, employee, agent,
consultant, business partner, joint venture partner, supplier of
goods or services or any director or employee of such supplier,
customer or any director or employee of such customer,
and person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy or
professional services or any director or employee of such entity,
who has contributed or will contribute to the Group on the
basis of their contribution to the development and growth of
the Group. No share option has been granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption by the Company.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on the date of
the Company’s Listing Date and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme (i.e. 14 December 2027).
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 44,140,000 shares, representing 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue as at the Listing Date
and as at the date of this annual report. The maximum number
of shares issuable under share options granted to each Eligible
Persons in the Share Option Scheme (including both exercised
and outstanding options) within any 12-month period is limited
to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. Any grant or
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. A grant of share
options under the Share Option Scheme to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any
of their associates, is subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is the grantee of the Share Option
Scheme). In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, which would result in
the shares issued and to be issued, upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding), to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of the grant in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted on
or before the relevant acceptance date upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determined by
the directors, save that such a period shall not be more than
10 years from the date of offer of the share options and subject
to the provisions for early termination as set out in the Share
Option Scheme. There is no requirement of a minimum period
for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
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The exercise price of the share options shall be not less than
the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options,
which must be a date on which the Stock Exchange is open for
business of dealing in securities; (i) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately before the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Company’s share as at the date of offer.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2023 and no share options were outstanding under
the Scheme as at 31 December 2023.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following continuing connected
transactions during the year. The directors confirmed that
those transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group, on normal commercial
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole. As one or more applicable percentage
ratios (other than the profits ratio) as defined in Rule 14.07 of
the Listing Rules in respect of the proposed annual caps for
those transactions are expected to be more than 5%, those
transactions are subject to reporting, announcement, annual
review and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The table below sets out the annual caps and the actual
transaction amounts of those continuing connected transactions

in 2023:

No.

Note: Represents the maximum daily closing balance of deposits (including

Connected Transaction
BEXRS

Lease Framework Agreement

HEER D=

Deposit Service Framework
Agreement

17 7 BR 75 12 2R 1 2

Loan Service Framework
Agreement

ERRBIER =

interests accrued thereon)

Connected Persons
BE AL

China Everbright Group
and its subsidiaries and
associates (other than the
Group) (“CEG Excluded
Group”)

REREKER R EKMERA
K Bk & N A (N B BR AN
(TPEXKREB(F K BE R
)

CEG Excluded Group

RERKER(RER RN
CEG Excluded Group

FEXKEER(EEERIN

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® X KK FEHR QT

B 3E -

Annual Cap
FELR
RMB’000
ARETT
14,000

38,000
(note) (A1)

350,000

TRFINZEFERERXHN2023F 2
FELIRMEBRRSH:

Actual
Transaction
Amount
ERRSZEE
RMB’000
ARB®TT

10,307

26,446
(note) (1 #£)

Nil
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Leasing transactions

The Group entered into a lease framework agreement (the
“Lease Framework Agreement”) with China Everbright
Group on 2 November 2020 for a term of 10 years commencing
retrospectively from 1 January 2020 and ending on 31
December 2029. Under the Lease Framework Agreement, the
Company shall lease and procure members of the Group to
lease certain premises of the Group (the “Premises”) to CEG
Excluded Group, and China Everbright Group shall lease and
procure CEG Excluded Group to lease the Premises during
the term of the Lease Framework Agreement. The relevant
parties shall enter into separate lease agreements to set out the
specific provisions of the leasing of Premises, and the terms and
conditions of the lease agreements shall be determined by the
parties in accordance with the terms of the Lease Framework
Agreement. The term of each of the lease agreements shall not
exceed the term of the Lease Framework Agreement.

The rents and other fees payable by CEG Excluded Group to the
Group under the lease agreements shall (i) be determined based
on arm’s length negotiations between CEG Excluded Group and
the Group with reference to the prevailing market rents in the
places where the Premises are located; (i) not be lower than
the rents and other fees to be paid by other independent third
parties; and (iii) be in compliance with the rules and regulations
prescribed by the relevant rules and regulations within or
outside the PRC.

Pursuant to various lease agreements, the Group is currently
leasing certain premises in Everbright Financial Center and Ming
Chang Building to CE Bank, Everbright Securities Company
Limited (“CE Securities”), Everbright Xinglong Trust Co.,
Limited (“EB Trust”) and Guangrui Juyao (Beijing) Wealth
Assets Management Co., Limited* (I BRIt RV EEEE
2 B R A7 (“Guangrui Juyao”)).

*

for identification purpose only
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Deposits services transactions

The Group entered into a deposit service framework agreement
(“Deposit Service Framework Agreement”) with China
Everbright Group on 18 November 2022 for a term of three
years commencing from 1 January 2023 and ending on
31 December 2025. Under the Deposit Service Framework
Agreement, China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank to
provide the deposit services to members of the Group. The
relevant parties shall enter into separate deposit agreements
to set out the specific provisions of the deposit services, and
the terms and conditions of the deposit agreements shall be
determined by the relevant parties in accordance with the terms
of the Deposit Service Framework Agreement. The term of each
of the deposit agreements shall not exceed the term of the
Deposit Service Framework Agreement.

The interest rates payable by CE Bank to the Group in respect
of the deposit services shall (i) be determined based on arm’s
length negotiations between CE Bank and the Group with
reference to the prevailing interest rate for similar deposit
services which can be obtained by the Group from independent
third parties and on normal commercial terms; (i) not be lower
than the interest rates to be paid by other independent third
parties; and (iii) be in compliance with the rules and regulations
prescribed by the PBOC and/or other relevant rules and
regulations within or outside the PRC.
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Loan Services Agreement

The Group entered into a loan service framework agreement
(“Loan Service Framework Agreement”) with China
Everbright Group on 2 November 2020 for a term of five years
commencing retrospectively from 1 January 2020 and ending
on 31 December 2024. Under the Loan Service Framework
Agreement, China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank
to provide the loan services to members of the Group. The
relevant parties shall enter into separate loan agreements to set
out the specific provisions of the loan services, and the terms
and conditions of the loan agreements shall be determined by
the parties in accordance with the terms of the Loan Service
Framework Agreement. The term of each of the loan agreements
shall not exceed the term of the Loan Service Framework
Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions of the loan
agreements, security over the Group’s assets and rental income
received from its leasing business may be required for the loan
services. The Directors believe that it is important for the Group
to have more readily available funding for capturing suitable
investment opportunities which arise at any time, including
acquiring suitable commercial properties.

The interest rate payable by the Group to CE Bank in respect of
the Loan Services shall (i) be determined based on arm’s length
negotiations between CE Bank and the Group with reference to
the prevailing interest rate for similar loan services which can
be obtained by the Group from independent third parties and
on normal commercial terms; (i) not be higher than the interest
rates to be charged by other independent third parties; and (iii)
be in compliance with the rules and regulations prescribed by
the PBOC and/or other relevant rules and regulations within or
outside the PRC.

China Everbright Group is a controlling shareholder of the
Company and therefore a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. CE Bank, CE Securities, EB Trust and
Guangrui Juyao are subsidiaries/associates of China Everbright
Group and therefore connected persons of the Company under
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEgRS(E)

The independent non-executive Directors have, for the purpose
of Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, reviewed the continuing
connected transactions up to the financial year ended 31
December 2023 set out above and have confirmed that these
continuing connected transactions have been entered into by the
Group (i) in the ordinary and usual course of its business; (ii) on
normal commercial terms or better; and (i) in accordance with
the terms of the agreements governing such transactions that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditors, Ernst & Young, were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the HKICPA. Ernst
& Young has issued an unqualified letter containing its findings
and conclusions in respect of continuing connected transactions
set out above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 225 to 226 of this annual report.
The Company has complied with the applicable requirements
under the Listing Rules for those related party transactions
which constituted non-exempt connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions. Other related party
transactions either did not constitute connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions or constituted connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions but were
exempted from all disclosure and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESSHS(A)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” disclosed above and note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 225 to 226
of this annual report, no other transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company, its controlling
shareholders, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or entity(ies) connected with
a Director have or had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

China Everbright Group, the controlling shareholder of the
Group, confirmed to the Company of its compliance with the
non-competition undertaking dated 28 June 2017 (the “Non-
Competition Undertaking”) in favour of the Company:

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed an
annual confirmation from China Everbright Group that it had fully
complied with the terms of the Non-Competition Undertaking in
the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors are interested in any business apart from
the Group’s business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESSRE(A)

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year had the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into
any contract of significance with the controlling shareholders
(defined under the Listing Rules) or any of their subsidiaries,
nor had any contract of significance been entered into for the
services provided by the controlling shareholders or any of their
subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

EMPLOYEES/EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of employees/emolument policy are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 20 of
this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has joined a mandatory provident fund scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The employees
of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement scheme operated
by the PRC government. No forfeited contribution under this
scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date

of this annual report, the Company has maintained the public
float as required under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESSHS(A)

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S
GLOBAL OFFERING

Details of use of net proceeds from the Company’s global
offering during the year are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 18 to 19 of
this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of
conduct regarding dealings in the securities of the Company
by the Directors and the Group’s senior management who,
because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess
inside information in relation to the Company’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the year under review. In
addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of
the Model Code by the senior management of the Group during
the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate
governance with emphasis on transparency, independence,
accountability and responsibility. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in order to
meet the rising expectations of Shareholders and comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 33 to 56 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESSRE(A)

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire at the forthcoming AGM and will not
seek for re-appointment. The Board has resolved to recommend
the appointment of KPMG as the new auditor of the Company
following the retirement of Ernst & Young and such proposed
appointment is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at
the forthcoming AGM. For derails, please refer to the related
announcement dated 27 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change in
auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

LIU Jia
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB EIRS

EY:

Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of Everbright Grand China Assets Limited
(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
transferred by way of continuation into the Cayman Islands)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 141 to 240, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BUZHEORS (8)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
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Estimation of fair values of investment properties
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Investment properties are stated at fair value. The
carrying amount of investment properties as at
31 December 2023 was approximately RMB960
million. Significant judgements and assumptions
are required to determine the fair values of the
investment properties. To support management’s
determination of the fair values, the Group engaged
external valuers to perform valuations on the
investment properties at the end of the reporting
period.

Related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our audit procedures included, among others,
evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used
in the valuations with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists. We also evaluated the objectivity,
independence and competency of the external valuers,
and the reliability of other inputs adopted in the
valuations. We then assessed the Group’s disclosures
of investment properties.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BUBREENRS (8)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BUZHEORS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BUBREENRS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BUZHEORS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Ka Wing.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

D ANS 2L
FoBEREK

Year ended 31 December 2023 &, 2023412 A31H It F[E

Notes 2023 2022
Bt 5F 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
REVENUE Uy &= 5) 46,779 52,297
Cost of services PR 75 BX < (12,162) (13,788)
Gross profit E F 34,617 38,509
Valuation gains on investment KEMENHERZS
properties 14 5,308 123
Other income, net H fth g A\ JF 58 6 6,835 8,335
Distribution costs 7 85K A (533) (925)
Administrative expenses THRAX (19,149) (16,274)
Other operating expenses Ha e (745) (733)
Profit from operations KeEF B 26,333 29,035
Finance costs A& KA (41) (231)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX Bt A1 R E 26,292 28,804
Income tax Fr 5 %4 11 (7,034) (6,751)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFHE 19,258 22,053
Attributable to: AT &IEELL:
Equity shareholders of the RARI SRR
Company 19,258 22,053
EARNINGS PER SHARE SREAER
Basic and diluted EARK#E 13 RMB0.04 RMBO0.05
AR ¥0.04T AR ®0.057T

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3§

141



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
noEENER

Year ended 31 December 2023 &, 2023412 A31H It F &

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T ARBT T

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRAB 19,258 22,053
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: Hh 2 mE K%

Other comprehensive expenses that may be H 1% Hi [ A] & 1 | 3T 7
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent fEEEFHEMEE

periods: 2
Exchange differences on translation of BmEREARHKEM
financial statements of companies (TR E]FEINAT]
outside the People’s Republic of China B 74 3 2% B BB i,
(the “PRC") =% (9,480) (10,475)

Other comprehensive income that will not be 1% #1518 T~ & 1%
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent EFOoBREERN

periods: HEfh2mEKE:
Exchange differences on translation of BMEARRE P ERE
financial statements of the Company B PE 5 =58 10,358 17,349

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREMZ2EKE

FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX MERBE 878 6,874
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRAE2EREALEHE

FOR THE YEAR 20,136 28,927
Attributable to: UT&EEMN:
Equity shareholders of the Company ViN/NEIE E g o 20,136 28,927
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
o MEB AR

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

Notes 2023 2022
Bt 5 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investment properties KEME 14 959,500 954,100
Property, plant and equipment W BEREE 15 1,541 1,336
Right-of-use asset EREEE 16 1,416 2,593
Deferred tax assets EEIEE E 21 405 311
Total non-current assets IEMBEERTE 962,862 958,340
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Trade and other receivables and B 5 & H b e U sk I8
prepayments M IE RIB 17 9,225 8,013
Cash and bank balances B e &RTT &6k 18 222,211 214,908
Total current assets ME)EE R 231,436 222 921
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBERE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H b e IR 19 22,774 19,175
Contract liabilities SHAERE 20 1,366 888
Lease liabilities HEaRE 16 1,222 1,181
Tax payable FE 1< %4 18 450 1,402
Total current liabilities mEAEEE 25,812 22,646
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRH 205,624 200,275
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHERABER
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,168,486 1,158,615
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

fREMBRRE ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

Notes 2023 2022
B 5 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 206 1,408
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEEE 21 195,921 191,919
Total non-current liabilities ERBEELRE 196,127 193,327
Net assets EEFH 972,359 965,288
EQUITY =
Share capital N 22 345,042 345,042
Reserves {15 23 627,317 620,246
Total equity EHHBE 972,359 965,288
Liu Jia Ma Heming
2= BEH
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RO R BER

Year ended 31 December 2023 &, 2023412 A31H It F[E

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RATERRREN
PRC
Share Share  Capital statutory Exchange Fairvalue Retained Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  equity
HEEE MAEE
ks ROEE EX&EE i HERE e REAR  HE&
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR AR%TR AR%TR ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 R2022%1R18 345,042 45,063 81,796 8,131 (b4,841) 6,004 508,986 940,731
Profit for the year ERiE - - - - - - 208 22,053
Other comprehensive income/ FREMHEERE/ (RX
(expenses) for the year:
Exchange differences on translation ~ #EHRE B A A%
of financial statements of BENERES
companies outside the PRC - - - - (10,479) - - (10,479)
Fxchange differences on translation ~ BEALRTHBHKA
of financial statements of the ERER
Company - - - — 17349 - - 17349
Total comprehensive income ERZENRES

for the year - - - - 6,874 - 22,053 28927
Final 2021 dividend NNEFBRE - - - - - — WA @)
Transfer to PRC statutory reserve ERETEATRE - - - 1,551 = = (1,551) =
At 31 December 2022 and R2022%12B31A &

1 January 2023 2023%1R1A 345,042 45063  81,796* 9,682f  (47,967)*  6,554* 525,118* 965,288
Profit for the year ERFHE - - - - - - 19258 19,258
Other comprehensive income/ FREMRERE/(FR):

(expenses) for the year:

Exchange differences on translation &R BB SNARIE B

of financial statements of BROELER
companies outside the PRC - - - - (9,480) - - (9,480)
Exchange differences on translation B ERA TG BHKH
of financial statements of the ERER
Company - - - - 10,358 - - 10,358
Total comprehensive income EREENEER

for the year - - - - 878 - 19,258 20,136
Final 2022 dividend N0ERARE - = - = - - 838 (3397)
Interim 2023 dividend 023F R HR S - - - - - - (4,678)  (4,679)
Transfer to PRC statutory reserve ERENEETRE - - - 1,044 - - (1,044) -
At 31 December 2023 20235128318 M50 45060  BIT96 10726 (47080 6554 5A0267 972359
# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERERBIE2023F12A31AN G A B

RMB627,317,000 (2022: RMB620,246,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023.

HAR R KPR G E & A R627,317,000
70 (20224 : A R#620,246,0007T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

moRETMER

Year ended 31 December 2023 &, 2023412 A31H It F &

Notes 2023 2022
B 51 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
CASH FLOWS FROM BRETBHRESARE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax =R DS 26,292 28,804
Adjustments for: AT SEELFHE:
Fair value gains on investment BEWMEDNOR
properties BERK = 14 (5,308) (123)
Depreciation of property, plant Y- HBEKR
and equipment BB E 8 164 158
Depreciation of right-of-use TREEERE
asset 8 1,206 1,151
Finance costs SN 7 41 231
Interest income R B WA 6 (6,445) (2,379)
Net foreign exchange gains P H s 55 (846) (3,723)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE BEK
plant and equipment, net REEEFE 8 18 —
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 W IE R E 8 704 714
15,826 24,833
Increase in trade and other B 5 Kk H b fE W RIE Kk
receivables and prepayments T AT FRIE I N (1,916) (4,841)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 Kk H A e 5RIE G
other payables m/ Crl ) 3,599 (4,600)
Increase/(decrease) in contract x| EEMm L)
liabilities 478 (573)
Cash generated from operations & & TSR & 17,987 14,819
Taxes paid B HIE
PRC Corporate Income Tax ERHRBEMEMRED
(“CIT”) paid (I mEHR]D (4,078) (3,495)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM RETHRSREFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 13,909 11,324
CASH FLOWS FROM BRETBHEERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payment for the purchase of BEWE BERK
property, plant and equipment BT RIE (386) (62)
Proceeds from disposal of HEWE  BEK
property, plant and equipment BRI TS RIE 5 =
Payment for additions in investment & & & & ) % X 4 19
properties FIB (92) (277)
Interest received 2 W B 6,445 2,379
Increase in time deposits with RUEE R ¥ A 83 A
original maturity of more than 838 = & A & F 2
three months when acquired & 3K 3 0 (6,331) (61,636)
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN RETHEESRE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES pog-C (359) (59,596)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
mERENER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2023 &, 2023412 A31H It F[E

Notes 2023 2022
B 51 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM BMEETHEESRE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital element of lease rentals ENEEREELRLY
paid (1,191) (1,156)
Interest element of lease rentals ENEERESF EBD
paid (41) (62)
Repayment of a bank loan BEFETEX - (7,000)
Interest paid BT F B — (191)
Dividend paid ENEES (13,065) (4,370)
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN METBMARES
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REFEHE (14,297) (12,779)
NET DECREASE IN CASHAND R RHELZEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS B> EE (747) (61,051)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRERREEEY
beginning of year 153,272 203,770
Effect of foreign exchange rate NEEXREHTE
changes, net HRE 1,719 10,553
CASH AND CASH ERRERELZEY
EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
YEAR 154,244 153,272
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES BHERBEESEEY
OF CASH AND CASH ERDW
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances as stated #F & B & ik N R VIR
in the consolidated statement of ReRIRITHER
financial position 18 222,211 214,908
Less: Time deposits with BRI ERREI AR
original maturity of ZR=E R
more than three months aE-ERER
when acquired 18 (67,967) (61,636)
Cash and cash equivalents as RERERERITH
stated in the consolidated ReRRESFED
statement of cash flows 154,244 153,272
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s R TR &L

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H

148

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”) and transferred by way of continuation
into the Cayman Islands. The registered address of
the Company is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman lIslands and the principal
place of business in Hong Kong is located at Room 1302,
13th Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre, 56
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
property leasing, the provision of property management
services and the sale of properties held for sale.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company are Lucky Link Investments Limited and China
Investment Corporation, which are incorporated in the BVI
and established in the PRC, respectively.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

1.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

Issued ordinary/

ME LR NE SR

Percentage of equity

RAREEER (F)

RRARMBARIMFBLT

registration and paid-up share attributable to the Principal
Name business capital Company activities
AR BROEE/ KRR
£ BLVES HERRE EEADL TEXH
Direct  Indirect
EE &
Growing China Limited BVI US$25,000 100 — Investment holding
Growing China Limited RELBRHE 25,000% T 100 - REER
Metallic Field Limited BVI US$1 100 — Investment holding
FENEARAF REERRES e 100 - REBRRK
Square Field Limited BVI US$50,000 100 — Investment holding
AEBRAA REERRES 50,000% 7t 100 - RERRK
Brighter Win Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Property leasing
KXBRAF Bk 10,000 7T - 100 MEHES
Chengdu Everbright Finance Centre PRC/ Chinese HK$39,250,000 — 100 Property leasing
Development Co., Ltd.* Mainland
RBEXKRERPOREFEBERAT  PE/PERY 39,250,0007% 7. - 100 MEHRE
Chengdu Everbright International PRC/ Chinese RMB75,310,900 - 100 Property leasing
Mansion Co., Ltd.# Mainland and property
management
RBEREBREERARA! mE/ AR ARE?53109007 - 100 MEBER
NEER
Chengdu Everbright Property PRC/ Chinese RMB1,023,972 - 100 Property
Management Co., Ltd* Mainland management
RBEANEERERAR /A AR H1,0239727C - 100 MEEE
Chengdu Sing Kong City Real PRC/ Chinese RMB30,000,000 - 100 Property
Estate Co., Ltd.* Mainland development and
property leasing
RBFBEREEBERAG /B R AR #30,000,0007 - 100 ff%%;ﬂ%é%
*HE
Everbright Grand China Assets Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100 Investment holding
Management Limited
ARKEEEERBRRA 5 10,000 7t - 100 REER
Excel Harmony Investments Limited BVI US$10,000 = 100 Investment holding
Excel Harmony Investments Limited RERBREE 10,000% T - 100 ®REER
First Step Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
BEBRAT B 10,000 7T - 100 REER
# These companies were registered as wholly foreign-owned ZERARREBESREERFEMAING

enterprises under the law of the PRC.

BEME -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

28

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment properties which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® X KK FEHR QT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

fm R E 2 ()
REEEE)

b) HEMENLHEMELNER:
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o
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BERAEERARERA MR
Ptz BMEEEEHIFERER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill) liabilities, any
non-controlling interest and the exchange reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies

Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules

152 Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(@ Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users if general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply
the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. The Group has disclosed the material
accounting policy information in note 2 to the financial
statements. The amendments did not have any impact
on the measurement, recognition or presentation of
any items in the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s
approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions.

The application of these amendments did not have
material impact to the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes, including the disclosure of current tax
related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the
periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and
the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group
has applied the amendments retrospectively. Since
the Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar
Two model rules, the amendments did not have any
impact to the Group.

22 EMBRRRBEENE D (H)

(d)

(BAEERDFE125; (BFTAX)
(BIEHBENE — F X1
AR B B e B F R
BREBRMOHE _E&HAK
5 RI i 2 A B R FE B TR HE R

% B& 5| A— I8 58 il 14 B B ] h
B ZFEITANTBETE
ERSIAREER NEDY
BRREMEEFHFHTHRER
FREIEREYSE —SXIEPRIS R
BRERE -_XEERERBRHE
ERRBEERE _EMEHE
FAHEMRIE  URRIERE
WK EE LEEMBERKRE
MEE R EEAEROSE X
ERBEHREROD Mk A E
fREFHEN AKBEEEHE
BZFEITR - ARAEET
BRE -_XHFHARLNEE
A MRFETAERNEEL
BEACETMAZE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3§

155



156

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

I # R & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

(BB BREER)E105% &
(BB ER)E285 (BRI )
Amendments to HKFRS 16
(BEEMBRELER)FE165 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1

(B g R E1R (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 1

(BB GFERDEIH (BETA)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
(BERGFEIDETR KX
(BB BREEETRUBFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 21
(BB ERD)E215R (BT A)

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January g

23 EEMEEMKRERNEEMBRS
2R
ARER B R R % B S R R A A
TERMERRESINEETER
MR EER - AEEBERZFL
& 7] & 78 B 75 & R A S 1T
J& R (fis 5@ )

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Ventures
KEZHARBE NG E DR HHEEH &34 &S

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’
HERERZEMOMHERE
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”) 4
#E B 52737 B 3 FF 5 B ([2020F (£ 5T K ))7 4
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the "2022 Amendments’) 4
Wi 5 22 5 6 3 ik B B (& ([20224F (& 5T K )) 74
Supplier Finance Arrangements’

HREBBEZH

Lack of Exchangeability?
= B] 5 #2142

MR2024F1A1H 2 BRI FEH

2024 A4 %

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 M2025F1 A1k 2 & IR B F /5 B
2025 fE A4 %

8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for E MR EE R G E KB - BAHE
adoption “n

4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 4 P 2020 F B 5] AR [k 2022 B FT AN -

Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in

conclusion
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

2.3

EEMEHRERNEEMBRS
2R (&)
ERBERHEARASENZETRE
MBHREEANNE - FER LN
_FO

(BEYT K ®REERF105% M(F
B EFER) FE285% (BRI A) BAR(E
BHMBRELEIFICR (B ES
AHERDFE28R 2 HAMKEERR
BERRHEEELHAEELE
FHEMERE A —HBER - %
FRIARE BEEELEXHE
BR—EXRBE A2EBERKE
TEXZMEBEmD EXHPETE
KR—BEBZEER BRRXHE
E2BRaRZREEZBENER -
HEATHEBREERZB S QA
FEEEEZRER/R - XFER]
REEBRARKBEREEM - BFER
A AR EHE(R BT mEEL)
F105% (BB G £ FE285% (&
RIA)MERRBIEMBAH - A
AEBRIANRERIHEERR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not
impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.
The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
early application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at
the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier
application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall
be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

23 EEMEEMKRERNEEMBRSE

A (%)
(BREEHEIDETR BT H
BEEADETRUERTA)EBHE
BRERHFCEBRREREEL
BEEHR BN E - ZFEFTAPH
BEREEEMBHABRRNER
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BAEENMBHRERREREMERKR

B 488
rE°

(FEEFER)DE215R (B F] &) F]
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At EA MM RHER - %%
BRI AR EWREEFR - DA B ]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 EXSHE(E)
Fair value measurement (continued) AREETTE(E)
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured REBERRFAEXBEEAALEBED
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised FFEEERABE HMBRBHAAE
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based EBEfEEEMEBEAMNREESR
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value HETHRAREBESBETHE:

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F—E —- ERMBAREEXEBER

markets for identical assets or liabilities V& BT 3% B IR B R
)

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the FoE - ERVEEXEEER
lowest level input that is significant to the REHYAALEEFTEM
fair value measurement is observable, either EEEARNKEERH
directly or indirectly B i {8 52 1l

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the F-E - EREZBEFIHA
lowest level input that is significant to the fair REBEFEMSBEAXN
value measurement is unobservable WREELENEER

iy

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial HIECEEERTBREBERNE

statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines ERBEMNS AEERZHREH

whether transfers have occurred between levels in the RABBEEHEEBRAAEBEAENS B

hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the BEANSEEL2HEHTEHE

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value ETTRAELARERELEER -
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting

period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment
properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g.,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 202312 431H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

2.4 EXSTEEE)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

() the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replace at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

2.4 EXSTEEE)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life as follows:

2.4 EXSTEHEE)

ME BERRERTEGE)

FENERZFE HEBEAME
TR 55 N 5RO i T AT AR AR B A 8
HEHRAZERNBKEERT

Over the shorter of the lease terms and

their estimated useful lives, being no more than

Buildings situated on leasehold land

50 years after the date of completion

HELHZ FREF MEMEAGFERAFHIRESE - TH A THK AR F505F
Equipment and others 2 to 20 years with residual value of 3% to 10%
& R H A 2E 205 » MR BE3%ZE10%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use
asset which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business.
Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 202312 431H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

@)

Right-of-use asset

Right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use asset is
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use asset includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use asset
is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful live of the
assets as follows:
Office premise 3 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use asset relates to interests in
leasehold land held as properties held for sale, they
are subsequently measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s
policy for “properties held for sale”. When a right-
of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property, it is included in investment properties. The
corresponding right-of-use asset is initially measured
at cost, and subsequently measured at fair value, in
accordance with the Group’s policy for “investment
properties”.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition

exemption for leases of low-value assets.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its

leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
cost incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue

in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee

are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as

loans and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net

of directly attributable transaction costs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of
generally within three months that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in the statement of profit or loss.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® X KK FEHR QT

2.4 EXSTEHEE)

HEEmMITA

=5 B R TT ROR B AN A 8
ERRBRCBELEERFIEELELGN
IRAREREERENEER €
MEENRSBRABATEE RKY
BRAKRZHMFRE -

RERRESEEY

BREAMBEMRARME  Re kB
CEBYEREFELRRTESE A
EREZSEMEERS  BEZ
BRBBN HEREEHREH
KE—RBEBAKR=ZMEARNIHH
RHRRBER -

MERARERERMS  REe MR
CEVERETFAELRRITHRSE U
M EdEENERER  BHREA
REREERYBAEEREEEE
B-—MOoMRITE -

B\

HEABEFHERBERNFECEEX
WENSE BERERRAIGEARLE
BRABNERE EomRBEEG K
BARHEEEIR c & BEHLTE
&t

EMRNTEEAR  BRBHEN
BREANBERREAMNETRZSFER
TR R T W RE - F B E R
migmevrREFABERF ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model in accordance with
HKAS 40 /nvestment Property, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption
is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model of the Group whose
business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for
such investment properties are measured in accordance
with the above general principles set out in HKAS 12 (i.e.,
based on the expected manner as to how the properties
will be recovered).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods and services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a)  Property management services

Revenue from the provision of property management
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfer
control of the related goods or services to the customer).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s presentation currency. The functional
currency of the Company is the Hong Kong dollar which
is the currency of the primary environment in which the
Company operates. Since the Company does not conduct
any substantive operations of its own and conducts its
primary business operations through its subsidiaries in
Chinese Mainland, the Company adopts RMB as the
presentation currency of the Group. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® X KK FEHR QT

2.4 EXSTEHEE)

s

AUBBRERAAREZY AR
EARAMEINEE - NRANY
REBREBT BELNMR/RERRAE
BERHNEE B RARARE
EERNAGEEXHAEBEFTE
MM BARKETEZER  BA
RAIFEAARBERAKRENZET
E¥ - -AKREEERRTEESA
MEER MEEBNRMKRE
HENRZEERFTE - AEE A
TEBTENNINERZGNIRZE
ERZARIZBEHNGEERE
RARR - AINEGHENEBEER
BE BRREHRNERDEEE
ExmE REERBEEHER
MELANEZBENIEDZRER -

AEEgnEsBREMELNE
BERERRER  EEEELSYE T
AREBRBINEHREFE D
MEBEBARKRIN - ARBEBRRNEM
EHRAER BEEREFHECDL
ERl ERRACHEEEN IR
ERaR RETERHEZERLE
BERAEOBREHRERTFAH
fi, 2 H UL & o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
subsidiaries operating outside Chinese Mainland are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
an operation outside Chinese Mainland, the cumulative
amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit of loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries
operating outside Chinese Mainland are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the Company and
its subsidiaries operating outside Chinese Mainland which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term
not constituting a major part of the economic life of
the commercial property and the present value of the
minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially
all the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains
substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of these properties which are leased out and
accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on
days past due. The provision matrix is initially based on
the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables
(continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables is disclosed in note 17 to the financial
statements.

Estimation of fair values of investment properties

As described in note 14 to the financial statements, the
Group’s investment properties were revalued at the end
of the reporting period based on the appraised market
value provided by independent firms of valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from
the actual results. In making the estimation, the Group
considers information from (i) independent valuations;
(ii) current prices in an active market for properties of
a different nature, condition or location by reference to
available market information; (iii) recent prices of similar
properties in less active markets, with adjustments to
reflect any changes in economic conditions since the
dates of transactions that occurred at those prices; and
(iv) discounted cash flow projections, based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, derived from the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts, and from
external evidence such as current market rates for similar
properties in the same location and condition, and using
discount rates that reflect current market assessments of
the uncertainty in the amount and timing of cash flows.
The carrying amount and the details of the fair value
measurement of investment properties at 31 December
2023 were disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates the tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment
of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take
into account of all changes in tax legislation. Deferred
tax assets are recognised for temporary deductible
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only be
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the unused
tax credits can be utilised, management’s judgement is
required to assess the probability of future taxable profits.
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Additional deferred tax assets are
recognised if it becomes probable that future taxable
profits will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.
The carrying values of deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities at 31 December 2023 were RMB405,000
(2022: RMB311,000) and RMB195,921,000 (2022:
RMB191,919,000), respectively. Further details are included
in note 21 to the financial statements.

3.

T EE 5 H R E (&)

CHER FLEIV )
18 8

ETCHSHEGBIREE TR K
RMEEIERHE - NEEZEGT
HZEXIHNMBEFE - Witk
ERMIBRE ZERXRZINMRBE
BrHENERE Ut EBEER
RFTBEE - AT S i = 5H 1 R
REEMIBEEE BARZFELEHR
HEERBERHARKERM &
FaAEREABDRABEEKEES
SR FMUNEEEBEHAWRS A
AR RELERRN MBI o
ERENSREBRETIEZE
HEr > RIMRATRE B IR R R ERR TR
wmA R AR INEET IR ER -
FEMRELEHRIBEEE - EERIE
& E MR E T IE B & R2023F12 5
31HMEREE 5 5 & A R#405,000
JC (20224 + A R #311,0007T) & A
R #195,921,0007T (20224 : A R #&
191,919,0007T) ° # — 2 I1F S K B
R M FE21 o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company have been identified as the
Group’s most senior executive management. Operating
segments are identified on the basis of internal reports that
the Group’s most senior executive management reviews
regularly in allocating resources to segments and in
assessing their performance.

The Group’s most senior executive management
makes resource allocation decisions based on internal
management functions and assesses the Group’s
business performance as one integrated business instead
of by separate business lines or geographical regions.
Accordingly, the Group has only one operating segment
and therefore, no segment information is presented.

The Group primarily operates in the PRC and accordingly,
no geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenues of
approximately RMB9,261,000 and RMB5,914,000, which
represented 19.8% and 12.6% of the Group’s total revenue,
respectively, were derived from two different single
customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenues of
approximately RMB9,261,000 and RMB6,913,000, which
represented 17.7% and 13.2% of the Group’s total revenue,
respectively, were derived from two different single
customers.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® X KK FEHR QT

ReEsHEH

ARREZCHKER/AKERD
THEERE KENHHREBEASE
ERsTREEEEHRENOIRET
DHERLRFHEERBANADLRSE
HER -

AEENRSTREREEREAR
EEBEFEHERDBEORE ALK
AEBENEHRAE/R—HEEE
%5 (M IE3% 1B B R R A5 AR S b I2 (8 558)
EITRIG - Bt NEBERS —
B 48 %% o &0 - B FE w3 #4 E f
DEPE Y -

AEMEBAERBL Bt E
19 G AT M IR B R o

FEEFEHR

H E2023F12A3BIEFE - W&
B4 AR #9,261,0007T & A R
5,914,000t * 2 A4 A & E 2 W =
10.8% & 12.6% * Jh 2K B M % 1 [ &9
BE-RP o

H E2022F12A31B Lt FE - W&
B4 A R #9,261,0007T B A R #
6,913,0007T * % Al b 4~ & E 42 W =
17.7% %13.2% * Ty ZREMEZ TR K
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

REVENUE

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2022
20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T
Revenue from contracts with EE & X B Y 2
customers
Provision of property management REMEESERS
services 13,545 14,002
Revenue from other sources 2K B E 2 Bz
Gross rentals from investment RKEREWHEN
properties e B 33,234 38,295
Total @5t 46,779 52,297
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEEHN W
(i) Disaggregation revenue information (i) WEERSE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 B £2023F12A31HILEE

Provision

of property
MELELE S
services

REME
EER%
RMB’000
ARB T

Timing of revenue recognition Uy 2 R B B
Services transferred over time BE By [ 88 7% AR 75 13,545
Total BE 13,545
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
I # R & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. Uz (48)
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHHWKE(E)
(continued)
(i) Disaggregation revenue information (i) WRERDEE)
(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E2022F12A31H 1L FE
Provision
of property
management
services
REME
BIE RS
RMB’000
ARBTT
Timing of revenue recognition W =5 e SR R B
Services transferred over time PER BB RS 14,002
Total B 14,002
The following table shows the amount of revenue TRETRENFAGHNAE

recognised in the current year that was included in
the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year:

Provision of property management 2 {4 % & 12 IR 5

THERBAFENR S

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARE T T

services 888 1,461
(ii) Performance obligations (i) BHEMR
Information about the Group’s performance obligation EHEASERHNEEMNE RS
is summarised below: M
Provision of property management services IERYE E R

The performance obligation is satisfied over time
as services are rendered and short-term advances
are normally required before rendering the services.
Management service contracts are for periods of one
to 10 years, and are billed based on the time incurred.

194 Everbright Grand China Assets Limited o ¢ AKEBR AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

REVENUE (continued) 5. Uz (48)

Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHAMNWE(E)
(continued)

(i) BREME(E)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

WERYRE IR (B)

Provision of property management services

(continued)
The Group elected to apply the practical expedient AEEEEREABRBGEEY
under HKFRS 15 and does not disclose the amount BHREER)FEIR 2 B

BHim TRESEZRHY
XEERS (RS B EREHR
BHEBALABRESHEKRE -
THASEAEREAREZ S
BHEA/RWD)NBRTITEOR

of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
obligations for the provision of property management
services for which the Group bills a fixed amount
for each month of service provided and recognises
revenue in the amount to which the Group has a right

to invoice. EZ2RHEE -

OTHER INCOME, NET 6. HWAFZE
2023 2022
20234 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
Interest income from bank deposits RITF A F B U A 6,445 2,379
Net foreign exchange gain HINIE I 25 )F BB 125 3,270
Government grants* I8 T4 B> 33 193
Others HAh 232 2,493
Total other income, net H b Ug A 4851 5% 6,835 8,335

During the year ended 31 December 2023, government grants
of RMB33,000, which represented subsidies for stabilising
employment, were received from the government authorities in
the PRC. There were no unfulfilled conditions and contingencies
related to these grants.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, government grants
of HK$168,000 (approximately RMB144,000) and RMB34,000,
which represented subsidies for stabilising employment, were
received from the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region under the “Anti-epidemic Fund” and
government authorities in the PRC, respectively. The remaining
balance of HK$17,000 (approximately RMB15,000) was the
amount received under “Reimbursement of Maternity Leave
Pay Scheme” of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. There were no unfulfilled conditions and
contingencies related to these grants.

HZE2023F12A3HILEE » BUTM
B A R ¥33,0007T © & B K T
PR BEREME - ZERMIALE
ERREREHERIBERE -

H E2022F12A318 Lt F & - BT
f# 81168,0007% 7T (41 A R 144,000
70) & A R #34,0007T 9 Bl & W ER
ERFNITHEBFIGEREE
I RPEKRFEHMAETE®ERS
Bh o T £ 45 #217,0008 T (WA R
15,0007T) J5 1R 35 & 7 B 51 17 I & IR
FresgERT M8 WEReRIE -
% % 1 B I 48 (T (7] K 2 AR IR 1R R 3K
BEIHE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BMERK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEK RS T :
2023 2022
20234 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR F T
Interest on a bank loan RITE RF B - 169
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEME 41 62
Total BEt 41 231
8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. F®AEIF B
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging: AEEHAFBEMBRIATIER :
Notes 2023 2022
Bt 5 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T
Cost of services rendered* B 12 AR 7% &9 Ak A8~ 12,162 13,788
Depreciation of property, M BENEHE
plant and equipment meE 15 164 158
Depreciation of right-of-use asset {# A& E & 16 1,206 1,151
Impairment of trade receivables™ & 5 EWHERE> 17 704 714
Loss on disposal of items HEME BEX
of property, plant and HEBEBEEBETE
equipment, net 18 —
Auditor’s remuneration % BL R B & 1,126 1,166
Employee benefit expense EERAMAX
(including directors’ (BREEZM
remuneration (note 9)): (Fff 5£9)) :
Salaries and other benefits TEREAMEF 15,863 15,039
Pension scheme contributions BIREETEIH K 1,072 986
16,935 16,025
* The employee benefit expense included in cost of services * FAAERHBRE KA ESRAFA
rendered was RMB5,160,000 (2022: RMB5,067,000). ¥ A A R ¥5,160,0007T (20224F : A
R #5,067,0007T) °
**  The impairment of trade receivables for the years are included * ZEFEMEBESEWREREA
in “Other operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of FEBEmRIAEMLEERT] -

profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 9. EERTHHEARFMH
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive officer’s remuneration for FARBEBIMESFLEMHABN( L
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the R B FE R A K 55383(1)
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing @~ o CROEAEAR(FRESE
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong ENZER RO F2EEENES
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies RITERBH T T
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Fees ik 816 780
Other emoluments: Hin 2 -
Salaries, allowances and Fe EMREYHNZ
benefits in kind 2,107 1,947
Discretionary bonuses B IFIE 4L 1,695 1,583
Pension scheme contributions BRIKE FTEI K 81 15
Subtotal INEE 3,883 3,545
Total HBEt 4,699 4,325
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 9.

ESRTRARTH (H)

REMUNERATION (continued)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
§e 2ER B
Be ENAE RERA HE L3 @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®Tn AR®Tn AR¥Tn AR%¥Txn
(note ii)
(B &tii)
2023 20235
Executive directors: HAEE:
Liu Jia (note ii 2z (W i) - 1,296 919 52 2,267
Ma Heming (note i) SEB (M) - 756 776 29 1,561
Subtotal Nt - 2,052 1,695 81 3,828
Non-executive directors: FHTEE.
Wang Yun (note v) TE(My) — = - - -
Zhuang Minrong (note v) HRE (M) - - - - -
Yin Junyan (note viil F {8 4 (M vii) - - - - -
Subtotal Nt = = - - -
Independent Non-executive BU#HTEE.
directors:
Tsoi David (note vi) X4 (M) 204 12 - - 216
Shek Lai Him, Abraham (note vi) AR (i) 204 14 - - 218
Lee Jor Hung (note vi 18 (H 3Evi) 204 18 - - 222
Wang Cheng Yue (note vii I & (M shvil) 204 11 - - 215
Subtotal Nt 816 55 - - 871
Total st 816 2,107 1,695 81 4,699
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 202312 431H

9.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

9. EERITHARTFM(A)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
g2 RER RikE
ik ENila RELL HE LT o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT AREBTT ARETT  ARETn
(note i)
i)
2022 20208
Executive directors: HrEE.
Liu Jia (note ii 2z (W i) - 1,186 859 15 2,060
Ma Heming (note iv) SER (K - 687 724 = 1411
Subtotal It - 1873 1,583 15 3,471
Non-executive directors: FHGEE.
Wang Yun (note v) TE(Miy) = - - - -
Zhuang Minrong (note v) HRE (&) = - - - -
Subtotal Mgt - - — _ _
Independent Non-executive BU#HTEE.
directors:
Tsol David (note vi) -yN A( a0 195 17 = = 212
Shek Lai Him, Abraham (note vi R (K ki) 195 18 = = 213
Lee Jor Hung (note vi Z 4 1 (B i) 195 23 — — 218
Yu Pauline Wah Ling (note vi FER (M) 127 8 - - 135
Wang Cheng Yue (note vi T & & (M 3hvii) 68 8 - — 76
Subtotal It 780 74 - - 854
Total @i 780 1,947 1,583 15 4,325
Notes: B =

(U]

(if)

(i)

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals set out
in note 10 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. No remuneration
was paid to the two (2022: two) non-executive directors during
the year.

Discretionary bonuses are determined by reference to the
performance of individuals and the Group.

Mr. Liu Jia was appointed as a director on 1 September 2000
and re-designated as an executive director and the chairman
of the Company on 16 January 2018 for a specific term of
three years. His service contract was renewed as an executive
director and the chairman of the Company on 16 January
2021 for a specific term of three years. He was also the chief
executive officer of the Company during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

RAFER AEBEHERESRKT
M FE10RT & BB & = 2 B A
ITXMMEEAMNASMAREH
BHRESIEAEBREE - FAM
ZR022F - MB)ERTESHE
AT o

BIEEAT2EBARAEERR
BE -

2 3 5 £ R2000F9A1HE R T A
BF - WN2018F1B16BE I A
RKARMITESERER EEITH
BZF  FETEARRNTESR
FEHRE AL E R2021F1A16H
EHCETETIHAZFE - FREZR
20234 K2022%12 A318 1k & & )
BARDNBITHER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S

REMUNERATION (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

v

(vil)

(viii)

Mr. Ma Heming was appointed as an executive director on 15
April 2021 for a specific term of three years.

Ms. Wang Yun and Mr. Zhuang Minrong were appointed on 26
August 2021 as non-executive directors. The non-executive
directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term
of three years. Ms. Wang Yun had resigned as non-executive
director with effect from 12 December 2023.

Mr. Tsoi David, Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, Mr. Lee Jor Hung
and Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling were appointed as independent
non-executive directors with effect from 16 January 2018.
The independent non-executive directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of three years. Their letters of
appointment as independent non-executive directors were
renewed on 16 January 2021 for a specific term of three years.
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling had resigned as an independent non-
executive director with effect from 26 August 2022.

Mr. Wang Cheung Yue was appointed on 26 August 2022 as
an independent non-executive director. The independent non-
executive director of the Company is appointed for a specific
term of three years.

Ms. Yin Junyan was appointed on 12 December 2023 as
non-executive director. The non-executive director of the
Company is appointed for a specific term of three years.

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2022: Nil).

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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\Y)

(vii)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two directors (2022: two directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2022:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive officer of the Company are as follows:

10.

TEEEHFMESR

ERN AEBSHMESDERS
EE(Q02F: MEES) 25
SEHN LXK FREBES
(202248 - = %) B 7 % B 4 B (3 3
AA T B AT R E) B B 1
m

2023 2022
20235 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR T T

Salaries, allowances and benefits e  EMREMA S
in kind 1,778 1,630
Discretionary bonuses 15 TE 4L 429 406
Pension scheme contributions RIREET 3R 72 46
2,279 2,082

The number of non-director and non-chief executive officer
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z %1,000,0007% 7T

e FTIINBENIFES RIFT
BaHEFMEENABE T

Number of employees
EBE A"

2023 2022
2023%F 20224

3 3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

11.

INCOME TAX

1.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year (2022: Nil). Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group

Fi8

HRAEEFAYERBTEELE
Al FERR B FB - F b I B\ A B BB
M 15 T B 8 (2022%F « #8) - H b b
[ & BRI B B B TR R AR R AN R
REXBHAERZEBNRITH X

operates. ETE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T

Current tax — the PRC B HA R 18 — A

CIT TEMESH 2,392 3,633
Deferred tax i U 3,908 3,118
Withholding tax TEH 734 —
Total Bt 7,034 6,751

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory tax rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as

(S RAN/NCTD @ =il = NG
FERDERE R BA E R R E R B A
MEBRERRARXBRERRE
AAERNRBERXAERET

follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Profit before tax G IRAIVE 26,292 28,804
Tax at the statutory tax rates BREAEBEFENTIE 7,257 8,002
Preferential tax rates BEME (428) (642)
Expenses not deductible for tax RN A= 2,855 3,154
Income not subject to tax BARB A (1,382) (2,281)
Deductible temporary differences not AR AR E R =8
recognised (1,551) (1,000)
Effect of withholding tax on the REBEFHEHE A A
distributed profits of the Group’s A 5 R K B B A
PRC subsidiaries w8 734 —
Other H i (451) (482)
Tax expense at the Group’s effective  HAE B BEEH K&
rate R R TE R X2 7,034 6,751
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023512 H31H

11.

INCOME TAX (continued)

All subsidiaries of the Company established and operating
in the PRC are subject to the PRC CIT at an applicable rate
of 25%.

Pursuant to “Announcement on Further Implementing
the Preferential Income Tax Policies for Micro and
Small Enterprises (Announcement No. 13 [2022])" and
“Announcement on the Preferential Income Tax Policies
for Micro and Small Enterprises and Sole Proprietorship
Enterprises (Announcement No. 6 [2023])”, Chengdu
Everbright Property Management Co., Ltd. and Chengdu
Sing Kong City Real Estate Co., Ltd. fall within the eligible
industry category and are eligible to enjoy the preferential
income tax rate of 5% (a reduced rate of 25% of the
taxable income amount, and be subject to corporate
income tax at a 20% tax rate for income that does not
exceed RMB3,000,000) for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: 2.5% for taxable income that does not exceed
RMB1,000,000 and 5% for taxable income that exceeds
RMB1,000,000 but does not exceed RMB3,000,000).

Tax for other entities of the Group is charged at their
respective applicable income tax rates ruling in the relevant
jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Chinese Mainland. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after
31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10% (2022: 5% or 10%). The
Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

11.

Fr & %t (8)

AN B R S K 4% B B AR Y
& R 7] 19 78 1225% K i B B R 8
FEREERMAEHR -

RIBE(H R & — 2 B p ) 10 3 AT
EHERBE A & ([2022] F F13
FDRCER > ZEFME T E
F AT 12 7 1B R K R B & & ([2023]
FEHE) KBARAMEEESR
RARINRKEBFTAEWEEEGR R A
BAERMEXER AUBEER
EH E22023F12A3B L FEE X
5% (BHEMNAMSHBETBERAR
#3,000,0007C B 2B 9+ 3% B R 1%
25% 5T A\ FE Ay B FT 1S B8 0 %220% K
HMEBMECERMSRINAMERHE
R OR (20224 1 2.5% (¥ FE 4y 7 B
S T8 B A R ¥1,000,0005T H
W) KRE5% (HEMT TS EBR
A R #1,000,000CE T i@ A R
3,000,000 T ) Z853)) °

AEBEMEENNIAREBRDA
BEREREFZSENERAMEHH

BIEFRBECEMESHE MR PE
WK I E R ERINERE SR
FEIREE - BHEMNI0%TENF It
#E F2008F1A1H £ % I @ A
2007F12A31H & LN & F| -
BINEREEFNB R E#EEHEFH
Wi A RIS RL - INERE F 0] H
EREENHE - RAEEM S -
R A5% 3¢10% (20224F : 5%
310%) At - NEE AR 20084 1
A1BRRIAAZF - st EAH
Y BZENBRR DRSS
MTEHEL o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
I # R & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

12.

13.

DIVIDENDS 12. KRB
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥® T ARET T
Final dividend paid in respect of the year & £2022412 A31H
ended 31 December 2022 LHEFEEIRNHRERE
— RMB1.90 cents (2021: RMB0.99 —FREBRARE1.905
cents) per ordinary share (20215 : AR#0.99%) 8,387 4,370
Interim dividend — RMB1.06 cents FHRE -8R
(2022: Nil) per ordinary share i@k A R#1.069 (2022
) 4,678 -
Proposed final dividend — RMBO.6 BaAHRKRE-GK
cents (2022: RMB1.90 cents) per TERkARK6S
ordinary share (20225 : AR#1.909) 2,648 8,387

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The final dividend proposed after
the end of the reporting period has not been recognised as
liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB19,258,000 (2022:
RMB22,053,000), and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 441,400,000 (2022: 441,400,000) in
issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

13.

FRAEZRHBREBAFTARAIKER
REIGRITHRRBFRE L&
TAEE - EHRENEZZ KRB
BREXERNRERRERREE -

BEREF

FR O BREAXAZHNTDEARF
ExBREAELHFAFNBARE
19,258,0007T (20225 : A R #&
22,053,0007T) & B 3 47 &9 h0 #E £ 15
L 3F AR AR B441,400,000% (20224 -
441,400,0000% ) 5+ & -

H E2023%F K2022F12 318 I F
B AEBVETHEEH S
ITERA -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14.

REME

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR T

Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1E M EEEE 954,100 953,700
Additions, at cost RE KA 92 277
Net gain from fair value adjustments A BB B F W= 5,308 123
Carrying amount at end of year FAREMAE 959,500 954,100

The Group’s investment properties consist of three
commercial properties in the PRC. The directors of the
Company have determined that the investment properties
were commercial properties based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of each property. The Group’s
investment properties were revalued on 31 December
2023 based on valuations performed by Landscope
Christie’s International Real Estate, independent
professionally qualified valuers, at RMB959,500,000 (2022:
RMB954,100,000). Each year, the Group’s management
decides to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s management has discussions
with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results twice a year when the valuation is performed for
interim and annual financial reporting.

Most of the investment properties of the Group are leased
to third parties under operating leases, further summary
details of which are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

AEBEREMEERURFRHD
“HEHAEME - ARAEERB
AERNZEMENED FEER
B MEMEBREME - KR
&3 & & 1% F ¥ {4 13 Bl Landscope
Christie’s International Real Estate
ETNHE AEENKREMER
2023F12ABIAEEFHEAAR
#959,500,0007T (20224 : A R #
954,100,0007T) - A& B ERESTF
AEZEIINEGHEMEBEEHAEE
PIEEITIINDGE  BRERZERRE
MigAE - B2 BIURKREER
BHEXFE -RPHARFEH B R
HETHER ASEEEBEESSE
B AT M EERR LEE
BER -

AEBABIREVERELEH
ERTHF=7 AHEEZFAML
BB 75 R M A6 e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. BREWHE(E)
Fair value hierarchy AREBEESE
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRFAAREEREMENRAEB
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: BEifENE:
2023

Fair value measurement using
MEETERA

Quoted prices  Significant  Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
ERMEN EATEE EATTEE
HE 29 29
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(5-F8) (5=8) ($=FE) @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  AR¥Txn ARETR AR%ETR
Recurring fair value measurement for: THAREEIE:
Commercial properties HENE - - 959,500 959,500
2022 20224
Fair value measurement using
MABEGERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERTISN EAUBE EATAER
HE 24 24
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(£-FE) (5=FE) (F=E) @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTL ARETT  ARETn  ARETn
Recurring fair value measurement for: THAREEIE:
Commercial properties GEZ/ES - - 954,100 954,100
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER F—EHE_E2RATE
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no AREBEFEEY FE=-ETERQ
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil). AEEF 28 A E H(2022F :

') -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

14,

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. BREWHE(E)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised F-EBRAREBEIESENAARE
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: EFfEHER:
RMB’000

AR®ET
Carrying amount at 1 January 2022 R2022F1 A1E M ERE B 953,700
Additions NE 277
Net gain from fair value adjustments recognised RIEBFER AR EBEFAEFRZE

in profit or loss 123
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 and R2022F12 A31H &

1 January 2023 2023F1A1HM R EE 954,100
Additions NE 92
Net gain from fair value adjustments recognised RIBZBER AL EEFHEFR S

in profit or loss 5,308
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 R2023F12 A AWM R E B 959,500
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques
used and the key inputs to the valuation of investment
properties:

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. REW* (&)

ATHINFABEST ZMERKRE
MEBEIEHAE:

Relationship
Range of of unobservable

unobservable inputs inputs to fair value

FUBEAAER

FUBRERAEHE QABENEE

Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs
8 HER%E FABRRBAE
Investment properties Market comparison Adjustment of comparables
approach for difference of
transaction time and
physical attributes
between the subject
property
REMZ s b BA kIRl
EYEEEcER
HERE
Term and reversion Capitalisation rate
method
FHRERE ¥ N

Certain investment properties located in the PRC are
partially owner-occupied and partially subject to existing
tenancies as at the date of valuation. In this connection,
for the property interests in vacant possession, the fair
value has been determined, assuming vacant possession
could be immediately available as at the date of valuation,
using the market comparison approach by reference to
recent sales price of comparable properties, adjusted to
the difference of transaction time and physical attributes
between the subject property. For the tenanted property
interests, the fair value has been determined on the
basis of capitalisation of the net income derived from the
existing tenancies with due allowance for reversionary
income potential of the respective properties and where
appropriate, also made reference to the comparable
market transactions.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® X KK FEHR QT

(2022: 5.75% t0 6.5%)

-39% 10 36%  The higher the sales value
(2022: -24% to 16%) of comparables, the
higher the fair value

-39%%36% MHLHERLR DA

(2022F : -24%Z16%) (EEHR

5.75% 10 6.5%  The higher the
capitalisation rate, the
lower the fair value
575%%65% EXMLEHS DA

(2022 : 575%26.5%)  EEHIE

ETURTENRENE  KAEE
B BORFXTER MOERE
BAEHAONERAR "/it RN EE
EAENYMERD  HEAREERTE
FEXEEEARRNGEEANAL
BIEG - M BB A2 Z A
MEMNTCHEDELRFTOY RO
FRERYIEBE c ZRELHAE -
HRAEDEED RAEEDN
BERIHAOEEZ FRENERR
ERET TEEISVENER
WNED WR(WEE) 2 £ &
HBEMHERS °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE ()

31 December 2023 202312 431H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% BERRE

Buildings
held for Equipment
own use and others Total
BFIFEAEF RERHM # st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTRT ARBTR AR®TxR
Cost: R 2N
At 1 January 2022 R202241 818 121 4,105 4,226
Additions NE = 62 62
Exchange realignment bE 5 A2 - 69 69
At 31 December 2022 and R2022F12A318 &

1 January 2023 2023F1H1H 121 4,236 4,357
Additions NE 386 386
Disposal ark== - (262) (262)
Exchange realignment bE 5 38 & 12 12
At 31 December 2023 1K 2023%F12A31H 121 4,372 4,493
Accumulated depreciation ZE:HFERBE:

and impairment:

At 1 January 2022 F202241 A1A 16 2,821 2,837
Charge during the year FRHBR 6 152 158
Exchange realignment bE 5 38 — 26 26
At 31 December 2022 and 72022412 A318 &

1 January 2023 2023F1H1H 22 2,999 3,021
Charge during the year F AR 6 158 164
Disposal k== - (239) (239)
Exchange realignment bE H, 58 & - 6 6
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H 28 2,924 2,952
Net carrying amount: REFEE:

At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H 93 1,448 1,541
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12 A31H 99 1,237 1,336

The buildings held for own use are located in the PRC and
the relevant interests are wholly owned by the Group.

BEREFURNTE HEEDAN

S8 =

HER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H

16. LEASES 16.

The Group as a lessee

The Group has a lease contract for office premise in Hong
Kong used in its operations. The lease of the office premise
has a lease term of 3 years (2022: 3 years). Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased asset.

(a) Right-of-use asset

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
asset and the movements during the year are as

HE

AEBEREAEA
AEBREENRAE BN ASATE
EREAX - P A5 A A H
BEZF(0222F =F)  AEBBEE
TBEZENOPHEBEEEE -

(a) EFRAEEE

AKEEAEAERTDERST
REEBHMT -

follows:

RMB’000
AR® T
As at 1 January 2022 202241 A1R 3,468
Depreciation charge HEEH (1,151)
Exchange realignment ME H, 58 B 276

As at 31 December 2022 and 2022412 4318 % 2023%F151H
1 January 2023 2,593
Depreciation charge mEEHA (1,206)
Exchange realignment bE H, 58 B 29
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12 A31H 1,416
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

16. LEASES (continued) 16. HE(E)
The Group as a lessee (continued) rEBERAMEAGE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEESE
The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities rEBEHEGERABEREA
and the movements during the year are as follows: BT
RMB’000
AR®B T
As at 1 January 2022 R2022F1H1H 3,470
Accretion of interest recognised FARERF LM
during the year 62
Payments E:N (1,218)
Exchange realignment bE H, 58 B 275
As at 31 December 2022 and R2022F12 A31H &
1 January 2023 2023F1/1H 2,589
Accretion of interest recognised FAMERFE
during the year 41
Payments N (1,232)
Exchange realignment b X 38 & 30
As at 31 December 2023 MR2023F 12 A31H 1,428
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Analysed into: SaR il
Current portion BN HA 2B 5 1,222 1,181
Non-current portion JE BN HA 289> 206 1,408
1,428 2,589
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBBINHIMTRP B @wE
note 29(d) to the financial statements. B 5 29(d) # B& o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

16.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

16. HE (&)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in

(d)

REBEREBEAGE)

(c) REEREERIANEEN

relation to leases are as follows: T
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T T ARE T T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 41 62
Depreciation charge of EREEENEER
right-of-use asset 1,206 1,151
Total amount recognised in REZERESHE
profit or loss 1,247 1,213

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed
in note 24(b) to the financial statements.

(d) HENRESRHBERYBR
* Mt i 24(b) i & -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

16. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
consisting of three commercial properties in the PRC under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases
generally require the tenants to pay security deposits and
provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB33,234,000 (2022:
RMB38,295,000), details of which are included in note 5 to
the financial statements.

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

16. HE (&)

AEEEREAA

AEERBECLEHETHEHEER
EMEM T4 EPBEZHEM
RABENEEME - BB —REX
HMAPYXNEREZEEBREERMR
RERBHHEERAE - AEBFRE
RS W A A R%33,234,0007T
(20224 : A R #38,295,0007T) * #f
15 B 7 B 75 ) R BT 55 o

MR2023F12A31H » A £ E 1R # &
HEF YW T RMEEEREERN X
REAREU R BEIR A EM T

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR T T

Within one year —F R 24,501 22 220
After one year but within two years —FREMEN 22,308 19,234
After two years but within three years M & B =F K 21,570 17,416
After three years but within four years =414 {B M FE K 20,694 16,587
After four years but within five years WEBEARAFRN 20,093 15,666
After five years hF % 34,807 43,871
Total HBEt 143,973 134,994
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

BEERAMBERRERBANRE

PREPAYMENTS
Notes 2023 2022
B 7E 20235 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Trade receivables =) &/ 8,615 6,472
Impairment BAE (1,622) (1,243)
Net carrying amount REFE (a) 6,993 5,229
Other receivables and H b fE Y R IE &
prepayments FE 3R B (o) 2,232 2,784
9,225 8,013
(@) Trade receivables are due for payment pursuant to the @ REWBZRER BEZEWRRE

terms of the agreements. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the payment
schedule and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AWM -AEEBAETE W
MEPH TR

ERNNRERREEEREE
B BEHRNESEKFA

BB DTN

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARBFT

Within 1 month 118 A A" 4,361
1 to 2 months 122M@ A - 243
2 to 3 months 2%231E A - 625
Total 5 6,993 5,229
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78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS (continued)

@)

(continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of trade receivables are as follows:

17.

BEERAMBERRERBANRE

(&)

B 5 & WK I8 1) LB RS 98 R
ZEHmT:

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR T

At beginning of year F ) 1,243 529

Impairment losses, net (note 8) BB B B F R (K1 EE8) 704 714
Amount written off as uncollectible = #ifl #5 4 & 3% W @ &9

% 1A (325) —

At end of year FR 1,622 1,243

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure ECLs. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Trade
receivables are written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the customer does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

REHRE BB RR B R EREE
TRESN Ut ERHBEE
BiE AR AKRENELEER
BEERI RARKRATEZFE

It 3 AR AR AN R E AR R P A
E—FEROENBHMKENE
B - AT ERBRIEARENN
BER BBRKERRZEAR
HAGHEEETEER B8
IR R R ERFEFRREE
BERAIEER - ML BEERR
WEEFR - B 5 E AR (B
DEEEH EWME o WL IIA
SERREPLEEERIMA
KRAIELE RMNIRERIAE
ERTHBENRBRZ-RIFR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(@) (continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

17. ESREMBRRERANKE
(&)

(@

(&)

DA #5518 R (£ 7R 13 4 AR [ &t
ENAKEEZRNUFEAREE
[\ B 0 & Y

R2023%F12A31H

Past due Past due
within over

Current 90 days 90 days
0E  AH0RR AHEBEIA
Expected credit loss rate RHEEEEX 1.2% 0.0% 100.0% 18.8%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) RFHABEARETT) 7,078 - 1,537 8,615
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) EHEEER(ARET L) 85 - 1,537 1,622
As at 31 December 2022 1K2022%12 A31H
Past due Past due
within over
Current 90 days 90 days Total
ME AH0AAR AEBBH EH)
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 1.4% 43.5% 100.0% 19.2%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) EHABEARETT) 4,422 1,536 514 6,472
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEER(ARET L) 61 668 514 1,243
(b) The financial assets included in the balances relate by #HEANEHEEHTEHEE

to receivables for which there was no recent history
of default and past due amounts. As at 31 December
2023 and 2022, the loss allowance was assessed to
be minimal.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

MM BTRHSENER
RIBA R o 20234 K20224F
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31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

RERBITHER

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

Deposits with banks RITF R 222,189 214,885

Cash on hand EfFHe 22 23

Cash and bank balances IR e KIRTT &k 222,211 214,908

Less: Time deposits with original BRI E R R BB R

maturity of more than three #8318 = & A & 7 88

months when acquired EE (67,967) (61,636)

Cash and cash equivalents BeRIBEEEY 154,244 153,272

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB98,726,000 (2022: RMB95,425,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits, of
which the original maturity was three months or less, are
made depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term
time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

RIMEER  AEBUAREFTED
R KIRITH 8 B A R#08,726,000
JL (20224 : A R %95,425,0007T) °
ARETAERLBAEMEY
SR - AR 1B P B A b O BB B IR (5 1)
AR AETE - SERMEEEHRTE @ A
SERAERBERENEIINEEL Y
BITHARERBAHMER -

FATH ST ARITE A R T
BFEHEF L - REBE=EA
AT S T T K A
WEBESES  LIREE TN
BHAKHS - BITEBTIEHR
Y R A R R
B3R 1T o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. ESREMESRIE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Trade payables B 5 M IR 674 621
Other taxes and charges payable HihENHBERER 1,139 401
Deposits received B Uiz & 3,571 3,777
Accrued payroll and other benefits EstEH € R EMEF 3,533 3,400
Rental receipt-in-advance TEWFE E KA 11,558 10,008
Other payables H {th FE < 5K I8 2,299 968
Total BEr 22,774 19,175

BEEERTNEZIERMNRERRK
SHARERZZEA M RRE DT L0

Included in the balance are trade payables with the
following ageing analysis based on the invoice date as at

the end of the reporting period: ™
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AR T T
Within 3 months 31E A A - 139
Over 3 months 31 A LA E 674 482
Total et 674 621
20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20. EHNEE
RN LT T8 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
2023F 20224F 20224
12A31H 12H31H 1A1H8
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT ARBFT
Short-term advances received EWEF 2B #5%
from customers
Provision of property RUEMEEE RS
management services 1,366 888 1,461

BRNEEBRERREHYEERER
BRI R - R EE M (2022

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
render property management services. The increase (2022:
decrease) in contract liabilities was mainly due to the FRMDEZHRFRERERE
increase (2022: decrease) in billing in short-term advances P 52 HA AR FR 38 hn (20224 : Rk ) BT
received from customers at the end of the year. By o
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31 December 2023 202312 431H

21. DEFERRED TAX 21. EZEFHE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during FRNEERBEEREEMNE SN
the year are as follows: ™

Revaluation Withholding

Provision Provision of tax

for interest Credit for investment on interest

payment losses depreciation properties receivables Others Total
ME Bt  EWAS

finkE GEFE WERE RENEZ BB 2y @

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000

AR%TR AR%TRn AR%Tn AR%Tn AR%Tn AR%Tn AR%Tx

At 1 January 2022 100221818 1,398 12 ETo  (122139) (391) Wy (18840
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to  FRAEHRABER
the consolidated statement of 3t A /(1B

profit or loss during the year ELRE (1,398) 179 (1,818) (31) 391 (441) 3,118)
At 31 December 2022 and R02F12ANBR
1 January 2023 20031 A1A - 31 (68,904  (122,166) - (649)  (191,608)

Deferred tax credited/charged) o FREGABAR
the consolidated statement of 5t A/ (H1K) &
profit or loss during the year ~ EXEF{E - 94 (2,043) (1,327) = (632) (3,908)

At 31 December 2023 12023512 R31H - 405 (70,947)  (123,493) - (1,481) (195,516
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

21. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 21, EEHE(E)
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Deferred tax assets recognised in the R4 A& B RN KR ER
consolidated statement of financial BIEERIEE B
position 405 311
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in R & B 75 AR O 3R 1 3R
the consolidated statement of MIELEHEARE
financial position (195,921) (191,919)
(195,516) (191,608)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect THIBEEREREEHIBEE:
of the following items:
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Deductible temporary differences AR E R ER 17,869 17,869

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of the above items as it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the above
items can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. The applicable rate is 5% or 10% for the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

21.

22,

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding
taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totalled approximately RMB2,681,000 at
31 December 2023 (2022: RMB2,830,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital as at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022 represented the issued capital of the
Company and a summary of the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company is as follows:

21.

22.

i fE %R (4)

2023912 A31H » KN & B I & 5
£ 7 B A Hb AR ST Y BT B A B 7B AR
78 40 B &9 A< & 2 % By fE £ /9 78 40
HERELEH B BEERE %5
BB A B R Al R A5 2R A~ K A] € 9 Ik
EBARRF - R2023F12A310 » B
FRERHBARMEER B M
ERLERELEHREEENT R =
HEAREXN B ARE?2681,0007T (2022
& A R#2830,0007T) °

g 2
2023412 4318 k2022412 A31H

MR AEARRREETRA  AAF]
EERDETRABELT

2023 2022
20234 20224
US$’000 US$’000
FEx FEx
Authorised: JATE
4,000,000,000 (2022: FRmECIETH
4,000,000,000) ordinary 4,000,000,000/%
shares of US$0.1 each (20224 :
4,000,000,000/%)
T AR 400,000 400,000
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Issued and fully paid: ERTRER:
441,400,000 (2022: 441,400,000)  441,400,0000% (20224 :
ordinary shares 441,400,000% ) & 8 I 345,042 345,042

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and each of
them is entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company’s residual assets.

EBRFBEARRBEBRAEE IR
KELREBERRARBEZE L
BEREOKR-—F - FEERARKRENR
REEMEEZ AR FHA -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

23. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial
statements.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account of
the Company are distributable to shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of the business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve consisted of (i) merger reserve of
RMB26,800,000 which was resulted from a business
combination involving entities under common control
in 2010; (ii) reserve of RMB44,685,000 due to share
repurchase of Chengdu Everbright International
Mansion Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, in 2014; and (iii) a waiver of an amount due
to Capital Century Company Limited, an intermediate
holding company of the Company, of RMB10,311,000
in 2016.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of companies outside the PRC.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI & (#8)

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

23. RESERVES (continued)

(iv) PRC statutory reserve

23. f# & (&)

(iv) PEBEEER B

(v)

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group are required to transfer 10%
of their profit after taxation (after offsetting the losses
in the preceding years), as determined under the
PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their
registered capital.

The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to cover previous
years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into share
capital by the issue of new shares to shareholders
in proportion to their existing shareholdings or by
increasing the par value of the shares currently held
by them, provided that the balance after such issue is
not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Fair value reserve

A certain portion of a property previously occupied
by the Group as owner-occupied property was
transferred to investment properties in 2020 and a
revaluation surplus was credited to fair value reserve
to account for the difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property at the date
of change in use, determined by using the market
comparison approach by independent firms of
valuers.

The fair value reserve of the Group was not
distributable as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(v)

REPERBE  AEEHH
5 Bt 8 B 28 S EL A AR B (R
HEBEFEEIE) N0% (R
ErEEAEZREE)E A
ERHBREHE BEEXHBER
= E H M EAHS0% °

HzREENEALARRRR
DR B ZBIETT ©

EEATECARERBBRASF
EHMEEAE) LaERE
BRBEENFR LA R EET
TR EMERSFEZ RN
EEMNSNELABRA ELE
MBETENEHTERFME
K H)25% o

DREERE

R20204F S BT A AN & B {5 A
ERERMENYMESR TS
EBEEIREYE MEMR
BEAARARBEBE  AAR
ERMERBZE EAHMNE
HAEEALBEEIHNEZE
ZEBRRBULGEMKABTS
LEEBEEE ©

R20234F 2 2022F12 A31H » A&
EENARBERBETADIR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

24. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 24, GRERERERM T

CASH FLOWS

(@) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) HERESREAEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the BeRerst ANEERESR
statement of cash flows is as follows: HARZEIT

2023 2022

20234 20224F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AREFIT

Within financing activities Rt EEZEN 1,232 1,218

(a) MEEZHELENEEED

activities
Interest
payable
included in
trade and Lease
Bank loan  other payables liabilities
TABSR
Hft A R0R
RITER WEMRIS HEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETR AR%ETR
At 1 January 2022 120224 1A1A 7,000 22 3,470
Changes from financing cash flows HEREREEY (7,000) (191) (1,218)
Finance costs BEKA - 169 62
Foreign exchange movement MMEZ - - 275
At 31 December 2022 and R2022F12A31A &

1 January 2023 20231518 - - 2,589
Changes from financing cash flows HERSRER - - (1,232)
Finance costs BEKA - - 4
Foreign exchange movement HME 2 - - 30
At 31 December 2023 12023%F12 4318 - - 1,428
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

25. COMMITMENTS

26.

The Group had the following contractual commitments at
the end of the reporting period:

25.

A iE

AEBRBRERREANTAL AL

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Contracted, but not provided for: BRI #1B R B
Additions to investment properties REREME 119 728
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26. BBEARS
(@ The Group had the following transactions with related @ AEERFRNEBEERBAT
parties during the year: R :
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR T T
Related parties: 8 e 7
Property leasing income YEREE R A 10,001 10,005
Property management income YIEEBRA 306 306
Placement of deposits FiFE & 811,477 1,083,880
Withdrawal of deposits REUF R 821,283 1,084,851
(o) Other transactions with related parties: (o) HEEBAHEMRS:

The Group has entered into a loan service framework
agreement with China Everbright Group Limited dated
2 November 2020 (the “Agreement”) for a term of five
years commencing retrospectively from 1 January
2020 and ending on 31 December 2024, details of
which are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 2 November 2020. During the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, the Group has not utilised
any facilities of the Agreement.

AEBHPHEAEBERA
A F2020F 11 A2B & 51 B # AR
BEEBE(ZBZED B
B2020F1 818 #£ 2024412
ASIBHLEAHAF BHEFE
5 R A QR A 52020511
HoH & A & o RN & 22023%F
N2022%12A31H I F E » K
£ B WK 5 5% ek B () B
ﬁ °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7 2 e B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties: (c)

26. EBA RS (&)

2023
20234

RMB’000
AR® TR

Cash and cash equivalents placed

with a related bank
Trade receivables
Trade and other payables

F R B RITH

ReERBELEEYD 14,782
=0y & 2,227
B5 K HMENRE 7,556

IR T R EE AR

2022
20224
RMB’000
AR T T

24,588
1,590
7,294

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the d) AEEFEZEBTEBAEME:
Group:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR T T
Directors’ fees B0 816 780
Salaries, allowances and benefits in ¥ & ~ EZE LR E W
kind lE 3,364 3,103
Discretionary bonuses B 15 T8 4L 1,974 1,852
Pension scheme contributions BAREFTEIMH R 103 46
Total compensation paid to key TRFEEEEAEN
management personnel 42 B 6,257 5,781

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive
officer’s emoluments are included in note 9 to the

financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of property
leasing income from Everbright Securities Company
Limited, Everbright Xinglong Trust Co., Ltd., China
Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. and Guangrui Juyao (Beijing)
Wealth Asset Management Co., Ltd. and deposits service
from China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules are provided in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” of the Directors’

Report.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

Financial assets

27.

RERNBSHEMTA

RBEERRS BRI EMNER
(ER NS

EMEE

2023 2022

20234 20224
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
amortised cost amortised cost
= 8 85 B A< 12 8 SH B AR
FTEMNEREE RELEL Y

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Financial assets included in trade and T A& 5 K& H it fE IL =X
other receivables and prepayments HEEMANZRIEN SR
BE 7,598 7,035
Cash and bank balances & K& IR1T 4 8 222,211 214,908
Total Ba&t 229,809 221,943
Financial liabilities EWmEE

Financial liabilities included in trade
and other payables

AHAE H K H A AR
AR E BB E

2023 2022

20234 20224
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
REBHERA E RrE e
HemBaE MNEe/BE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBT T

6,544 5,366
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

28.

29.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and bank balances, financial assets included in trade and
other receivables and prepayments and financial liabilities
included in trade and other payables approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities
of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, the finance department analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation
is reviewed and approved by the management of the
Company. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise a
bank loan, and cash and bank balances. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as financial assets included in
trade and other receivables and prepayments, financial
liabilities included in trade and other payables and lease
liabilities, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Interest rate risk

The Group monitors its interest rate exposure regularly
to ensure that the underlying risk is monitored within
an acceptable range. The Group’s interest rate risk
arises primarily from the Group’s cash and bank
balances and a bank loan. The Group is not exposed
to significant interest rate risk for cash and bank
balances because the interest rates of cash at banks
are not expected to change significantly.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s net interest-bearing
financial liabilities (being interest-bearing financial
liabilities less interest-bearing assets, bank
deposits, and cash and bank balances) at the
end of the reporting period.

Deposits with banks RITER

29. MEREKEREBSERBEK(E)

(a) F=ER
AEEEHEREMNEEAR
ERBERRENAEZEE -
AEENNEEBRIEELR
AEBENRE RIRTTE & LR
TER - AEEBRAXZKER
T RRITERNERN AR
EANRITRESOFERETD
SERBREE -

(i) R=HKR

TREARBEHR K
SEGAE R A EMEE
ETRAERFEEE
RITEFARBR S RRTT
A& BR) B YA AR Y

R -
2023 2022
20234 2022
Effective interest rate Effective interest rate
BERAE ER A=
% RMB’000 % RMB'000
% ARBTR % ARETT
0.01-5.20 222,189 0.01-4.90 214,885

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3§

229



230

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s
profit before tax by approximately RMB2,222,000
(2022: increase/decrease the Group’s profit
before tax by approximately RMB2,149,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
before tax that would arise assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to
floating rate non-derivative instruments which
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is
estimated as an annualised impact on interest
expense or income of such a change in interest
rates.

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Chinese Mainland
with most of the transactions settled in RMB. The
Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk primarily
stems from holdings of cash and bank balances
denominated in HK$. The Group does not use
derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign
currency risk. The Group reviews its foreign currency
exposures regularly and considers no significant
exposure to foreign exchange risk.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND BHERBEEERERBRE)

POLICIES (continued)

29.

(b) shs B ()

(b) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the HK$ exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before
tax and retained profits.

TRIRRBEDHR - AEE
B B FL 8 AR 2R 8 438 7 B
AR A B H BT A R

#r e

2023 2022

20234 2022
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) profit after (decrease) profit after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange retained exchange retained
rate profits rate profits
HHERBR HH‘ENE R
EXt#/ REAEY QRIS VAT
(TR E2 | (TR) 7
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREFT
Hong Kong dollars BT 5% 4,556 5% 4,410
(5)% (4,556) (5)% (4,410)

The above analysis assumes the change in foreign
exchange rate had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to each of the

ERATRREXZEESHE N W
EHMRELEYCDERARNZAR
EFEXEBRNASESES -

group entities’ exposure to currency risk in existence MAEHMEERFENE - AT
at that date while all other variables remain constant. MEHTRREEEYH T — @
The stated changes also represent management’s FEREHHEEXSEREE

assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rate until the next annual reporting period.
The analysis was performed on the same basis for
2022.

B AT {h o "% 0 AT 1R 220224
RAMMEREEETT -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Creditrisk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables and cash and bank
balances. Trade and other receivables mainly arise
from the Group’s revenue from the rental and property
management business.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate, and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 23%
(2022: 19%) and 72% (2022: 57%) of the trade and
other receivables were due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers, respectively.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract such as a default or past
due event;

— it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

To manage credit risk arising from debtors, the
credit quality of the debtors is assessed, taking into
account their financial position, historical settlement
records, past experience and other factors. The
Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use
of lifetime expected loss provision for all debtors. The
ECLs also incorporate forward-looking information.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® X KK FEHR QT

29.

HHEEREEERERBX(E)

() FERR

AEENEERRIZEAR
B EMERFTELRREE K
RITHER - BH KR H b & WK
BEXIZEEEASENEE R
MEEEEHME o

AEENEERBEIESS
ﬁﬂ%?@ﬁ#%ﬁ%%%@
TEHIERNEFE ARERKR
EESETFERRBREERNAERY
EREFEEERNRRBESE
R R & H K 23% (20224 ¢
19%) K72% (20224 : 57%) &
S & E A FEW K IE 5 Rl A R
AEBRARFEAAARAEFRH
FKIE °

ERLE—BERZEEEMEE
et RRBEREETFEE
MEHRN SREELBREE
BE - cHEEEEREBENE
BEEUATEHMTBEZEE

- BEBALHRBERBBR
£

— EREH MEHNEBH
=1

— BEBABTERESET
R EM -

REBEBBAELENEER
E%ﬁﬁﬁA%%ﬁ#ﬂ B
THEERE - BELRNEMD
REFHEHANEEEZR -
AEBERABCOERGEEY
5 ¥ & R E5 AR TE 1 7
EEBRELBE  EFYHM
BE® AL M2 H 8 5 & 18 &
B AHREEEERKEES
LB # -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 29. MK EKEEEER BHE(E)

POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued) (c) EERK(E)

The Group has established a policy to perform an
assessment of whether a financial instrument’s
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, by considering the change in the risk
of default occurring over the remaining life of the
financial instrument. The Group classifies its other
receivables into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, as
described below:

AEBOHIEREK NEBE
BT ANBKFHRRNELD
BHRBRESHRIFLEEHIA
ZIEERR R T B V)16 R
EAMRIE I - AEE K HE A&
WHREDRRE R £
R LE=FER  FEWT:

Stage 1 When other receivables are first recognised, F—BER EHMEKRKEE
the Group recognised an allowance based NinERE  AEE
on 12-month ECLs. ER12@ABHEE

BREERRERE -

Stage 2 When other receivables have shown a "R EAEMERRIEEE
significant increase in credit risk since FRBTEERR
origination, the Group records an allowance ANIEIE A - A& E 5
for the lifetime ECLs. 2HEHAEEBR

REMRE -
Stage 3 When other receivables are considered FEMEER EEAMERKIBRR

credit-impaired, the Group records an
allowance for the lifetime ECLSs.

Management also makes periodic collective
assessments for other receivables as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience and other factors.

REEERE &
ERe2HBEHEE
EEEREE -

EEBTENBEZSELE
BELR M EMEAZEEME
Wk I8 2 A AT UG B 5E B 4
RS BT 1t X M Bl JF 4 -

All deposits with banks with a maturity period over FIER=MA &I HMRIT
three months and cash and cash equivalents were GBHRUARBERBEEEDT
deposited with creditworthy financial institutions MRESEXEER ME'Jﬁ%%i
without significant credit risk. DRI o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

At 31 December 2023

12-month
ECLs
12BR%H
EEER

Stage 1
E-R&
RMB'000
ARETR

29. IKEKREEEERBE(E)

(c) FERRE)
&K B KK BB

TREVNERAEEEEBR
(EhEZERBHER B
FEMBERBEMNHTISER
MAKZ DR NEE
BEREERERRAR  UAER
12A3IBMFRBEESE - 2
NMEENACREENEER
BME -

R2023512A31H

Lifetime ECLs

2HRAEERR
Simplified
Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-RR EZ[H LE#5 @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR AR¥TR AR%Txn

Trade receivables* BN FE - - - 8,615 8,615
Financial assets included in other & A\ E ft JE Ui 5078
receivables and prepayments BRRENEREAE
— Normal** ~-E8" 605 - - - 605
Cash and bank balances ReRBITES
— Not yet past due - HREH 222,211 - - - 222,211
222,816 - - 8,615 231,431

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 531 H

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

29. MKEBEEBEERBR(E)

(c) FERRE)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging BABEBRFEREEER(E)
(continued)
At 31 December 2022 7K2022%12 H318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12EARH
FEBE SHRBEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-Ba FRE E-B& BiLE @i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT  ARBTT  ARETT  ARET:R
Trade receivables* B AR E - - - 6,472 6,472
Financial assets included in other 5T A\ £ ff JE M50 8 |t
receivables and prepayments BATENSHEE
— Normal** —-EFE™ 1,806 - - - 1,806
Cash and bank balances ReRBIEH
— Not yet past due —HAREH 214,908 = = = 214,908
216,714 - - 6,472 223186

>k

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 17 to the
financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
other receivables and prepayments is considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

- A5 E R A S LA R E
BE S EKRIENS - BN B
1B B R ) B KR B B R R M A
7R -

o FEAE A R GRR R A BROIR
MERBEEFEEERRBRIE
Bl Ty E R B
BENBETEREENEER
B B 116 T 5B DA R B BRE IR 0
BRI eRMEENEEERS
WRBIFE] -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the respective parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy
is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

For subsidiaries with statutory liquidity requirements,
the Group monitors closely their liquidity position.
To ensure strict compliance, the Group maintains
adequate cash reserves to prepare for immediate fund
injection if required. If there is a medium-to-long term
operation need, management would also consider
adjusting those subsidiaries’ capital structure.
Subsidiaries with external equity stakeholders
are generally responsible for their own liquidity
management.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

29.

HHEEREEERERBX(E)

(d)

REBETER

il
fot

/

AEEANBLEEERARS
BEEMALERE  BRASA
FHEEHIRE MR E RN EY
Be®f HEERBEBESE
BREKRFE - AIBAEERRRE
FeHE AEENERRB/TE
HERERPESFTREER
RaEWMaRE  AEREFT
RHREREERNIZSRHEE
RERANAZEERE - A
mEEEHERENN RS E

EHEK -

BRAEBEERDE S BRH
MEBRR  A"EBERYER
HRBEE MM - = REAE
B AEERBERREH
B UNEEFTERILANIEE -
WEFRAGEFE BEHEHE
NHEEERRAEZEZHE LR
BARGRE - REINEBIAER =
HEENHRBARBEARR
BEINARPHESER -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

2023
2023

29. IKEKREEEERBE(E)

(d)

REE SR (E)

Total

contractual More than More than
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year 1yearbut  2years but
amount  cash flows orondemand within 2 years within 5 years
AEREH MER 154 254
BEE HEeRE4E FHRER B2ER {B5E R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETR  AR%Tn AR%Tn  AR%Tr  ARETx

Financial liabllties included in trade 3T AZ 5 R E 4 B {+
and other payables FENEBAR 6,544 6,544 6,544 - -
Lease liabilties figak 1,428 1,447 1,240 207 =
7,072 7,001 7,784 207 -

2022
2028
Total

contractual More than More than
Carrying  undiscounted  Within 1 year 1 year but 2 years hut
amount cashflows ~ orondemand  within 2 years  within 5 years
N MER 5% 25t
REE HeRESE HREX EVER ERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR¥TR  ARETT  ARETR  AR%ET:R

Financial liabilties included in trade T AB B R At
and other payables AEMEHAR 5,366 5,366 5,366 = =
Lease liabilties HERR 2,589 2,648 122 1222 204
7,955 8,014 6,588 1,202 204
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital
are to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis and considers the cost of capital
and the associated risks. The Group will balance its
overall capital structure through payment of dividends,
new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debts. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its
debt position. The Group’s strategy was to maintain
the Group’s gearing ratio, being the Group’s total
liabilities over its total assets. The gearing ratio as at
31 December 2023 was 19% (2022: 18%).

The Company was not subject to externally imposed
capital requirements during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

29.

HHEEREEERERBX(E)

(e)

EXxEH

AEBEREANTIEENR
MRS TR 2 B0 B A LE B A S35
AU RARAEEFAELLN

INa
AE °

AEBRELERANESHE
BEAEBIWELFAE - K&
ErHmaEr &Rt EgE
KA K AR R B o AN & B G
BRBREIMN FRBEITUR
FEBROIEBEREEES TG
HEREKRLERE - H £2023F
N2022F12A31H It £ » B
2 BERIEFREED -

AEBREZHBEBMRRNERE
Ko REEMNRBEERIFTAE
BEEAGBELXREIAERR
BEBRNANBEE) - N2023F
12A31EMEARBELER19%
(20224 : 18%) °

NN B) B B 20234 22022412
A31H8 Lk F E B £ 50 26 5 10 7Y
BEARFNK -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2 b B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE . RATF B #EMRE
COMPANY
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M REREE 390 472
Right-of-use asset EREEE 1,416 2,593
Interests in subsidiaries NN £ 633,487 635,752
635,293 638,817
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries N NCTE e 114,221 113,840
Other receivables and prepayments B FE R IE R TR FRIB 810 814
Cash and bank balances e KIRTT 4 & 123,384 119,374
238,415 234,028
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Amount due to a subsidiary FE - B B A B 3R 18 145 163
Other payables H A E S IR 2,721 2,618
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,222 1,181
4,088 3,962
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETE 234,327 230,066
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT X E#ZERAHARES
LIABILITIES 869,620 868,883
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERBEME
Lease liabilities HEAE 206 1,408
NET ASSETS EERHE 869,414 867,475
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXL#EB
Share capital & 2 345,042 345,042
Reserves (note) {5 & (BT 53) 524,372 522,433
TOTAL EQUITY EHAR 869,414 867,475
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 30. AT BB R (E)

240

COMPANY (continued)

Note: B 5
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARHFEEREZNT
Retained
profits/
Share Capital Exchange (accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses) Total
RExa/
RHEE EXRfE Eifie  (RTEB) @
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR  AR®TR  ARETR  AR%Tn  ARETx
At 1 January 2022 202261 1A 145,063 10311 (68,818) 2276 8,832
Loss for the year ERNEE - - - (28,458) (28,459)
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREM2ENS
Exchange differences on translation of financial BERBRRNELZE
statements - - 17,349 - 17,349
Final 2021 dividend A2KBRE - - - (4,370) (4,370)
Acquisition of subsidiaries under common control WER—Z5THHBAR - 529,080 - = 529,080
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 12022512 4318 K 202351718 45,063 539,391 (51,469) (10,552) 522,433
Profit for the year FRF A - - - 4,646 4,646
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREMZERE:
Exchange differences on translation of financial BERBRRNELER
statements - - 10,358 - 10,358
Final 2022 dividend NRFHHE = = - (8,387) (8,367)
Interrn 2023 dividend 20035 Bk - - - (4,678) (4,678)
At 31 December 2023 12023124318 45,063 539,391 (41,111) (18,971) 524,372
31. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 31. #EMBRREK

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2024.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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